
CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS MEETING AGENDA 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, AL 

                                                                        APRIL 16, 2012 

6:30 P.M.                                                                           

 
 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

 2.  ROLL CALL/INVOCATION / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE       

 

3.  APPROVE MINUTES:     Council meeting minutes / April 2, 2012 

                                                   Council Work Session minutes / April 9, 2012                    

              

                                         

4. REPORT STANDING COMMITTEES: 
    A.  FINANCE COMMITTEE / Boulware    

          Review minutes / April 9
th
  

1.) Ordinances: 

a.)  Appropriation of Funds: Legislative / Purchase International Building & Fire Code 

    Books (3 of each)   /   Ordinance 2012 -29 

b.) Appropriation of Funds: Assistance to Firefighters Grant Award / Ordinance 2012-30 

c.) Appropriation of Funds: Profit Drive Extension & Lake Forest Ridgewood Drive – Phase II / 

   Appropriation for Design and Engineering   /   Ordinance 2012-31 

 

2.) Resolutions: 

a.) Apply for US Fish & Wildlife: Village Point Invasive Species Grant  /  Resolution 2012-31 

b.) Declare City Property Surplus for Donation /  (27) Blue Cloth & Chrome Guest Chairs / 

  To Ruff Wilson Youth Organization   /   Resolution 2012-32 

c.) Declare City Property Surplus  /  1999 Taurus / 1998 GMC Sierra PU / 2000 Ford 150 /  

   Resolution 2012- 33 

 

3.) Financial Reports: 

a.) Treasurers Report / March 2012 

b.) Sales & Use Tax Collections / February 2012 

c.) Lodging Tax Collections / February 2012 

 

    B.  BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE -  Lake                  

 C.  PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE –   Boulware                   

    D.  CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE  -  Reese  

    E.  PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE / SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY  - Conaway   

           

5. REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS:  

    A.  Board of Zoning Adjustments – Jones  

          Need replacement for Tony Felts Position (Supernumerary) 

    B.  Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Barnette                     

    C.  Industrial Development Board –  Conaway             

    D.  Library Board – Lake   

  E.  Planning Commission – Barnette       

   F.  Recreation Board – Reese        

    G.  Utility Board - Scott   

           Review minutes  / February 29
th
  

 

6.  REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

     A.  Mayor’s Report    
           a.)   ABC License / Namans Catering / 140 – Special Events Retail  

           b.)  Parade Permit / March of Dimes / 5K Walk and 1 Mile Fun Walk 

 

 
1



 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA                    APRIL 16, 2012                                      PAGE   2 

 

 

     B.  City Attorney’s Report  

C. Department Head Comments    

 

 

7. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:              

 

       

8. RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 

     

RESOLUTIONS: 

a.)   Schedule Public Hearing to Consider the Adoption of the 2012 International 

       Building codes as Amended by Reference. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2012-29 

 

b.)  Schedule Public Hearing to Consider the Adoption of Certain Technical  

         Codes by Reference. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2012-30 

     

c.)   Approve Application of U. S. Fish & Wildlife: Invasive Species Control 

       Project: Village Point/Bay Front Park. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2012-31 

 

d.)   Declaring Certain Property Surplus  / Donation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2012-32 

 

e.)   Declaring Certain Property Surplus. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2012-33 

 

 

  ORDINANCES: 

 

         2
ND

 READ 
a.)   Authorizing the Issuance of General Obligation Refunding and  

       Improvement Warrants Series 2012. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-26 

 

b.)   Rezone: Blacksher White-Spunner, etal. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-27 

 

c.)   Codification of Ordinances. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-28 

 

       1
ST

 READ 
d.)  Appropriation of Funds: Legislative / Purchase 2012 International Building 

       & Fire Code Books (3 each). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-29 

 

e.)   Appropriation of Funds: Assistance to Firefighters Grant Award. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-30 

 

f.)   Appropriation of Funds: Profit Road Extension & Lake Forest: 

       Ridgewood Drive / Phase II: For Design & Engineering. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-31 

       

 

 

 

9. COUNCIL COMMENTS                   

10.  ADJOURN 

2



CITY OF DAPHNE 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL:                                         CALL  VOTES   
 

COUNCILWOMAN CONAWAY               PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILWOMAN BARNETTE    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN LAKE   PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN REESE   PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN SCOTT   PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCIMAN BOULWARE     PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN PALUMBO   PRESENT       ABSENT         

    

MAYOR 

 

MAYOR YELDING    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

CITY CLERK: 

 

DAVID L. COHEN                 PRESENT___    ABSENT___ 

 

CITY ATTORNEY: 
 

CITY ATTORNEY JAY ROSS  PRESENT       ABSENT    

 

 

MINUTE NOTES: 

 

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

3



                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

 

      CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES 

 

NOTES: 

 

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                   

 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                                                             

4



APRIL 2, 2012 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                   

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

1.   CALL TO ORDER 

Council President Barnette called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 

2.    ROLL CALL/INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Invocation was given by Councilman Scott. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Tommie Conaway; Cathy Barnette; John Lake; Ron Scott; Derek 

Boulware August Palumbo. 

 

ABSENT: Kelly Reese.  

 

Also present: Mayor Yelding; David Cohen, City Clerk; Rebecca Hayes, Assistant City Clerk; Erick 

Bussey, Attorney, Ross, Jordan & Gray; Adrienne Jones, Planning Director; Richard Johnson, Publics 

Works Director; Christine Ciancetta, Deputy Finance Director; David Carpenter, Police Chief; James 

White, Fire Chief; Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director; David McKelroy, Recreation Director 

Richard Merchant, Building Official; Vickie Hinman, Human Resources Director; Anne Morris, 

Reference Librarian; Lt. Ric Yelding, Police Department; Bari Chrestman, PD Dispatcher; Debra 

Volovecky, PD Dispatcher; Lakisha Johnson, PD Dispatcher; Al Guarisco, Village Point Foundation; 

Dorothy Morrison, Beautification Committee; Joe Lemoine, Planning Commission. 

 

Absent: Jay Ross, City Attorney; Kim Briley, Finance Director; Tonja Young, Library Director. 

 

3.  APPROVE MINUTES 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt the March 19, 2012 council meeting minutes.     

Seconded by Councilman Scott. 

 

AYE    Conaway, Lake, Scott, Palumbo, Barnette                                 ABSTAIN    Boulware 

                                      

                                    NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt the March 12, 2012 Council Work Session minutes.  

Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    Conaway, Lake, Scott, Boulware, Barnette                        ABSTAIN    Palumbo 

 

                           NAY    NONE OPPSOED                            MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
5



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

2 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt the March 26, 2012 Special Called Council meeting 

minutes.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    Conaway, Lake, Scott, Barnette                              ABSTAIN    Boulware, Palumbo 

 

                                                           MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

PROCLAMATION:   National Public Safety Telecommunicators Week / April 8-14, 2012 

 

Mayor Yelding read a presented the proclamation to Police Department Dispatchers Lt. Ric Yelding, 

Barrie Chrestman; Debbie Volvecky and Lakesha Johnson while Chief Carpenter and Councilman 

Boulware looked on. 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 

1. Codification of Ordinances / Ordinance 2012-28 

 

Mr. Cohen gave the presentation. 

 

Council President Barnette opened the Public Hearing at 6:40 p.m. 

 

No one spoke for or against codification of the city ordinances. 

 

Council President Barnette closed the Public Hearing at 6:40 p.m. 

 

2. Rezone:  Blacksher White-Spunner, etal 

 Location:                 Southwest of the intersection of U.S. Highway 90 and County 

Road 13 

                               Present Zoning:       R-3, High Density Single Family Residential District 

                               Proposed Zoning:    B-1, Local Business 

                               Recommendation:   Failed to set forth a favorable recommendation / A super  

                                                               majority vote is needed for a favorable recommendation, and  

                                                               the vote was five (5) affirmative  - one (1) dissenting  /  

                                                              Ordinance 2012-27 
                                          

Mrs. Adrienne Jones gave the presentation.  She reported that the Planning Commission did not send a 

recommendation, because there were five (5) affirmative votes and one (1) nay, and six (6) votes in 

favor of an application are needed in order for it to come to council as favorable, and because it did not 

have six (6) affirmative votes they had to send it to council with no recommendation. Mrs. Jones said 

that a B-1 zoning would be consistent with the city’s Comprehensive Plan.   She stated that the 

adjoining property owners felt that a B-3 would be a better zoning. 

 

Mr. Joel Coleman spoke regarding the proposed project. 
6



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

3 

 

Council President Barnette opened the Public Hearing at 6:58 p.m. 

 

Mrs. Margaret Jordan – 29442 Acorn Knoll Drive – Oak Creek Subdivision – spoke in opposition to 

the B-1 zoning request, but in favor of a B-3 zoning. 

 

Mr. John Payne – 29442 Acorn Knoll Drive – Oak Creek Subdivision – spoke in opposition to the B-

1 zoning request, but in favor of a B-3 zoning. 

 

Mr. Levon Henly – 29488 Acorn Knoll Drive – Oak Creek Subdivision – spoke in opposition to the B-

1 zoning request, but in favor of a B-3 zoning. 

 

Mrs. Lavada Palmer – Owner of the first lot in Oak Creek Subdivision – spoke in opposition to the B-

1, zoning request. 

 

Mr. Mike Capp – 29291 Deciduous Court – Oak Creek Subdivision - spoke in opposition to the B-1 

zoning request, but in favor of a B-3 zoning. 

 

Mr. Maurice Bishop – 29658 Douglas Road - spoke in opposition to the B-1 zoning request, but in 

favor of a B-3 zoning. 

 

Mr. Les Robinson – parents own third lot in Oak Creek Subdivision - spoke in opposition to the B-1 

zoning request, but in favor of a B-3 zoning. 

 

Council President Barnette asked Mr. Matt White, Blacksher White-Spunner, to come to the podium. 

 

Councilman Palumbo quoted from the Planning Commission minutes where Mr. White stated that they 

are looking for a recommendation for a B-1 zone, but he would go back to the owners with whatever 

zone the commission recommends, because of the time restraints of the client, and Councilman 

Palumbo asked if he and his client still feel that way? 

 

Mr. White answered yes sir. 

 

Councilman Palumbo if he had a problem with this being rezoned to B-3 as opposed to B-1. 

 

Mr. White said no sir. 

 

Councilman Palumbo said that he might recommend that the developer withdraw the application for B-

1 and request a B-3 zoning.   

 

Mr. White said that they have a project that has been held up while they went through several Planning 

Commission meetings and workshops so he asked if the process be expedited in some manner. He just 

talked with the owner of the property, and they are receptive to a B-3 zoning, but they respectfully 

asked that this be expedited as soon as and quickly as possible if not vote on it this evening. 

 

 

7



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

4 

 

Council President Barnette stated that they cannot vote on it tonight for certain reasons.  Council has 

rules, and this is an ordinance change.  The question that legal could potentially look at is, if they are 

hearing B-3, and certainly that is the public’s desire, whether or not it would have to be re-advertised or 

if this could be modified as B-3 hearing and, therefore, this would be a first read for the rezoning. 

 

Councilman Scott stated that it is his understanding in having this situation with the county that a less 

intensity would not have to. 

 

Council President Barnette stated that this has been the case before, because it is considered less 

restrictive, but at the same time council wants to be legally defensible.  

 

Mr. Bussey said he would get council an answer ASAP on that question. 

 

Mr. White said that his clients are waiting patiently, because they have an interest rate environment that 

is favorable for them to build.  They are a very respectable law firm in the community, and they have 

been waiting on his firm and the city at this juncture. 

 

Mrs. Jones stated that this is the first zoning application since adopting the new regulations, and they 

also need to add the reversionary clause to the ordinance as well.  That would establish a three (3) year 

time period for development to start, and if it doesn’t then the property, after going through the hearing 

process, it will revert back to R-3. 

 

Council President Barnette wanted to make sure that Mr. White was complete with his comments, and 

that he is accepting the B-3 zoning, and that he did not have anything else to say. 

 

Mr. White said that he is hearing clarification on a vote on April 16
th

. 

 

Council President Barnette stated yes, that is correct. 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to waive the reading of Ordinance 2012-27.  Seconded by 

Councilman Palumbo.   

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 
 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to amend Ordinance 2012-27 rezoning for Blacksher White-

Spunner, etal from the requested zoning of B-1, Local Business District to reflect a B-3, 

Professional Business District with the inclusion of the reversionary clause.  Seconded by 

Councilwoman Conaway.    

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 
 

Council President Barnette state Ordinance 2012-27 is a 1
st
 Read. 

8



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

5 

 

4. REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEES: 
   A.  FINANCE COMMITTEE – Boulware 

No report. The next meeting will be April 9
th

 at 4:00 p.m. 

 

B. BUILDINGS AND PROPERTY COMMITTEE – Lake 

The committee met before the council meeting.   The committee referred the proposed adoption of the 

2012 International Building Codes to the work session. 

 

C. PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE – Boulware 

The minutes for the March 14
th

 meeting are in the packet. 

 

D. CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE –  Boulware 

No report. 

 

E. PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE/SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY – Conaway 

The committee will meet on April 16
th

 at 5:00 in the Executive Conference room. 

 

 

5.   REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS: 

A. Board of Zoning Adjustments – Adrienne Jones 

Mrs. Jones stated that Mr. Tony Felts has resigned from the board, and they will need a replacement.  

His position is as a supernumerary who votes when needed.  They do have an application for May. 

 

B. Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Barnette 

There was no meeting in March.  The next meeting is April 23
rd

. 

 

C. Industrial Development Board – Conaway 
 The minutes for the March 26

th
 meeting are in the packet. 

 

D. Library Board – Lake 

The next meeting will be April 12
th

 at the Library. 

 

E. Planning Commission – Barnette 

The minutes for the February 23
rd

 meeting are in the packet. 

 

F. Recreation Board - Reese 

No report. 

 

G. Utility Board – Scott 

The March meeting will be held April 4
th

 at 5:00 p.m., and the April meeting will be at the Well Road 

facility, and then the next month it will be back at City Hall. 

 

 

6.  REPORTS OF THE OFFICERS: 

    A.  Mayor’s Report 

9



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

6 

 
           a.)   Parade Permit / Christ the King Catholic School / 1 Mile Fun Run / April 27, 2012  

           b.)   Parade Permit / Lupus Foundation / Fund Raiser / March 16, 2013  

           c.)   Parade Permit / Christ the King Respect for Life Committee / Annual Life Pilgrimage / April 28,  

                  2012    

 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to approve the Parade Permits for Christ the King Catholic 

School / 1 Mile Fun Run / April 27, 2012; Lupus Foundation / Fund Raiser / March 16, 2013; 

and Christ the King Respect for Life Committee / Annual Life Pilgrimage / April 28, 2012.  

Seconded by Councilman Scott. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

    B.  City Attorney Report 

No report. 

 

C. Department Head Comments: 

Margaret Thigpen – Civic Center Director - reported that April 10
th

 is open house for Bay Front Park 

Pavilion, and that Ballroom Dance tickets are on sale.  They have sold 130 tickets. 

 

David McKelroy – Recreation Director – reported that Brown Bag-By-the-Bay will be April 5
th

 at 

Centennial Park from 11:30-1:30.  Possum Trot is on Saturday, and the Easter Egg Hunt has been 

rescheduled to Saturday at Lott Park.  Monday is scheduled to begin the resurfacing of the tennis 

courts. 

 

Adrienne Jones – Planning Director – commented on how well behaved the citizens were that 

attended the Public Hearing. 

 

Anne Morris – Reference Librarian – reported that over 300 patrons attended the “Spring Break 

Bash”.  She thanked the Utilities and Recreation for providing the snacks. 

 

Christine Ciancetta – Deputy Finance Director - reported that Mrs. Briley has been back to work for 

a couple of hours daily.  Ms. Ciancetta has been hours discussing the warrant and credit card 

procedure, and is continuing to update Mrs. Briley on the last seven (7) months. 

 

 

7. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Mr. Kevin Spriggs – owner of the Eastern Shore Motel -  spoke regarding financial spending. 

 

Mr. Willie Robison – 560 Stuart Street – invited everyone to the Flowering of the Cross at the Eastern 

Shore Baptist Church on Park Drive at 8:30 a.m. on Sunday. 

 

Mr. Don Ouellette – Daphne – spoke regarding the city’s advertising of city events. 

 

 
10



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

7 

 

Mrs. Jeanne Nelson – Daphne – spoke regarding the proposed round-about for County Road 64 and 

County Road 13. 

 

 

8.   RESOLUTIONS, ORDINANCES, ORDERS AND OTHER BUSINESS 

 

      RESOLUTIONS: 

 
a.)    Calling for the Redemption of the City’s General Obligation Warrants, Series 2002 

         and the Redemption of the City’s Limited Obligation Special Tax   

         Warrants, Series 2006. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2012-28 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to waive the reading of Resolution 2012-28.  Seconded by 

Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt Resolution 2012-28.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

Council discussed the resolution. 

 

Councilwoman Conaway called for the question. 

 

AYE    Conaway, Lake, Scott, Barnette                              NAY   Boulware, Palumbo 

 

                                                             MOTION CARRIED 
 

 

 

 

  ORDINANCES: 

 

        2
ND

  READ         

a.)   Adopting the Rules of Procedure in All Instances for Meetings of the  

       City Council . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-21 

 

b.)  Appropriation of Funds: City Hall Roof Repair . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-22 

 

c.)  Appropriation of Funds: Civic Center Kitchen Hood Fire  

       Suppression System . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-23 

 

d.)  Appropriation of Funds:  Legislative Phone/Internet Budget . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-24 

11



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

8 

 

e.)  Appropriation of Funds: Youth Spring Soccer Program  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-25 

 

f.)   Authorizing the Issuance of General Obligation Refunding and 

       Improvement Warrants Series 2012. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-26 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to waive the reading of Ordinances 2012-21, 2012-22, 2012-23, 

2012-24 and 2012-25.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED              

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt Ordinance 2012-21.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED                                                                        

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt Ordinance 2012-22  Seconded by Councilwoman 

Conaway. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt Ordinance 2012-23.  Seconded by Councilwoman 

Conaway. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt Ordinance 2012-24.  Seconded by Councilwoman 

Conaway. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to adopt Ordinance 2012-25.  Seconded by Councilwoman 

Conaway. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

Ordinances 2012-26, 2012-27 and 2012-28 were made 1
st
 Read. 

 
Council President Barnette invited Ms. Ginger Gaddy from Hand, Arendall to come to the podium to 

answer any questions council may have on the 2012 warrants. 

 
12



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

9 

 

Ms. Gaddy stated that they have incorporated the final pricing into the warrant ordinance.  That pricing is 

locked in until the closing date which is set forth in the warrant purchase agreement which is currently set 

for April 18
th

.  

 

Councilman Boulware asked for the rate that Gardnyr Michael will receive for this transaction, and then 

the dollar figure associated with both Gardnyr Michael’s services for the $13.4 million transaction, as 

well as the services of Hand, Arendall.   

 

Ms. Gaddy said that Hand, Arendall’s fee is $35,000, and Gardnyr Michael’s fee is $121,455. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

 

8. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
Councilwoman Conaway thanked Mr. McKelroy for rescheduling the Easter Egg Hunt. She is looking 

forward to it. 

 

Councilman Lake reminded council that Mr. John Gonas was the one that started the Easter Egg Hunt, and 

he feels that council should do something to honor Mr. Gonas. 

 

Councilman Boulware spoke regarding the 2012 Warrants.  He said that he attended an event saluting 

Vietnam Veterans with his father, who is a Vietnam Veteran on Saturday.  He said that these veterans are 

deserving of recognition. 

 

Councilman Palumbo spoke regarding the need for the Special Called Council meeting.   

 

Council President Barnette that is always good to see the power of an organized community group that can 

come together and state their appeal.  She appreciates that White-Spunner modified their zoning 

amendment.  The Planning Commission does not have the legal authority to make a recommendation based  

on emotional appeal.  The elected body does, and kudos to them for the job they did in bringing forward a 

logical well-reasoned, but still emotional appeal to the concerns that their neighborhood presented, and she 

thinks they will see a favorable outcome for the way that they worked it.  She said that none of them ever 

see the outcomes 100% of the way they want to see them, but she reminded them all that they are 

colleagues, particularly as they enter an election year, and remember they are colleagues, and they need to 

work together for the city’s business, and they cannot let personalities get in the way of doing the city’s 

business. 

 

 

9. ADJOURN 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to adjourn.  Seconded by Councilman Scott. 

 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 
13



APRIL 2, 2012  

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING                                                       

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

10 

There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 7:22 p.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by,    

                         

                             
________________________________                                                                         

David L. Cohen,        

City Clerk, MMC                 

                                                           Certification by Presiding Officer:       

 

 

       ________________________________                                                                              

       Cathy S. Barnette, 

       Council President  

14



APRIL 9, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

1 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Tommie Conaway; Cathy Barnette; John Lake; Kelly Reese; 

Derek Boulware; August Palumbo. 

 

ABSENT: Ron Scott. 

 

Also present: David Cohen, City Clerk Rebecca Hayes, Assistant City Clerk; Jay Ross, City 

Attorney; Vickie Hinman, Human Resources Director; Richard Merchant, Building Official; Chip 

Martin, Fire Marshall; James White, Fire Chief; Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director, Richard 

Johnson, Public Works Director; Richard Merchant, Building Official; Christine Ciancetta, Deputy 

Finance Director; Suzanne Henson, Senior Accountant; Captain Danny Bell, Police Department; 

Chip Martin, Fire Marshall; Battalion Chief Kenny Hanak, Fire Department; Erick Bussey, 

Attorney; Joe Lemoine, Planning Commission. 

 

Absent: Mayor Yelding. 

 

Council President Barnette called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 

1. CITY OF DAPHNE MARKET DATA ANALYSIS OF PAY BY JOB CLASSIFICATION / 

ARCHER / CHIP KING 

 

Mr. Hinman introduced Mr. Chip King with Archer for the presentation. 

 

Mr. King presented the market competitiveness and update for the job plan.  Mrs. Hinman handed 

out the data from Archer.  (The summary of benchmark salaries is spread out upon these minutes)  

The market shows that Daphne is falling behind in salaries, and the biggest discrepancy is in 

management. 

 

Council wanted to see Spanish Fort, Robertsdale and Fairhope included in the study. 

 

Mr. King said that the purpose of the data is to get Daphne in the middle of the pack regarding 

salaries.  He said that Public Safety salaries are holding with the market data, and no changes are 

needed.  Mr. King said that if council adopts the pay range there will be costs involved.  He 

recommends that the city keep evaluating a quarter of the employees every year. 

 

Councilman Palumbo asked what is the normal percentage of employee turnover.  

 

Mr. King said generally 4%, but council has to understand what is causing the turnovers. 

 

Ms. Ciancetta reported that the cost for bringing salaries up to date, not including Public Safety, 

would be $127,000.  The cost of including Public Safety would be $193,055. 

 

Councilman Palumbo said he would like to see a list of job titles with the percentage rate of increase 

along with numbers for each job.  

 

 

15



APRIL 9, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

2 

 

Council President Barnette requested Ms. Ciancetta to make that list and send it out to council later 

in the week so that they can see what percentage of increase each job will be getting. 

 

 

2. DAPHNE SEARCH & RESCUE / DAVID WEBB 

 

Mr. Webb reported that there are currently 18 members of the Daphne Search & Rescue Unit, and 

respond to approximately 80-100 calls per year throughout the Gulf Coast region.  They were 

involved with the recent helicopter crash in Mobile Bay.  They spent 900 man hours and 100 boat 

hours in the rescue efforts. Capabilities of the team are marine search and rescue, certified 

underwater search and rescue (dive team,) dive team are trained to Dive Rescue International 

standards, blackwater  (zero visibility), swiftwater (moving water) deep water (150 feet), mixed gas, 

wreck penetration (overhead environment) and hazardous materials dive operations and land 

searches. 

 

Mr. Webb said that their support comes from several sources one being the City of Daphne, 2012 

budget is $18,349 which covers fuel, most vehicle maintenance and building utilities for their 

station.  There is no monies budgeted for equipment purchases. They also receive approximately 

$20,000 from tobacco taxes, and funds from private donations which is a very small part of their 

income.  

 

Mr. Webb said they are in dire need of a replacement vessel.  The current vessel is 18 years old and 

has been used extensively in search, rescue, recovery and training missions.  This is their primary 

response vessel, and the boat and trailer have become a burden on their finances due to age related 

repairs and upkeep.  The hull has developed several ‘soft spots’ indicating internal damage that is 

cost prohibitive to repair.  The trailer is in dire need of replacement also. Mr. Webb requested help 

from the city to replace the 16’ Carolina Skiff and a second 21’ Skiff at a cost of $25,000 each, and 

an 18’ airboat at a cost of $55,000. 

 

Councilman Lake said that in his 20 years on council the Search & Rescue Unit has never asked the 

city for help.  He recommended sending this request to the Finance Committee for consideration.   

 

Council discussed whether they could reallocate BP funds for these purchases. 

 

Mr. Chip Martin, Fire Marshall, said that the time the city put in a request for reallocation it request 

was denied.  They are not reallocating any of the money from the original request. 

 

Councilman Lake suggested that the funds could come from the Lodging Tax. 

 

Councilman Palumbo suggested that Mr. Webb get with Chief White to include this request in the 

next budget cycle. 

 

Council President Barnette requested that this be put on the May Finance agenda. 

 

 

16



APRIL 9, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

3 

 

3. PROTOCOL FOR ROAD CLOSINGS                                                                                                                                                                                               

 

Mr. Johnson presented council with a proposed protocol to alert businesses and the public to road 

closings for events that require the roads to be closed. (Proposed protocol is spread out upon these 

minutes) 

 

4. ADOPTING 2012 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE / CHIP MARTIN 

 

Mr. Martin stated that it is time to adopt the new 2012 International Fire Code with amendments.  He 

said that the amendments have not changed since adopting the 2006 International Fire Code. 

 

 

5. ADOPTING 2012 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE / 

RICHARD MERCHANT 

 

Mr. Merchant said it is also time to adopt the new 2012 International Building Codes.  The only 

change is updated roof requirements.  The new code will help with leakage and energy efficiency. 

He sees this as protection for the homeowner.  Mr. Merchant said that the homebuilders and the 

county have adopted the new codes. 

 

 

6.  DISCUSS WHATEVER ELSE IS DEEMED NECESSARY 

Council did not have any other items to discuss. 

 

 

7.  ADJOURN 

 

There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 8:43 p.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by,       

                                                     

                               

___________________________                                                                                        

David L. Cohen,                                                                     

City Clerk, MMC                                                                                                                                             
       Certification of Presiding Officer:   

 

 

       ________________________________      

      Cathy S. Barnette,     

      Council President       

17



18



19



20



21



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STANDING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
                                                                    
                                                                   

                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 

BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE REPORT  
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    

PLANNING/ZONING/CODE ENFORCEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
 

PUBLIC SAFETY/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    

                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 

PUBLIC WORKS/BEAUTIFICATION/MUSEUM COMMITTEE  REPORT 
 
                                                                  
 
                                                                  

22



CITY OF DAPHNE 
FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 

April 9, 2012 
4:00 P.M. 

 
I.      CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
 
The meeting was called to order at 4:14 pm.  Present were Chairman Derek Boulware, Deputy Finance Director 
Christine Ciancetta, Senior Accountant Suzânne Henson, and Accountant Donna Page. 
 
Councilwoman Tommie Conaway arrived at 4:44 pm.  Councilman Ron Scott and Finance Director Kim Briley 
were absent. 
 
Also in attendance were Mayor Bailey Yelding, Human Resources Director Vickie Hinman, Public Works 
Director Richard Johnson, Civic Center Director Margaret Thigpen, Fire Chief Bo White, Police Captain Danny 
Bell, Environmental Management Coordinator Ashley Campbell, Revenue Officer Heather Gywnn, Assistant City 
Clerk Becky Hayes, and Human Resources Payroll/Benefits Coordinator Sherree Hilburn. 
 
 

II.      PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
 

III.    HUMAN RESOURCES BUSINESS 
 

Update on Human Resources Department Activity  
 
Ms. Vickie Hinman presented the Human Resources activity update. Interviews are on-going for a PT Library 
Aide and internal posting for a FT LT Firefighter will close today. 
  
At the Safety Committee meeting, the Fire Marshal reported a fire had occurred at the break room in the City 
Garage.  The fire was already out when it discovered by an employee reporting for work.  The fire department 
responded to confirm that there was no hidden fire in the ceiling. The Fire Marshal investigated the cause and 
origin and noted that a cushioned chair was damaged.  No other items were ignited from the fire, and the 
damage was light – mainly smoke damage. The next Safety Committee meeting will be April 25, 2012 at 10:00 
a.m. 
 
Ms. Hinman reported on the following HR department projects:  
 Employee Service Award Luncheon – March 21, 2012 – 41 employees recognized for years of service 
 Relay for Life Team Fundraiser – TV Raffle & Strawberry Sale 
 E-Verify Mandate April 1, 2012 – New Hires 
 Posting of NLRB Poster in Departments by April1, 2012 
 Statement of Economic Interest due April 30, 2012 
 Salary Survey from Archer Company 
 
 

IV. CURRENT BUSINESS 
 
A.  Financial Reports 

 
1.  Treasurer’s Report:  March 31, 2012 

 
The Treasurer’s Report totaling $18,020,228.32 was presented. Ms. Henson noted that the General Fund MMA 
account is down $2,891,689 from February.   Ms. Henson noted some large expenditures this month include a 
$505,836 legal settlement from General Fund Reserves and transfers to the Capital Reserve Fund: $795,000 for 
the US 98 & Whispering Pines Road project and the $500,000 annual transfer for road projects.  It was 
discussed that a Capital Reserve Fund reimbursement from ALDOT of approximately $470,000 to date for the 

23



Finance Minutes.doc  2  

Hwy 98 and County Road 64 project is pending.  Ms. Henson noted that the beginning balance of Capital 
Reserve Fund for FY11 was a little over $3 million and that the beginning balance for FY12 was a little over $2 
million and noted that during this last month the balance low was around $100,000.  Ms. Henson noted that 
transfers into the account for the road projects and the US98 & Whispering Pines project brought the balance 
back up to the $1.3 million at the end of March and noted there is a request on the agenda for $106,445.  Ms. 
Henson noted that if any other Capital projects are approved requested funds will need to be transferred from 
the General Fund to cover the project cost if use of the $500,000 road project funds are not designated. 
 

Motion by Ms. Conaway to accept the Treasurer’s Report as of March 31, 2012, in the 
amount of $18,020,228.32.  Seconded by Mr. Boulware.  Motion carried. 
 
2.  Sales and Use Taxes: February 29, 2012 
 
Ms. Henson noted that the sales tax reports for February will need to be updated.  Revenue just received 
approximately $77,425 sales and use tax in certified mail from the post office that was postmarked March 20.  
Ms. Henson noted we are not sure why there was a delay in receiving this mail but that these monies will bring 
the year to date to approximately $63,297 over budget. 
 
3.  Lodging Tax Collections, February 29, 2012  
 
The Lodging Tax Collections report shows $47,346.50 collected for February 29, 2012. 
 
4.  Report: New Business Licenses – March 2012 
 
The list of new businesses, and businesses closed, in March was presented.   
 
5.  Bills Paid Reports – March 2012 
 
The March Bills Paid Report was included in Packet #2. 
 
 

B.  Appropriation Request  
 
Capital Reserve Fund 
 

 Profit Drive Extension & Lake Forest Ridgewood Drive – Phase II:  Appropriation of Design and 
Engineering Funds - $106,445 

 
Mr. Johnson discussed that design and engineering services are required to prepare these projects for bid.  
Costs for this are $20,154 for Profit Drive Extension and $86,291 for Lake Forest: Ridgewood Drive – Phase II.   
 

Motion by Ms. Conaway to recommend Council adopt an ordinance appropriating 
$106,445 from the Capital Reserve Fund for design and engineering services for Profit 
Drive Extension and Lake Forest Ridgewood Drive – Phase II. Seconded by Mr. 
Boulware.   Motion carried. 
 
  
General Fund - 
 

 Legislative – International Building and Fire Code Books (3 of each) - $1,617 
 
Ms. Becky Hayes stated that Alabama State law requires the City Clerk’s Office to have three copies of the 2012 
International Building and Fire Code manuals. The cost including shipping is $1,776.70 and has not been 
budgeted.   
 

Motion by Ms. Conaway to recommend Council adopt an ordinance appropriating 
$1,776.70 for the purchase of three copies of the 2012 International Building and Fire 
Code manuals.  Seconded by Mr. Boulware.   Motion carried. 

24



Finance Minutes.doc  3  

 
 

 Assistance to Firefighters Grant Awarded - $55,800 
 
Chief White discussed the $55,800 Assistance to Firefighters Grant awarded to the City.  Federal monies equal 
90% ($50,220) with a 10% ($5,580) City match.  The funds will be used to purchase a Thermal Imager Camera 
and Self-Contained Breathing Apparatuses. Chief White explained the camera can be used to find trapped 
bodies in a burning building.  He noted two of the City’s three fire trucks are currently equipped with a thermal 
imager camera; this purchase will allow the third truck to have one. 
  

Motion by Ms. Conaway to recommend Council adopt an ordinance appropriating 
$5,580 for the City’s 10% match for the $55,800 Assistance to Firefighters Grant.  
Seconded by Mr. Boulware.   Motion carried. 
 
 

 Main Street Resurfacing $901,745.10 (transfer funds to Capital Fund) bid opened March 5, 2012 
 

 Appropriation of Funds - $876,930.10 
 

 Bid Award - $815,642.10 
 
 

 Well Road Ext to Hwy 13 $259,359.50 (transfer funds to Capital Fund) bid opened March 5, 2012 
 

 Appropriation of Funds - $237,429.50 
 

 Bid Award - $207,028.50 
 
Mr. Johnson discussed the Main Street resurfacing and Well Road Extension road projects.  He noted that they 
are both included in the City’s ATRIP application under the GARVEE Grant, which would provide federal funding 
for 80% of the projects.  The award date for the grant is May 15.  Mr. Johnson noted that $24,815 for 
engineering services on the Main Street Resurfacing project and $21,930 for engineering services for the Well 
Road Ext project have previously been appropriated.  He also agreed with HMR’s low bid award 
recommendations - $815,642.10 to Hosea O Weaver & Sons for Main Street Resurfacing, and $207,028.50 to 
Asphalt Services, Inc. for Well Road Ext to Hwy 13.  Discussion continued that the first read for appropriating 
the monies on the two projects and award of the bids should be at the May 7

th
 meeting in order to allow time for 

a response on the ATRIP application.  Mr. Johnson and Mr. Robertson, HMR noted that verbiage was added to 
each bid to allow additional time for the bid pricing to remain good in order to allow these projects to be 
considered as a project for the grant.  
 

Motion by Ms. Conaway to recommend Council adopt an ordinance appropriating 
$876,930.10 for Main Street Resurfacing (for a total project cost of $901,745.10) and 
adopt a resolution awarding bid 2012-H-MAIN STREET RESURFACING to Hosea O 
weaver & Sons in the amount of $815,642.10; and adopt an ordinance appropriating 
$237,429.50 for Well Road Ext to Hwy 13 (for a total project cost of $259,359.50) and 
adopt a resolution awarding bid 2012-I-WELL ROAD EXTENSION TO HWY 13 to 
Asphalt Services, Inc. in the amount of $207,028.50. Seconded by Mr. Boulware.   
Motion carried.  
 
 

C.  Update on Village Point USFW Grant ($10,000 Cash / $6,400 In-kind Labor Match 
Approved Ordinance 2011-84) 
 
Ms. Ashley Campbell requested permission to reapply for a second US Fish & Wildlife grant to fight invasive 
species at Village Point and Bay Front Park.  She noted this would require a $10,000 cash and $6,400 in-kind 
labor match from the City.  Ms. Campbell noted this should be the last year we will need assistance in 
controlling the invasive species, staff should be able to handle the projects after this.  She also discussed the 

25



Finance Minutes.doc  4  

City of Daphne’s and City of Foley‘s combined public education projects to include classes and brochures on the 
best and worst trees and shrubs to use in our area.  It was noted that the $10,000 cash match would come from 
Lodging Tax. 

 

Motion by Ms. Conaway to recommend Council adopt a resolution authorizing the 
Mayor to apply for a second US Fish and Wildlife Invasive Species Grant for Village 
Point and Bay Front Parks.  Seconded by Mr. Boulware.   Motion carried. 
 

 
D.  Declare City Property Surplus: 
 
1.    The following equipment was presented for surplus: 
 
Dept   Tag/Veh#      Description          Vin# / Serial #       
               
Detective  699  1999 Ford Taurus  1FAFP53UOXA318129 
Grounds  47  1998 GMC Sierra PU  1GDKC34J8WF058590  
SW   772  2000 Ford F150   1FTRX17W0YNB32502 
 

Motion by Ms. Conaway to recommend Council adopt a resolution declaring the listed 
property surplus and authorizing the Mayor to dispose of such property. Seconded by 
Mr. Boulware.  Motion carried. 
 
 
2.   The following property is declared to be surplus and no longer used by the City and is requested for 
donation to the Ruff Wilson: 
 

 27 Blue Cloth and Chrome Guest Chairs 
 
 

Motion by Ms. Conaway to recommend Council adopt a resolution declaring the listed 
property surplus and authorizing the Mayor to donate such property. Seconded by Mr. 
Boulware.  Motion carried. 
 
 

V. Old Business 
 
 

VI. ADJOURN   
 
The meeting was adjourned at 4:55 p.m. 

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES 

 
NOTES: 
 
BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENTS REPORT:
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD: 
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
LIBRARY BOARD: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
RECREATION BOARD REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
UTILITY BOARD REPORT: 
 
                                                                          
 
 
 

71



MINUTES - 1 

 

APPROVED MINUTES 

Utilities Board Meeting 

         City of Daphne Council Chambers  February 29, 2012  5:00 p.m. 
 

I. Call to Order 

The regular February 2012, Board meeting for the Utilities Board of the City of Daphne was held on February 29, 
2012 and called to order by Chairman Robert Segalla, at 5:01 p.m. 
 

II. Roll Call 
   Members Present: Robert Segalla, Chairman 

 Fenton E. Jenkins, Vice Chairman  
 Bailey Yelding, Mayor 
 

Others Absent: Ron Scott, Secretary/Treasurer 
  Lon Johnston 

  

      Others Present: Jerry Speegle – Board Attorney  
 Rob McElroy – General Manager 

 Danny Lyndall – Operations Manager 

 Teresa Logiotatos – Finance Manager  
 Deloris Brown – Human Resources Manager 

 Drew Klumpp – Administrative Services Manager 
  Lori May-Wilson – Executive Assistant 

 Melinda Immel – Volkert & Associates 

 Ray Moore - HMR 
 
 Others Absent:   
 

III. Pledge of Allegiance 

The Chairman led the Board and meeting attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 

IV. Approval of Minutes        
A. Utilities Board Minutes from January 25, 2012: 

The Chairman inquired if there were any corrections noted for the submitted Minutes from the January 25, 2012, 

Utilities Board meeting. No corrections were made. 
   

MOTION BY Mayor Bailey Yelding to approve the Minutes for January 25, 2012; Seconded by Fenton 
Jenkins. 
AYE: JENKINS, SEGALLA, YELDING                ABSENT: JOHNSTON, SCOTT ABSTAIN:  MOTION 
CARRIED 

  
 
 

V. Old Business 
A. Items in Abeyance 

1.  Gas Franchise Agreement – No updated information was reported. 

2.  Spanish Fort Sewer Franchise issues – No updated information was reported. 72



MINUTES - 2 

 
Chairman Segalla then revised the meeting to allow time for Danny Lyndall’s presentation 

 
VI. Operations Report 

Danny Lyndall gave a presentation to the Board informing them of a major catastrophe at the Waste Water 
Treatment Plant whereby a previous patch on a 6” line coming into the aeration tank of the D’Olive Package Plant 

began leaking.  He explained that employees had been working diligently to take the tank off-line in order to 

make the repair and that ADEM had been contacted and notified that the plant was declared a “plant upset”.  He 
further stated that ADEM would be conducting an audit to ensure that Daphne Utilities had procedurally done 

everything required and if they determine that this was an unavoidable upset, then any violations will not go 
against Daphne Utilities.  He addressed the challenges of the repairs due to the aged infrastructure of this plant.   

 

VII. New Business 
A. Discussion of Utilities’ Board meeting schedule 
Chairman Segalla informed the Board that this item could be discussed but all Board members would have to be 
present because it would have to be a resolution to change the By-Laws; Mr. Speegle confirmed that was correct.  It 
was recommended to include this item of discussion in the Items of Abeyance for discussion at next month’s Board 
meeting. 

 

VIII. BOARD ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 Mr. Speegle had nothing further to add to his report. 
 

IX. FINANCIAL REPORT 
 Teresa Logiotatos commented that there was nothing financially out of the ordinary for the month of February.  

She pointed out the Standard & Poor’s Rating information she handed out to the Board for the refinancing the 

2003 Bond Issue which is the only Issue Daphne Utilities has left to refinance for a lower interest rate savings.  
She advised that the auditors are finished in-house and are now working outside with an estimated audit 

presentation in March or April.  She then informed the Board that she is receiving quotes for the Utilities’ 
commercial insurance.  She lastly pointed out some changes on Cash Flow report. 

 

X. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

a. GM Report 
Rob McElroy pointed out the State of the Utility Report that he handed out and mentioned that we would be 
discussing at upcoming Board meetings.  He commended Darrell Bryant and Rodney Strasser on their recent 

Master Gas Evaluator Certification.  Chairman Segalla extended the Board’s compliments as well.  Darrell Bryant 
introduced his new employee, Kelly Boyington. 

 
Melinda Immel of Volkert & Associates had nothing further to add to her report.  

 

Ray Moore of HMR gave an updated review of his report for the Board.    
   

XI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  –  Melinda Immel announced Daphne Utilities’ Project of the Year Award from the 
Mobile  Area Council of Engineers. 

XII. BOARD ACTION –  None. 

XIII. BOARD COMMENTS – None. 

  

XIV. ADJOURNMENT – 

 

MOTION BY Mayor Bailey Yelding to adjourn the meeting; Seconded by Fenton Jenkins. 
AYE: JENKINS, SEGALLA,YELDING           ABSENT: JOHNSTON, SCOTT               ABSTAIN:                 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
The meeting adjourned at 5:32 pm.  

73



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MAYOR'S REPORT 

 
 

NOTES: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
  
 
 
 
 

74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
NOTES:                                                              
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
                                                                    

                                                                    
DEPARTMENT HEAD’S COMMENTS  

 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 

                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
      
 
 
 
 

82



 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
RESOLUTIONS, ORDINANCES, ORDERS & OTHER BUSINESS 

 
NOTES: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
 
 
 
 

83



 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

RESOLUTION NO.  2012-29 

 
A RESOLUTION SCHEDULING A PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE 

ADOPTION OF CERTAIN TECHNICAL CODES BY REFERENCE 

 

 

            WHEREAS, the city of  Daphne shall heretofore by Ordinance adopt the 2012 Edition of 

the International Building Code, 2012 Edition of the International Residential Mechanical code, 

2012 Edition of the International Plumbing Code,  International Energy Efficiency Code 2012 

and the 2011 Edition of the National Electrical Code: and the City of Daphne supplemental code 

to the 2012 International Residential Code. 

 

 WHEREAS, the International Code Council Incorporated has published the 2012 

Edition of the International Building Code, 2006 Edition of the Residential Code, 2012 Edition 

of the International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition of the International Mechanical Code, and the 

2012 Edition of the International Plumbing Code, 2012 International Energy Efficiency 

Code,  and the National Fire Prevention Association has published the 2011 Edition of the 

National Electric Code; and the City of Daphne has published the City of Daphne Supplemental 

Code to the 2012 International Residential Code.  

 

             WHEREAS, Section 11-45-8 of the Code of Alabama 1975 provides for the adoption of 

codes in book form upon compliance with the requirements of such Section; and 

 

 

              NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

1. That a public hearing shall be held on May 7, 2012, concerning the adoption of an 

Ordinance for the 2012 edition of the International Building Code, 2012 Edition of the 

International Residential Code, 2012 Edition of the International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 

Edition of the International Mechanical Code, International Energy Efficiency Code 

2012, 2011 Edition of the National Electric Code, City of Daphne Supplemental Code to 

the 2012 International Residential Code and all amendments thereof. 

 

2. Said Ordinance shall provide for the amendment, deletion, and changes   

To the International Residential Code, Edition 2012, as follows: 

 

a.   The following section of the International Residential Code, edition      

      2012 is hereby revised in its entirety to read as follows: 

 

R. 106.1          Submitted documents. Construction documents, special inspection and structural 

observation programs and other data shall be submitted in two sets with each 

application for a permit the construction documents shall be prepared by a 

registered design professional for all new residential homes and additions over  

84



RESOLUTION 2012-29                                    IBC CODE                                        PAGE    2 

 

 

 750 sq ft. Where special conditions exist, the building official is authorized to 

require additional construction documents to be prepared by a registered design 

professional. 

 

                        EXCEPTION:  The building official is authorized to waive the submission of 

construction documents and other data not required to be prepared by a registered 

design professional if it is found that the nature of the work applied for is such 

that reviewing of construction documents is not necessary to obtain compliance 

with this code. 

 

3. That this resolution be published once a week for two consecutive weeks  

Prior to said hearing. 

 

4. That three copies of said Codes shall be filed for not less than fifteen (15) days prior to 

the holding of public hearing for use and examination by the public in the Office of the 

City Clerk. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, this _______ day of __________, 2012. 

 

 

                                                                                    ______________________________ 

                                                                                    CATHY S. BARNETTE, 

                                                                                    COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

                                                                                     
 

 

                                                                                    ______________________________ 

                                                                                    BAILEY YELDING, JR., 

                                                                                    MAYOR 

                                                                                     
 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________ 

DAVID L. COHEN 

CITY CLERK, MMC 

 

             

 

 

85



CITY OF DAPHNE 

RESOLUTION NO. 2012-30 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING THE SCHEDULING OF A PUBLIC HEARING 

TO CONSIDER THE ADOPTION OF THE 2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE 

AS AMENDED BY REFERENCE 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

WHEREAS, the International Code Council, Incorporated, has published the 

2012 Edition of the International Fire Code; and, 

 

WHEREAS, Section 11-45-8(c) of the Code of Alabama 1975, provides for the 

adoption of codes in book form upon compliance with the requirements of said Section; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council for the City of Daphne, Alabama, finds it to be in 

the interests of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Daphne, Alabama, to 

adopt the 2012 Edition of the International Fire Code, as amended; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Daphne shall heretofore by Ordinance adopt the 2012 

Edition of the International Fire Code, as amended; and 

   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION I: PUBLIC HEARING 

 

That a public hearing shall be held on May 7
th

, 2012, concerning the adoption of 

an ordinance for the 2012 Edition of the International Fire Code and all amendments 

thereto. 

 

SECTION II: ENTIRE CODE, AS AMENDED, TO BE ADOPTED WITH SPECIFIC 

REVISIONS 

 

Said Ordinance shall provide for the amendments, deletions, and changes to the 

2012 Edition of the International Fire Code, as amended. 

 

Pursuant to applicable law, the City of Daphne is permitted to repeal certain 

provisions of the 2012 Edition of the International Fire Code, as amended, and provide 

separate authority. Predicated on said authority, the following sections of the 2012 

Edition of the International Fire Code, as amended, be and are hereby revised in their  

entirety to read as follows: 

 
 

 

86



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   2 

 

A.  

Section 101.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 101.1 shall be added to read as follows: 

 

101.1 Title.    These regulations shall be known as the Fire Code of Daphne, hereinafter  

           referred to as “this code.” 

 

B. 

Section 103.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 103.1 shall be added to read as follows: 

 

103.1 General.   Bureau of Fire Prevention.  There is hereby established a     

           department to be called the Bureau of Fire Prevention and the person in    

           charge shall be known in this Code as the Fire Code Official, who shall be   

           the Fire Marshal of the City of Daphne. The function of the department  

           shall be the implementation, administration and enforcement of the   

           provisions of this code and amendments. 

 

C. 

Section 103.2 Appointment. Of the International Fire Code shall be removed in its 

entirety. 

 

D. 

Section 105.6.30 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 105.6.30 shall be added to read as follows. 

Open Burning 

No person shall kindle or maintain any bonfire or rubbish fire or authorize 

any such fire to be kindled or maintained without a permit or other proper 

authorization. 

 No waste materials, rubbish, trees, bushes or brush cleared for 

construction or demolition of buildings or structures shall be disposed of 

by burning on the premises or in the immediate vicinity by the owner, the 

contractor, or any other person, unless a permit or other proper 

authorization has been obtained to burn said waste materials in an 

approved waste burner/incinerator.       

 

The permit for each approved waste burner/incinerator shall be      

$75.00  

 

E. 

Section 105.7.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 105.7.1 shall be added to read as follows: 

 

 

 

87



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   3 
 

Fixed Fire Extinguishing Systems Installation 

 

No person shall engage in the business of installing fixed fire 

extinguishing systems without obtaining a permit from the Bureau of Fire 

Prevention. 

 

No person shall install a fixed fire extinguishing system without obtaining 

a current City of Daphne business license. 

 

No person shall be issued a permit to install fixed fire extinguishing 

equipment who does not possess a manufacturers certification for 

installation and servicing for the type system being installed and have a 

Certificate of Insurance, General Liability for $ 1,000,000 with the City of 

Daphne, Bureau of Fire Prevention, P.O. Box 400, Daphne AL. 36526 

listed as a Certificate Holder. 

 

Any modifications made to a fixed system including adding additional 

flow points will require an installation permit. 

   

  A complete plan/drawing of the system and the devices that are being  

protected shall be submitted before a permit is issued and a copy shall be 

placed in the control box.   

 

   

The technician who actually performs the installation of the fixed fire 

extinguishing systems shall legibly sign and date the service tag verifying 

that all work was done in compliance with current NFPA standards. 

  

 The Fire Code Official shall require certain operational tests upon final 

inspection. 

 

The permit fee for each fire extinguisher system installation shall be  

$75.00 

 

Section 105.7.1.1 

 

Servicing Fixed Fire Extinguishing Systems 

 

No person shall engage in the business of servicing or inspecting fixed fire 

extinguishing systems without obtaining a permit from the Bureau of Fire 

Prevention. The permit is good only for that calendar year of which it is 

issued. 

 

No person shall service or inspect a fixed fire extinguishing system 

without obtaining a current City of Daphne business license. 

88



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   4 

 

No person shall be issued a permit to service or inspect fixed fire 

extinguishing equipment who does not possess a manufacturers 

certification for installation and servicing for the type system being 

installed and have a Certificate of Insurance, General Liability for $ 

1,000,000 with the City of Daphne, Bureau of Fire Prevention, P.O. Box 

400, Daphne AL. 36526 listed as a Certificate Holder. 

   

Any modifications made to a fixed system including adding additional 

flow points will require an installation permit. 

   

  A complete plan/drawing of the system and the devices that are being  

protected shall be submitted before a permit is issued and a copy shall be 

placed in the control box.   

 

The technician who actually performs the work of servicing or inspecting 

the fixed fire extinguishing systems shall legibly sign and date the service 

tag verifying that all work was done in compliance with current NFPA 

standards. 

 

A permit is not required for follow up inspection or service, if a permit 

was received for that system in the same year.  However a report shall be 

furnished to the Bureau of Fire Prevention upon completion of work being 

done. 

The permit fee for servicing a fixed fire extinguisher system shall be 

$75.00 

 

F. 

Section 105.7.6 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 105.7.6 shall read as follows: 

 

Section 105.7.6 

Fire Alarm System Installation 

 

No person shall install a fire alarm system without having the plans 

reviewed by the Fire Code Official before commencing any part of the 

work. No person shall commence working on a fire alarm system without 

first obtaining a permit from the Bureau of Fire Prevention. 

 

There is excepted from the requirements of this Section 105.7.4.1 

installations in any building with single station detectors only. 

 

Installer must possess a State Fire Alarm Permit issued by the State Fire 

Marshals office. 

 

 

89



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   5    
 

 

Any person or entity who designs fire alarm systems must possess a State 

Fire Alarm Permit issued by the State Fire Marshals office. 

    

   Licensed electricians may pull wire, mount ancillary equipment, and 

connect the main power to the control panel after a permit has been issued; 

but no one other than a qualified fire alarm installer shall be allowed to 

make any other connections inside the control panel. 

    

   A certified fire sprinkler installer may install devices integral to the 

operation of the fire sprinkler system, but shall not make and connections 

to the fire alarm system. 

    

   Upon final inspection, the NFPA Fire Alarm System Record of 

Completion form must be properly filled out and submitted to the Fire 

Code Official and a fire alarm system test must be performed in the 

presence of the Fire Code Official. 

 

   All fire alarm circuit disconnecting means shall have a red marking and 

shall be identified as “Fire Alarm”. 

  

Fire Alarm Control Units (FACU) will be located at the entrance of the 

building or provide an annunciator panel at the entrance and also indicate 

the location of the main panel. 

    

   The permit fee for installing a fire alarm system shall be $75.00 

 

Section 105.7.6.1 

Servicing Fire Alarm Systems 

      

No person shall engage in the business of servicing fire alarm systems 

without obtaining a permit from the Fire Code Official. The permit is good 

only for that calendar year of which it is issued. There is excepted from 

the requirements of Section 105.7.4 installations of the following types: 

 

(1) One and two family dwellings 

(2) Any buildings with single station detectors only. 

(3) Owners of buildings may maintain their own systems as long as 

their maintenance person is certified by the manufacturer of the 

installed equipment or has National Institute for Certification in 

Engineering Technologies (NICET) level II in fire alarms. 

 

   No person shall be issued a permit to modify, repair, test or service fire 

alarm systems who does not possess a State of Alabama Fire Alarm Permit 

issued by the State Fire Marshals office. 

90



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   6          
     

 

A service tag or sticker shall be required to be installed by the permitted 

alarm servicing individual or company at the control panel of each fire 

alarm system, stating the company’s name, address, phone number, name 

of the technician performing the service, date and the type of service 

performed.  

 

The permit fee to service a fire alarm system shall be $75.00 

 

G. 

Section 105.7.7 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 105.7.7 shall be added to read as follows: 

 

Fire Pumps Installation 

 

Any person who installs fire pumps must be licensed by the Alabama State 

Fire Marshal’s Office and approved by the Fire Code Official. 

 

No person shall install a fire pump without first obtaining a permit from 

the Bureau of Fire Prevention. 

 

  Installer must possess a current City of Daphne business license and have 

a Certificate of Insurance, General Liability for $1,000,000 with the City 

of Daphne, Bureau of Fire Prevention, P.O. Box 400, Daphne AL. 36526 

listed as a Certificate Holder. 

 

   Installer must have fire pump plans reviewed by the Fire Code Official 

before commencing installation. 

 

All testing of the fire pump shall comply with NFPA 25. The Fire Code 

Official may require certain operational test upon final inspection. 

 

The permit fee to install a fire pump shall be $75.00 

 

 

Section 105.7.7.1 shall be added to read as follows: 

    

  Servicing Fire Pumps 

 

Any person who services, test or inspects fire pumps must be licensed by 

the Alabama State Fire Marshal’s Office and approved by the Fire Code 

Official. 

 

No person shall service, test or inspect a fire pump without first obtaining 

a permit from the Bureau of Fire Prevention. 

91



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   7    
 

 

 The Person/Business who obtains the permit must possess a current City 

of Daphne business license and have a Certificate of Insurance, General 

Liability for $1,000,000 with the City of Daphne, Bureau of Fire 

Prevention, P.O. Box 400, Daphne AL. 36526 listed as a Certificate 

Holder 

 

  The permit fee to service, test or inspect a fire pump shall be $75.00 

 

H. 

Section 105.7.17 shall be added to read as follows:    

   

Portable Fire Extinguisher Service 

No person shall engage in the business of servicing portable fire 

extinguishers without obtaining a permit from the Bureau of Fire 

Prevention. The permit is good only for that calendar year of which it is 

issued. 

 

 No person shall service portable fire extinguishers without obtaining a 

current City of Daphne business license. 

  

No person shall be issued a permit to service a portable fire extinguisher 

that does not posses a manufactures service manual for the type of 

extinguisher being serviced, and have the proper training. They shall have 

a Certificate of Insurance, General Liability for $1,000,000 with the City 

of Daphne, Bureau of Fire Prevention, P.O. Box 400 Daphne, AL 36526 

listed as a Certificate Holder.  

 

The technician who actually performs the work of servicing the portable 

fire extinguishers shall legibly sign and date the service tag verifying that 

all work was done in compliance with current NFPA standards. 

 

  The annual permit fee for portable fire extinguisher service shall be   

$75.00 

I. 

Section 105.7.18 shall be added to read as follows: 

Install Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems 

     

   No person shall install, modify or repair an automatic fire sprinkler system 

without obtaining a permit from the Bureau of Fire Prevention. 

 

  Any person who installs or maintains fire sprinkler systems (hereinafter 

called in Section 402.35 “installer”) must be certified by the Alabama 

State Fire Marshal’s Office, and have a Certificate of Insurance, General 

Liability for $1,000,000 with the City of Daphne, Bureau of Fire  

92



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   8 

 

  Prevention, P.O. Box 400, Daphne AL. 36526 listed as a Certificate 

Holder. 

 

   Installer must possess a current City of Daphne business license. 

 

   Installer must have sprinkler plans reviewed by the Fire Code Official 

before commencing installation. 

     

   Upon final inspection, the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 

Contractor's Material and Test Certificate for Aboveground Piping must 

be properly completed and submitted to the Bureau of Fire Prevention. 

 

    The Fire Code Official shall be present during the final inspection of the 

sprinkler system. 

 

  Relocating more than three (3) sprinkler heads in an existing fire sprinkler 

system shall require a permit from the Bureau of Fire Prevention..    

                       The permit fee for each automatic fire sprinkler system installation        

                       shall be $75.00 

 

Section 105.7.18.1 shall be added to read as follows: 

Servicing Fire Sprinkler Systems 

              No person shall service or inspect an automatic fire sprinkler system 

without obtaining a permit from the Bureau of Fire Prevention. 

              

Any person who services or maintains fire sprinkler systems must be 

certified by the Alabama State Fire Marshal’s Office, and have a 

Certificate of Insurance, General Liability for $1,000,000 with the City of 

Daphne, Bureau of Fire Prevention, P.O. Box 400, Daphne AL. 36526 

listed as a Certificate Holder. 

 

              No person shall perform maintenance or testing on fire sprinkler systems  

              unless that person is certified by the Alabama State Fire Marshal’s office  

                   and approved by the Fire Code Official. 

 

   Installer must possess a current City of Daphne business license. 

    

   The permit fee for servicing a fire sprinkler system shall be $75.00 

 

The permit is good only for that calendar year of which it is issued. 

 

J. 

Section 105.7.19 shall be added to read as follows: 

Additional Permits 

Where work for which a permit is required by this code commences prior  

93



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   9 
 

to obtaining said permit, the permit fee herein specified shall be doubled. 

 

 It shall be required that a copy of all annual or semi-annual inspection 

reports be submitted to the Bureau of Fire Prevention with any and all 

deficiencies clearly noted. 

 

 All checks and money orders shall be made out to the City of Daphne. 

 

 All certifications whether they are manufacture or NICET must be current 

and not have expired.  

 

                        General requirements for a permit are as followed: 

                        1. Current city of Daphne Business license. 

                        2. Current one million dollar ($1,000,000) general liability insurance     

                            policy with the City  of Daphne listed as a certificate holder, P.O. Box    

                            400 Daphne AL 36526.   

                        3. Approved by the Fire Code Official. 

  4. Current Training certificates. 

  5. Permit fee of $75.00 

K. 

Section 109.4 Violation penalties.  

Persons who shall violate a provision of this code, or shall fail to comply with any 

of the requirements thereof, or who shall erect, install, alter, repair or do work in 

violation of the approved construction documents or directive of the fire code 

official, or of a permit or certificate used under provisions of this code, shall be 

guilty of a violation of the 2012 Edition of the International Fire Code, as 

amended, which is punishable by a fine of not more than Two Hundred ($200) 

dollars. Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been served shall 

be deemed a separate offense. 

  

L. 

Section 307.2.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 307.2.1 shall read as follows: 

 

 Authorization. 

 

Open burning shall only be allowed once a calendar month per address/ 

location during the months that outdoor burning is allowed by the State 

Air Quality Agencies. A permit must be obtained before any burning starts 

and all provisions of the burn permit shall be followed. 

M. 

Section 307.4.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 307.4.1 shall read as follows: 

 

 

94



RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   10 
 

Bonfires. 

 

A bonfire shall not be conducted within 50 feet (15 240 mm) of a structure 

or combustible material unless the fire is contained in a barbecue pit. 

Conditions which could cause a fire to spread within 50 feet (15 240 mm) 

of a structure shall be eliminated prior to ignition. Bonfire permits shall 

only be issued to organizations (Churches, Schools, and other Civic 

Groups) not to private individuals.  

 

N. 

Section 503.2.5 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 503.2.5 shall read as follows: 

  

Dead ends. 

 

Dead-end fire apparatus access roads in excess of 150 feet (45 720 mm) in 

length shall be provided with an approved area for turning around fire 

apparatus per the provisions in accordance with Appendix D, Table 

D103.4. and figure D103.1.  

 

O. 

Section 505.1 of the International Fire Code that reads “Numbers shall be a minimum of  

4 inches high with a minimum stroke width of 0.5 inches” shall be repealed and 

shall read “numbers shall be a minimum of 5 inches high with a minimum stroke 

of 0.5 inches”.   

 

P. 

Section 506.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 506.1 shall read as follows: 

  

 Key boxes.  Key boxes shall be installed in all buildings having an 

automatic fire sprinkler system, fire alarm system or any alarm that 

generates a fire department response.  The Fire Code Official shall also 

have the authority to require a key box to be installed in an accessible 

location where access to or within a structure or area is difficult because of 

security. The key box shall be of and approved type and shall contain keys 

to gain necessary access as required by the Fire Code Official. 

Q.  

Section 507.5.1.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed  in its entirety and a 

new section 507.5.1.1 shall read as follows. 

   

Hydrant for Fire Sprinkler Systems and Standpipe Systems. Building equipped 

with a standpipe or fire sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903 

and 905 shall have a fire hydrant within 100 feet of the FDC (fire department 

connection).  

95



 
RESOLUTION 2012-30      2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE              PAGE   11 
 

R. 

508.5.7 Hydrant Outlet Location shall be added to read as follows: 

Hydrants shall be installed with the center of the outlet cap nut at least 18 

inches above the adjoining final grade. 

 

S.  

Section 905.3.1 of the International Fire Code shall be repealed in its entirety and a new 

section 905.3.1 shall read as follows: 

 

Building height. 

 

Class III standpipe systems shall be installed throughout buildings where 

the floor level of the highest story is located more than 30 feet (9144 mm) 

above the lowest level of the fire department vehicle access, or where the 

floor level of the lowest story is located more than 30 feet (9144 mm) 

below the highest level of fire department vehicle access. A class I, 

Manual Wet, standpipe system shall be installed in building where the 

floor level is of the highest story is located more than 20 feet above the 

lowest level of the fire department vehicle access. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, this          day of                    , 2012. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CATHY S. BARNETTE 

COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

 

 

_______________________________ 

BAILEY YELDING, MAYOR  

 

  ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

DAVID L. COHEN,  

CITY CLERK, MMC 

96



Resolution 2012 - 31 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife: Invasive Species Control Project: Village Point/Bay Front Park 

 
 

WHEREAS, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Coastal Assistance Program has grant funding 
available for invasive species control for waterfront areas; and 
 

WHEREAS, a control plan has been prepared for the benefit of Village Point/Bayfront 
Park; and 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Daphne that: 
 

1) The City of Daphne shall submit an application to U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Coastal Assistance Program in the amount of $50,305 (City Match of $6,400 
in-kind services and $10,000 Cash from Lodging Tax Fund) for funding for the 
Invasive Species Control Plan; AND  

   
2) The Mayor and is hereby authorized to execute such application and any and 

all additional  documents necessary to carry out the purpose of requesting 
funding consideration from U.S. Fish and Wildlife on behalf of the City of 
Daphne. 

 
 

   

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DAPHNE, ALABAMA, this ____ day of ____________, 2012. 
 
 
      ______________________________ 
      Cathy S. Barnette, Council President 
       
      _______________________________ 
      Bailey Yelding, Jr.,  Mayor 
       
 
 
ATTEST: 
___________________________ 
David L. Cohen, City Clerk, MMC 

97



RESOLUTION 2012 - 32 
 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY SURPLUS  AND 

AUTHORIZING DISPOSITION 
 
 

WHEREAS,  the City of Daphne has determined that there are some older Chairs that are no 
longer required for public or municipal purposes;  and 
 

WHEREAS,  such Chairs  listed below are no longer used by the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has been made aware that these Chairs can be utilized by another 
organization; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ruff Wilson Youth Organization provides certain quality of life services to the 
citizens and children of Daphne. 
 

WHEREAS,  the City of Daphne supports the efforts of Ruff Wilson Youth Organization in meeting 
the needs of families and children in Daphne; and  
 

WHEREAS,  the City of Daphne has determined that this organization could utilize these chairs; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Chairs are recommended for disposal; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,  by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne 
that  

 
1- The following property is hereby declared to be surplus:     

 (27) Blue Cloth & Chrome Guest Chairs 
and 

 
2- The Mayor is authorized to donate the above listed property to the Ruff Wilson Youth 

Organization. 
 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA, this               day of                   , 2012. 
 
           

________________________________ 

                                                                              Cathy S. Barnette, Council President 

       

                                                                                                                                                                                            

_____________________________ 

                                                                              Bailey Yelding, Jr., Mayor 

       

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________ 

David L. Cohen, City Clerk MMC 
 

98



RESOLUTION 2012 - 33 
 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY SURPLUS  AND 

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO DISPOSE OF SUCH PROPERTY 
 
 

WHEREAS,  the Department Heads of the City of Daphne have determined that the items listed 
below are no longer required for public or municipal purposes;  and 
 

WHEREAS, the items listed below are recommended for disposal. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,  by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne 
that  
 

1- The property listed below is hereby declared to be surplus property, and 
     

    

DEPT TAG/VEH# DESCRIPTION VIN # / SERIAL # 

    
 
    

Det        699 1999 FORD TAURUS 1FAFP53UOXA318129 

Grounds 47 1998 GMC SIERRA PU 1GDKC34J8WF058590 

SW 772 2000 FORD F150 1FTRX17W0YNB32502 

    

    
 
          2- The Mayor is authorized to advertise and accept bids through Govdeals.com as  
               contracted for the sale of such personal property, and 
 
          3-  The Mayor is authorized to sell said property to the highest bidder and deposit any and      
               all  proceeds to the General Fund.  The Mayor is further authorized to direct the           
               disposition of any property which is not claimed by any bidder. 
 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA, this               day of                   , 2012. 
           

________________________________ 

                                                                              Cathy S. Barnette, Council President 

                                                                                                                                                                                                  

_____________________________ 

                                                                              Bailey Yelding, Jr., Mayor 

       

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 

David L. Cohen, City Clerk MMC 

99



 

EXCERPTS FROM THE MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA HELD ON APRIL 2, 2012 

 

 

The City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama met at the City Hall in the City of Daphne 

on Monday, April 2, 2012 at 6:30 p.m., Central Time.  The following members of the City Council 

of the City of Daphne, Alabama were: 

PRESENT ABSENT 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 Ms. Barnette acted as Chairman of the meeting and David L. Cohen, City Clerk, acted as 

Clerk of the meeting.  The chairman stated that a quorum was present and declared the meeting open 

for the transaction of business. 

 

 * * * * * * 

The Chairman then stated that it would be appropriate to consider a resolution providing for 

the early call and redemption of certain of the City’s outstanding debt obligations.  The following 

resolution and order was thereupon introduced in writing by Councilmember _________:   

100



2 

A RESOLUTION CALLING FOR THE REDEMPTION OF THE CITY’S 

GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANTS, SERIES 2002 AND THE REDEMPTION OF 

THE CITY’S LIMITED OBLIGATION SPECIAL TAX WARRANTS, SERIES 2006 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama (the 

“Council”), as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Findings of Fact.  The Council has determined and hereby finds and declares that 

the following facts are true and correct: 

 

(a) The City of Daphne, Alabama (the “City”) has heretofore issued pursuant to an 

Ordinance adopted by the Council on August 19, 2002, (the “2002 Ordinance”), its 

City of Daphne General Obligation Warrants, Series 2002, dated August 1, 2002, 

originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $2,660,000 (the “Series 2002 

Warrants”).  

 

(b) The City has heretofore issued pursuant to an Ordinance adopted by the Council on 

September 5, 2006, (the “2006 Ordinance”), its City of Daphne Limited Obligation 

Special Tax Warrants, Series 2006, dated August 1, 2006, originally issued in the 

aggregate principal amount of $9,090,000 (the “Series 2006 Warrants”).  

 

(c) The Series 2002 Warrants are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 

of $2,110,000.  

 

(d) The Series 2006 Warrants are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 

of $8,755,000.  

 

(e) The City desires to refund all of the outstanding Series 2002 Warrants and Series 

2006 Warrants. 

   

(f) The City is not in default in the payment of principal of or interest on the Series 2002 

Warrants or the Series 2006 Warrants or under the 2002 Ordinance or the 2006 

Ordinance. 

 

Section 2. Call for Redemption of the Series 2002 Warrants.  Acting pursuant to the 

provisions of the Series 2002 Warrants and the 2002 Ordinance, the City does hereby elect to redeem 

and pay, and does hereby call for redemption and payment on May 18, 2012 (the “2002 Call Date”) 

$2,110,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2002 Warrants (being all of the Series 2002 

Warrants currently outstanding), the redemption of which shall be effected at a redemption price equal 

to 100% of the principal amount of each Series 2002 Warrant so called for redemption plus accrued 

interest thereon to the 2002 Call Date. Such redemption and payment shall be subject to the condition 

that the City shall have issued its General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 

2012. 

101



3 

Section 3. Call for Redemption of the Series 2006 Warrants.  Acting pursuant to the 

provisions of the Series 2006 Warrants and the 2006 Ordinance the City does hereby elect to redeem 

and pay, and does hereby call for redemption and payment: 

 

(a) as required by Section 6 of the 2006 Ordinance, on August 1, 2012, $130,000 

in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2006 Warrants, the redemption of which shall be 

effected at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of each Series 2006 

Warrant so called for redemption plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption. 

 

(b) on February 1, 2013 (the “2006 Call Date”) $8,625,000 in aggregate principal 

amount of the Series 2006 Warrants (being all of the Series 2006 Warrants maturing after the 

2006 Call Date), the redemption of which shall be effected at a redemption price equal to 100% 

of the principal amount of each Series 2006 Warrant so called for redemption plus accrued 

interest thereon to the 2006 Call Date.  

 

Section 4. Provisions for Notice for the Series 2002 Warrants.  The Bank of New 

York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. in Birmingham, Alabama is hereby directed, in its capacity as 

paying agent for the Series 2002 Warrants, to cause written notice of such redemption and prepayment 

to be given in the manner and at the time prescribed in the 2002 Ordinance. 

 

Section 5. Provisions for Notice for the Series 2006 Warrants.  The Treasurer of the 

City is hereby directed, in her capacity as paying agent for the Series 2006 Warrants, to cause written 

notice of such redemption and prepayment to be given in the manner and at the time prescribed in the 

2006 Ordinance. 

 

Section 6. Authorization.  The Mayor of the City, the City Clerk of the City and the City 

Treasurer of the City are each hereby authorized and directed to take or cause to be taken, in the name 

and behalf of the City, all of the actions required by the provisions of the 2002 Ordinance under which 

the Series 2002 Warrants were issued and all of the actions required by the provisions of the 2006 

Ordinance under which the Series 2006 Warrants were issued to be taken in order to effect the 

redemption of the Series 2002 Warrants and the Series 2006 Warrants as herein called for redemption. 

 

Councilmember _____________ moved that the foregoing resolution be adopted and spread 

upon the minutes of this meeting, which motion was seconded by Councilmember ____________, 

and, on roll call the following vote was registered: 

YEAS NAYS 

 

  

  

  

  

102



4 

  

  

  

 

The Chairman thereupon announced that said resolution had been carried by unanimous vote 

of the Council present. 

*  *  *  *  *  * 

The Chairman then stated that it would be appropriate to consider the issuance of                   

$13,495,000 in aggregate principal amount of the City's General Obligation Refunding and 

Improvement Warrants, Series 2012, for the purpose of refunding certain of the City’s outstanding 

general obligation indebtedness, paying a portion of the cost of certain road and bridge 

improvements and paying the expenses of issuing the City's General Obligation Refunding and 

Improvement Warrants, Series 2012.  The following ordinance was thereupon introduced in writing 

by Councilmember __________:   

103



5 

ORDINANCE NO. 2012-26 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF 

$13,495,000 OF GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT 

WARRANTS, SERIES 2012 

 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, as follows: 

 

 ARTICLE I 

 

 DEFINITIONS, USE OF WORDS AND 

 PHRASES, AND FINDINGS BY THE CITY 

 

 

Section 1.1  Definitions.  The following words and phrases and others evidently intended as 

the equivalent thereof shall, in the absence of clear implication herein otherwise, be given the 

following respective interpretations: 

 

“Bank” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in its role as Warrant 

Registrar and Paying Agent.  

 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or day on which banking 

institutions are required or authorized to close in the city in which the designated corporate trust 

agency office of the Bank is located, or on which the Federal Reserve Bank is closed. 

 

“Capital Improvements” shall have the meaning given that term in Section 1.3(f) hereof, 

subject to being amended and supplemented as provided in Section 7.3 hereof. 

 

“City” means the municipal corporation in the State of Alabama known as the City of 

Daphne, Alabama, as it now exists, and any political subdivision resulting from any merger or 

consolidation thereof with any other political subdivision. 

 

“City Clerk” means the city clerk of the City. 

 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended. 

 

“Council” means the governing body of the City as from time to time constituted. 

 

“Direct Participant” means securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 

corporations and certain other organizations which participate in the Securities Depository with 

respect to the Warrants. 

 

104



6 

“Escrow Trustee” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow 

trustee for the Series 2002 Warrants under the terms of the 2002 Escrow Trust Agreement and as 

escrow trustee for the Series 2006 Warrants under the terms of the 2006 Escrow Trust Agreement. 

 

“Government Obligations” means direct obligations of the United States of America and 

obligations unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America. 

 

“Interest Payment Date” means, with respect to the Warrants, any February 1 or August 1, 

prior to payment thereof. 

 

 “Overdue Interest” means interest due but not paid on the Interest Payment Date on which 

such interest is required to be paid. 

 

 “Record Date” means, as to any Interest Payment Date, the January 15 or July 15 

immediately preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

  

 “Securities Depository” has the meaning given that term in Section 3.5 hereof. 

 

“Series 2002 Warrants” means the City’s General Obligation Warrants, Series 2002, dated 

August 1, 2002, originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $2,660,000. 

 

“Series 2006 Warrants” means the City’s Limited Obligation Special Tax Warrants, dated 

August 1, 2006, originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $9,090,000. 

 

“Treasurer” shall mean the treasurer or any assistant treasurer of the City.   

 

“Warrant Authorizing Law” means Section 4, Chapter 81 and Section 2, Chapter 47 of 

Title 11, Code of Alabama, 1975. 

 

“Warrant Fund” means the special account created pursuant to Section 8.2 hereof. 

 

“Warrant Holder” or “Holder” means the registered holder, from time to time, of any of the 

Warrants. 

 

“Warrants,” unless otherwise indicated, means the $13,495,000 in aggregate principal 

amount of the City's General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2012, as more 

particularly described in Article II hereof and issued hereunder. 

 

“2002 Escrow Trust Agreement” means the Escrow Trust Agreement – 2002 Warrants, 

dated as of April 1, 2012, between the City and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A., as Escrow Trustee. 

 

105



7 

“2006 Escrow Trust Agreement” means the Escrow Trust Agreement – 2006 Warrants, 

dated as of April 1, 2012, between the City and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A., as Escrow Trustee. 

 

Section 1.2  Use of Words and Phrases.  The following provisions shall be applied 

wherever appropriate herein: 

 

Whenever used herein, any pronoun or pronouns shall be deemed to include both singular 

and plural and to cover all genders. 

 

"Hereby", "herein", "hereinafter", "hereof", "hereunder" and other equivalent words refer to 

this Ordinance as a whole and not solely to any particular portion thereof in which any such word is 

used. 

 

The definitions set forth in Section 1.1 hereof shall be deemed applicable whether the words 

defined are herein used in the singular or plural. 

 

Section 1.3  Findings of Council.  Having made due and proper investigation of the matters 

hereinafter referred to, the Council hereby finds and determines: 

 

(a) The City has heretofore issued the Series 2002 Warrants pursuant to an Ordinance 

adopted by the Council on August 19, 2002, (the “2002 Ordinance”).  

(b) The City has heretofore issued the Series 2006 Warrants pursuant to an Ordinance 

adopted by the Council on September 5, 2006, (the “2006 Ordinance”).  

(c) The City is not in default on the payment of the principal of and the interest on the 

Series 2002 Warrants or the Series 2006 Warrants. 

(d) By a resolution previously adopted, the City has called all of the outstanding Series 

2002 Warrants coming due after February 1, 2012 for redemption. 

(e) By a resolution previously adopted, the City has called all of the outstanding Series 

2006 Warrants coming due after February 1, 2013 for redemption. 

(f) It is necessary, advisable and in the public interest that the City pay a portion of the 

costs of the acquisition, construction and installation of certain road and bridge 

improvements within the City (the “Capital Improvements”), which acquisition, 

construction and installation are expected cost approximately $3,000,000 and which 

shall include the following: 

Project 2012-B - Main Street - Holy Cross to Bayfront (18,247 L.F. - 

3.45 miles) - Mill and Overlay (1500 L.F. Base Repairs) 

 

Project 2012-C - Well Road Extension - Public Works Road to CR13 

106



8 

(1,400 L.F. - 0.265 miles) - New Road & Drainage 

 

Proposed Project 2012-D: Profit Drive Extension - Profit Drive to 

Johnson Road 

 

Proposed Project 2012-E: Johnson Road Extension to County Road 

13 - Bottom Crossing with Bridge 

 

Proposed Project 2013-A: Intersection of CR13 and Cr 64 - Round-

A-Bout 

 

Proposed Project 2013-B: Lake Forest - 1.1 Miles (Ridgewood Drive 

- North Route connecting 2a & 2b) & 0.1 Miles of Bay View Drive 

(1a to the bridge) Project includes base repairs, drainage, asphalt 

resurfacing, concrete valley gutter, median curbing & landscaping 

 

Proposed Project 2013-C: Johnson Road Extension - County Road 13 

to State Road 181  

 

Proposed Project 2013-D: Lake Forest - 2.1 Miles (Bayview & 

Ridgewood Drives - South Route connecting 2a & 2b) Project 

includes base repairs, drainage, asphalt resurfacing, concrete valley 

gutter, median curbing & landscaping 

 

Proposed Project 2013-E: Lake Forest - Bridge Replacement on 

Bayview at Lake Forest Lake - Severely Limited Bridge 

 

Proposed Project: Resurfacing of Pinehill Road - 7th Street to south 

of Roper Ln 

 

Proposed Project: Resurfacing of Douglas Road - US Hwy 90 to End 

of Pavement 

 

(g) Pursuant to the Warrant Authorizing Law the City is authorized to issue its warrants, 

in order to refund outstanding indebtedness of the City and to finance the Capital 

Improvements. 

(h) It is necessary, advisable and in the interest of the public that the City issue its 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2012 to refund the 

Series 2002 Warrants and the Series 2006 Warrants, to pay costs of the Capital 

Improvements and to pay costs of issuance and sale of such Warrants.  

107



9 

 ARTICLE II 

 

 AUTHORIZATION, DESCRIPTION, 

 EXECUTION, PAYMENT AND FORM OF THE WARRANTS 

 

Section 2.1  Authorization of the Warrants.  Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the 

constitution and laws of the State of Alabama, and for the purposes of refunding all of the Series 

2002 Warrants and Series 2006 Warrants and paying the costs of issuance thereof, there is hereby 

authorized to be issued by the City $13,495,000 in aggregate principal amount of its General 

Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2012.   

 

Section 2.2  Description of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be issued only in fully 

registered form, without coupons, shall be dated as of April 1, 2012, shall be issued in principal 

amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, and shall be numbered from R-1 upwards in the 

order of their issuance and delivery.  The Warrants shall bear interest from date (or in the case of a 

Warrant registered in the name of a Holder on or after August 1, 2012 from the Interest Payment 

Date next preceding the date of such registration or, if the date of such registration is an Interest 

Payment Date, from the date of registration) at the rates shown below (calculated on the basis of a 

360-day year of twelve 30-day months), payable on each February 1 and August 1 until payment of 

the principal amount thereof, beginning August 1, 2012 and, subject to the redemption provisions 

hereinafter set forth, shall mature on February 1 in the years and amounts as follows: 

 

Year of 

Maturity 

Maturing 

Amount 

Interest 

  Rate 

2013 $  385,000 2.000% 

2014     450,000 2.000% 

2015    460,000 2.000% 

2016    465,000 2.000% 

2017    470,000 2.250% 

2018    485,000 2.000% 

2019    495,000 2.000% 

2020    505,000 2.250% 

2021    515,000 2.500% 

2022    525,000 2.750% 

2023    545,000 3.000% 

2024    555,000 3.000% 

2025    570,000 3.250% 

2026    590,000 3.250% 

2027    605,000 3.250% 

2028    625,000 3.500% 

2029    655,000 3.500% 

2030    670,000 3.600% 

2031    700,000 4.000% 

2032    720,000 4.000% 

108



10 

2033    590,000 4.000% 

2034    615,000 4.000% 

2035    635,000 4.000% 

2036    665,000 4.000% 

 

Section 2.3  Execution of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be executed in the name of the 

City by the manual or facsimile signatures of the Mayor of the City and its City Clerk inscribed or 

printed or otherwise reproduced thereon (it being herein provided that a condition to the validity of 

each Warrant is the manual execution on behalf of the Bank of the Registration Certificate endorsed 

on each Warrant).  The Warrants shall be registered by the Treasurer of the City, in the records 

maintained by the Treasurer, as a claim against the City and the Warrant Fund, which registration 

shall be made simultaneously as to all the Warrants.  The certificate of registration on each of the 

Warrants shall be executed by the manual or facsimile signature of the Treasurer of the City.  The 

official seal of the City shall be impressed or printed or otherwise reproduced thereon and shall be 

attested by the aforementioned signature of the City Clerk. The said officers are hereby directed to 

cause the Warrants to be executed, sealed and registered in the manner provided by this section.  

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any assistant city clerk shall be empowered to 

execute any Warrant in the absence or unavailability of the City Clerk and any assistant treasurer of 

the City shall be empowered to execute any Warrant in the absence or unavailability of the Treasurer. 

 

Section 2.4  Places and Medium of Payment of the Warrants. Principal of and interest on 

the Warrants shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America.  The principal of the 

Warrants shall be payable at the designated corporate trust agency office of the Bank, upon 

presentation and surrender of the Warrants as the same become due and payable.  Interest on the 

Warrants shall be payable by check or draft mailed by the Bank to the lawful holders of the Warrants 

at the address shown on the registry books of the Bank pertaining to the Warrants as of the Record 

Date and shall be deemed timely made if so mailed on the Interest Payment Date (or if such Interest 

Payment Date is not a Business Day, on the Business Day next following such Interest Payment 

Date).   

 

Section 2.5  Forms of the Warrants and Related Certificates.  The Warrants, the 

certificate of registration thereof, the registration thereof as a claim against the Warrant Fund, and the 

form of assignment thereof shall be in substantially the following forms, with appropriate changes 

therein to conform to the applicable provisions hereof. 

109



11 

 

(Form of Series 2012 Warrant) 

 

[FORM OF CAPTION FOR WARRANTS HELD IN BOOK ENTRY FORM] 

 

Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository Trust 

Company, a New York corporation ("DTC"), to the City or its agent for registration of transfer, 

exchange, or payment, and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such 

other name as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to 

Cede & Co. or to such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY 

TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO 

ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an 

interest herein. 

 

No. R-________________        $_________________ 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT WARRANT 

SERIES 2012 

 

 

MATURITY DATE  CUSIP NUMBER INTEREST RATE 

   

 

 

THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, a municipal corporation in the State of Alabama (the 

"City"), for value received, hereby acknowledges that it is indebted in the principal sum of 

 

 _______________________________ DOLLARS 

 

and hereby directs the Treasurer of the City to pay such principal sum to 

 

 _______________________________________ 

 

or registered assigns, on the maturity date specified above or such earlier date as this Warrant may be 

called for redemption, and to pay (but solely out of the Warrant Fund) interest on such principal sum 

from the date hereof (or in the case of a Warrant registered in the name of the registered Holder 

hereof on or after August 1, 2012, as evidenced by the Certificate of Registration attached hereto, 

from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of such registration or, if the date of such 

registration is an Interest Payment Date, from the date of registration), until such principal sum shall 

become due and payable, at the per annum rate of interest specified above.  Interest shall be payable 

110



12 

on February 1 and August 1 in each year, beginning August 1, 2012 (each such date herein called an 

"Interest Payment Date"), and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year with 12 months of 30 

days each.  Interest shall be payable on overdue principal (and premium, if any) on this Warrant and 

(to the extent legally enforceable) on any overdue installment of interest on this Warrant at the rate 

borne hereby.   

 

The interest so payable, and punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment 

Date will, as provided in the Authorizing Ordinance hereinafter described, be paid to the person in 

whose name this Warrant is registered at the close of business on the 15th day of the month next 

preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

 

The Warrants are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical distribution 

of warrant certificates to be made except as provided in the Authorizing Ordinance (as hereinafter 

defined).  One warrant certificate, in the aggregate principal amount of each maturity of the 

Warrants, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of the DTC, is being issued and required 

to be deposited with DTC (or an authorized banking institution acceptable to DTC) and immobilized 

in its custody.  The book-entry system will evidence ownership of the Warrants, with transfers of 

ownership effected on the records of DTC and its participants pursuant to rules and procedures 

established by DTC and its participants.  Transfer of principal, interest and any redemption premium 

payments to beneficial owners of the Warrants by participants of DTC will be the responsibility of 

such participants and other nominees of such beneficial owners.  The City will not be responsible or 

liable for such transfers of payments or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records 

maintained by DTC, and to participants or persons acting through such participants.  While Cede & 

Co. is the registered owner of this Warrant, notwithstanding the provisions hereinabove contained, 

payments of principal, interest and any redemption premium on this Warrant will be made in 

accordance with the existing arrangements between the Paying Agent and DTC. 

 

Subject to the foregoing paragraph, payment of interest on this Warrant due on each Interest 

Payment Date shall be made by check or draft mailed by the Paying Agent to the person entitled 

thereto at his address appearing in the Warrant Register maintained with respect to the Warrants.  

Such payments of interest shall be deemed timely made if so mailed on the Interest Payment Date 

(or, if such Interest Payment Date is not a business day, on the business day next following such 

Interest Payment Date).  Payment of the principal of (and premium, if any, on) this Warrant and 

payment of accrued interest on this Warrant due upon redemption shall be made only upon surrender 

of this Warrant at the designated corporate trust agency office of the hereinafter described Bank.  

Upon the terms and conditions provided in the Authorizing Ordinance, the Holder of any Warrant or 

Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of not less than $100,000 may request that payment of 

interest on such Warrant or Warrants be made by wire transfer to an account of such Holder 

maintained at a bank in the continental United States or by any other method providing for same-day 

funds that is acceptable to the Bank.  All such payments shall be made in such coin or currency of the 

United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 

private debts. 

 

111



13 

This Warrant is one of the duly authorized issue of warrants of the City, aggregating 

$13,495,000 in principal amount, entitled "General Obligation Refunding and Improvement 

Warrants, Series 2012" (the "Warrants") and issued under and pursuant to an ordinance duly adopted 

by the governing body of the City (the "Authorizing Ordinance") and the constitution and laws of the 

State of Alabama, including particularly Section 4, Chapter 81, and Section 2, Chapter 47, of Title 11 

of the Code of Alabama, 1975.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the 

meanings assigned in the Authorizing Ordinance. 

 

The Authorizing Ordinance provides that The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A. (the "Bank"), will serve as Paying Agent and Registrar with respect to the Warrants unless and 

until a successor is appointed pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Authorizing Ordinance.  

For purposes of this Warrant and the Authorizing Ordinance, the principal office of the Bank shall 

mean the office where the Bank maintains its designated corporate trust agency office, as shall be 

designated by the Bank by written notice to the City and the Holders of the Warrants. 

 

The indebtedness evidenced by the Warrants is a general obligation of the City for the 

payment of which the full faith and credit of the City have been irrevocably pledged, pro rata and 

without preference or priority of one Warrant over another.  

 

Pursuant to the Authorizing Ordinance, the City has established a special fund for the 

payment of debt service on the Warrants (the "Warrant Fund") that will be held by the Bank.  The 

City has obligated itself to pay or cause to be paid into the Warrant Fund from the taxes, revenues or 

other funds of the City sums sufficient to provide for the payment of debt service on the Warrants as 

the same becomes due and payable. 

   

The Warrants maturing on February 1, 2036 will be subject to mandatory redemption prior to 

maturity (the particular Warrant or portions thereof to be selected by lot) at a redemption price equal 

to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, in the 

principal amount and on the dates set forth below (the 2036 amount to be paid rather than redeemed): 

 

   February 1   Principal  

   of the Year    Amount 

   2031   $700,000 

   2032   $720,000 

   2033   $590,000 

   2034   $615,000 

   2035   $635,000 

   2036   $665,000 

 

The Warrants, maturing on or after February 1, 2020 are subject to redemption prior to their 

maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on February 1, 2019, and on any date 

thereafter (in principal amounts of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof and if less than all of the 

Warrants are to be redeemed, those maturities or portions thereof to be called for redemption shall be 

selected by the City in its discretion, and if less than all the Warrants of a single maturity are to be 

112



14 

redeemed, those to be called for redemption shall be selected by lot), at and for a redemption price 

equal to 100% of the principal amount of each Warrant or portion thereof redeemed, plus accrued 

interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

 

 Written notice of the call for redemption of this Warrant (or portion of the principal thereof) 

shall be forwarded by registered or certified mail to the registered owner hereof, not less than thirty 

(30) or more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption.  In the event that less than all 

the outstanding principal of this Warrant is to be redeemed, the registered Holder hereof shall 

surrender this Warrant to the Bank in exchange for a new Warrant of like tenor herewith except in a 

principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion hereof.  Upon the giving of notice of redemption 

in accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance, the Warrants (or principal portions 

thereof) so called for redemption and prepayment shall become due and payable on the date specified 

in such notice, anything herein or in the Authorizing Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, and 

the Holders thereof shall then and there surrender them for payment, and all future interest on the 

Warrants (or principal portion thereof) so called for prepayment shall cease to accrue after the date 

specified in such notice, whether or not the Warrants are so presented. 

 

This Warrant is transferable by the registered holder hereof, in person or by authorized 

attorney, only on the books of the Bank, as Registrar and Transfer Agent of the City, and only upon 

surrender of this Warrant to such Registrar for cancellation, and upon any such transfer a new 

Warrant of like tenor herewith will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor, all as more 

particularly described in the Authorizing Ordinance.  Each Holder hereof, by receiving or accepting 

this Warrant, shall consent and agree and shall be estopped to deny that this Warrant may be 

transferred only in accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance.  Provision is also 

made in the Authorizing Ordinance for the exchange of Warrants for a like aggregate principal 

amount and in authorized denominations, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in 

the Authorizing Ordinance. 

 

The Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange this Warrant during the period of 

fifteen (15) days next preceding any interest payment date; and, in the event that this Warrant (or any 

principal portion hereof) is duly called for redemption and prepayment, the Registrar shall not be 

required to register or transfer this Warrant during the period of forty-five (45) days next preceding 

the date fixed for such redemption and prepayment. 

 

Registration, transfer and exchange of Warrants, other than to replace mutilated, lost, stolen 

or destroyed Warrants, shall be without expense to the Holder or transferee, but the Holder shall pay 

all taxes and other governmental charges, if any, required to be paid in connection with such transfer, 

registration or exchange. 

 

It has been ascertained and found, and it is hereby certified and recited, that all conditions, 

actions and things required by the constitution and laws of Alabama to exist, be performed or happen 

precedent to or in the issuance of this Warrant and the creation of the indebtedness evidenced and 

ordered paid hereby exist, have been performed and have happened, that such indebtedness has been 

registered as a claim against the Warrant Fund and is lawfully due without condition, and that the 

113



15 

indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by this Warrant, together with all other indebtedness of the 

City, was when incurred and is now within every debt and other limit prescribed by the constitution 

and laws of Alabama. 

 

Unless the Registration Certificate hereon has been executed by the Bank, as Registrar for the 

Warrants, by manual signature, this Warrant shall not be entitled to any benefit under the 

Authorizing Ordinance or be valid or obligatory for any purpose. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Warrant to be executed in its behalf by 

the Mayor and by the City Clerk of the City, each of whom have caused their facsimile signatures to 

be hereunto imprinted, has caused the official seal of the City to be imprinted hereon, and has caused 

this Warrant to be dated April ___________, 2012.   

 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

 

 

 

(SEAL)      By___________________________________ 

        Its Mayor 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

 

       By       

       City Clerk  

 

 

  * * * * * * * 

 

 (Form of Registration as Claim against Warrant Fund) 

 

I hereby certify that this Warrant has been registered by me as a claim against the Warrant 

Fund referred to in this Warrant.   

 

___________________________________ 

Treasurer of the 

City of Daphne, Alabama 

 

114



16 

[Form of Registration Certificate] 

 

This Warrant was registered in the name of the above-registered owner on the date 

hereinafter set forth. 

 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST  

COMPANY, N.A. 

 

 

By_____________________________________  

         Its Authorized Officer 

 

DATE OF REGISTRATION: ________________ 

 

   

(Form of Assignment) 

 

 

For value received ____________________________ hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) 

unto ______________________ the within Warrant and hereby irrevocably constitute(s) and 

appoint(s), attorney, with full power of substitution in the premises, to transfer the Bond on the 

books of the within mentioned Bank. 

 

Dated this the ____ day of ___________________, ____. 

 

____________________________________ 

NOTE: The signature on this assignment must 

correspond with the name of the registered 

owner as it appears on the face of the within 

Warrant in every particular, without alteration, 

enlargement or change whatsoever. 

Signature guaranteed: 

(Bank, Trust company or Firm) 

 

By: ___________________________     

          (Authorized Officer) 

 

Its Medallion Number _________________________________ 

Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution which is a member of a 

recognized signature guarantee program, i.e., Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program 

(STAMP), Stock Exchanges Medallion Program (SEMP), or New York Stock Exchange Medallion 

Signature Program (MSP)  

115



17 

 ARTICLE III 

 

 FURTHER PROVISIONS WITH RESPECT TO 

 WARRANTS 

 

 

Section 3.1  Home Office Payment Agreement.  Upon the written request of the Holder of 

any Warrant or Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of not less than $100,000, the Bank will 

make payment of interest due on such Warrant or Warrants upon any Interest Payment Date by wire 

transfer to an account of such Holder maintained at a bank in the continental United States or by any 

other method providing for payment in same-day funds that is acceptable to the Bank, provided that 

payment of the principal of and redemption premium (if any) on such Warrant or Warrants shall be 

made only upon surrender of such Warrant or Warrants to the Bank, as Paying Agent. 

 

Section 3.2  Interest After Payment Due Date.  The Warrants, any premiums thereon and, 

to the extent legally enforceable, overdue installments of interest thereon, shall bear interest after the 

maturity dates thereof or such earlier date as they may be called for redemption, until paid or until 

money sufficient for the payment thereof shall have been deposited for that purpose with the Bank, at 

the respective rates borne thereby.   

 

Any provision hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, Overdue Interest shall not be payable 

to the Warrant Holder solely by reason of such Warrant Holder having been the Holder on the 

Record Date next preceding the Interest Payment Date on which such interest became due and 

payable, but shall be payable by the Bank as follows: 

 

 (a) Not less than ten (10) days following receipt by the Bank of immediately 

available funds in an amount sufficient to enable the Bank to pay all Overdue Interest, the 

Bank shall fix an Overdue Interest Payment Date for payment of such Overdue Interest, 

which date shall be not more than twenty (20) days following the expiration of the ten-day 

period after receipt of funds by the Bank; 

 

 (b) Overdue Interest shall be paid by check or draft mailed by the Bank to the 

persons in whose names the Warrants were registered in the registry books of the Bank 

pertaining to the Warrants on the Overdue Interest Payment Date. 

 

Payment of Overdue Interest in the manner herein prescribed to the persons in whose names the 

Warrants were registered on the Overdue Interest Payment Date shall fully discharge and satisfy all 

liability for the same. 

 

Section 3.3  Temporary Certificates.  Pending the preparation of definitive Warrants the 

City may execute, and upon request of the City, the Bank shall register and deliver, temporary 

certificates which are printed, lithographed, typewritten, mimeographed or otherwise produced, in 

any authorized denomination, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Warrants  in lieu of which 

they are issued, but numbered from R-1 upwards, without other identification numbers, and with 

116



18 

such other appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as the officers 

executing such temporary certificates may determine, as evidenced by their execution of such 

temporary certificates. 

 

Any such temporary certificates shall be executed by the manual signatures of the appropriate 

officers of the City as required in Article II of this Ordinance and be executed and attested by the 

City Clerk.  All such temporary certificates shall have impressed thereon the seal of the City. 

 

If temporary Warrants are issued, the City will cause definitive Warrants to be prepared 

without unreasonable delay.  After the preparation of definitive Warrants, the temporary Warrants 

shall be exchangeable for definitive Warrants upon surrender of the temporary Warrants at the 

principal office of the Bank, without charge to the Holder.  Upon surrender for cancellation of any 

one or more temporary Warrants the City shall execute and the Bank shall authenticate and deliver in 

exchange therefor a like principal amount of definitive Warrants of like tenor, and in authorized 

denominations.  Until so exchanged, temporary Warrants shall in all respects be entitled to the 

security and benefits of this Ordinance. 

 

Section 3.4  Payments Due on a Day Other Than a Business Day.  If any payment on the 

Warrants is due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the first 

succeeding date which is a Business Day with the same effect as if made on the day such payment 

was due. 

 

Section 3.5  Book Entry System.  The City may from time to time enter into, and 

discontinue, an agreement with a “clearing agency” (securities depository) registered under Section 

17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (a “Securities Depository”), which is the 

owner of the Warrants, to establish procedures with respect to the Warrants, not inconsistent with the 

provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any such agreement may provide: 

 

(a) that such Securities Depository is not required to present a Warrant to the Paying 

Agent in order to receive  partial payment of principal; 

 

(b) that a legend shall appear on each Warrant so long as the Warrants are subject to such 

agreement; and 

 

(c) that different provisions for notice to such Securities Depository may be set forth 

therein. 

 

So long as an agreement with a Securities Depository is in effect, the City, the Bank and any 

paying agent or bond registrar shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the 

payment of principal, purchase price, premium, if any, or interest on the Warrants to the Beneficial 

Owners or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial 

ownership interests or any payments made to such Beneficial Owners. 

 

 

117



19 

 ARTICLE IV 

 

 GENERAL OBLIGATION; PROVISION 

 FOR PAYMENT OF OBLIGATIONS 

 

 

Section 4.1  General Obligation.  The indebtedness evidenced by the Warrants is and shall 

be a general obligation of the City and the full faith and credit of the City are hereby irrevocably 

pledged to the payment of the principal thereof and interest thereon.  

 

Section 4.2  Continued Levy of Taxes; Maintenance of Warrant Fund.  The City agrees 

that, so long as the principal of or interest on any of the Warrants remains unpaid, the City will 

annually levy and collect taxes, insofar as such taxes may be permitted by the present or any future 

provisions of the Constitution of Alabama, in such amounts as may be necessary to provide for the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrants.  The City further agrees that so long as the 

principal of or interest on any of the Warrants remains unpaid it will deposit in the Warrant Fund 

with respect to such Warrants, not later than the 25th day of the month next preceding an Interest 

Payment Date, an amount which, when added to the amounts then on deposit in such Warrant Fund, 

will equal the principal, interest and redemption premium (if any) to come due with respect to the 

Warrants on such Interest Payment Date. 

 

Section 4.3  Provision for Payment.  (a)  If the principal of and interest and redemption 

premium (if any) on the Warrants is paid in accordance with the terms thereof and this Ordinance, 

then all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the City to the Holders of such Warrants 

shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied.  In the event the 

Warrants are so paid the Bank shall pay to the City any surplus remaining in the Warrant Fund. 

 

(b)  Warrants shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been 

paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in subsection (a) of this Section 4.3 if 

 

(1) the City and the Bank (or another bank acting as trustee) enter into an 

appropriate trust agreement under which there shall be deposited, for 

payment or redemption of such Warrants and for payment of the 

interest to accrue thereon until maturity or redemption, and any 

redemption premium thereon, Government Obligations and cash or 

any combination of cash and Government Obligations which, together 

with the income to be derived from such, will produce monies 

sufficient to provide for the payment, redemption and retirement of 

such Warrants as and when the same become due; 

 

(2) the City shall have adopted all necessary proceedings providing for 

the redemption of any such Warrants that are required to be redeemed 

prior to their respective maturities and shall have instructed the Bank 

118



20 

or other trustee under the aforesaid trust agreement to provide such 

notices of redemption as are required under this Ordinance; 

 

(3) the City and the Bank shall have been furnished with an opinion of 

nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that the creation of 

any such trust will not result in subjecting to federal income taxation 

the interest on any of the Warrants that are to be paid in accordance 

with such trust; and 

 

(4) the City and the Bank shall have been furnished a certificate of a firm 

of certified public accountants satisfactory to the Bank stating that 

such trust will produce monies sufficient to provide for the full 

payment and retirement of such Warrants as and when the principal of 

and interest and redemption premium (if any) on such Warrants shall 

come due. 

 

 

 ARTICLE V 

 

 REDEMPTION PROVISIONS 

 

Section 5.1 Mandatory Redemption.  The Warrants having a stated maturity on February 1, 

2036, will be subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity (the particular Warrant or portions 

thereof to be selected by lot) at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, 

plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, in the principal amount and on the dates set forth 

below (the 2036 amount to be paid rather than redeemed): 

 

   February 1   Principal  

   of the Year    Amount 

   2031   $700,000 

   2032   $720,000 

   2033   $590,000 

   2034   $615,000 

   2035   $635,000 

   2036   $665,000 

 

Section 5.2 Optional Redemption.  The Warrants, maturing on or after February 1, 2020 are 

subject to redemption prior to their maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on 

February 1, 2019, and on any date thereafter (in principal amounts of $5,000 and any integral 

multiple thereof and if less than all of the Warrants are to be redeemed, those maturities or portions 

thereof to be called for redemption shall be selected by the City in its discretion, and if less than all 

the Warrants of a single maturity are to be redeemed, those to be called for redemption shall be 

selected by lot), at and for a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of each Warrant 

or portion thereof redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

119



21 

 

 Section 5.3 Procedure for Redemption; Resolution Authorizing Redemption.  Not more 

than sixty (60) or less than thirty (30) days prior to the Redemption Date, the City (or the Bank on 

behalf of the City) shall give, or cause to be given, written notice of such redemption and prepayment 

by United States mail, registered or certified, to the Holders of each of the Warrants to be redeemed, 

in whole or in part, at the address of such registered Holder as such address appears on the registry 

books of the Registrar, stating that the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) have been called for 

redemption and will become due and payable at the Redemption Price, on a specified Redemption 

Date and that all interest thereon will cease to accrue after the Redemption Date.  The holders of any 

of the Warrants to be redeemed may waive the requirements for notice with respect to the Warrants 

held by them without affecting the validity of the call for redemption of any other Warrants.  The 

City shall cause to be paid and made available at the office of the Bank, on or prior to the 

Redemption Date, the total Redemption Price of the Warrants (or portions thereof) so called for 

redemption on such date.  Out of the moneys so deposited with it, the Bank shall make provision for 

payment of the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) so called for redemption at the Redemption 

Price and on the Redemption Date. 

 

In addition to the foregoing notice, further notice shall be given by the City to all registered 

securities depositories and to one or more national information services that disseminate notices of 

redemption of obligations such as the Warrants.  No defect in the further notice required in this 

paragraph, and no failure to give all or any portion of such further notice shall in any manner defeat 

the effectiveness of a call for redemption if notice thereof is given as described in the first paragraph 

of this Section 5.3. 

 

Any optional redemption or prepayment of the Warrants or any portion thereof shall be 

effected upon a call by the City, as evidenced by a resolution of the Council, for redemption and 

prepayment of the Warrants to be so redeemed.  Any such resolution pertaining to the Warrants shall 

state (i) that the City is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of the 

Warrants to be redeemed or (ii) that all of the Warrants then outstanding are to be retired on the 

Redemption Date. 

 

Section 5.4  Result of Redemption of Warrants.  Upon compliance with the requirements 

set forth in this Article V, and if the City is not on the Redemption Date in default in the payment of 

the principal of or interest on the Warrants, the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) called for 

redemption shall become due and payable at the Redemption Price and on the Redemption Date 

specified in the notice provided for in Section 5.3, and the Holders thereof shall then and there 

surrender them for redemption; provided, however, that in the event that less than all of the 

outstanding principal of any Warrant is to be redeemed, the registered Holder thereof shall surrender 

the Warrant that is to be prepaid in part to the Bank in exchange, without expense to the Holder, for a 

new Warrant of like tenor except in a principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof.  All 

future interest on the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) so called for redemption shall cease to 

accrue after the Redemption Date. 

 

 

120



22 

ARTICLE VI 

 

 REGISTRATION AND TRANSFER OF THE WARRANTS 

 

Section 6.1  Registration and Transfer of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be registered 

as to both principal and interest.  Each Warrant shall have endorsed thereon a registration certificate 

substantially in the form provided in Section 2.5 hereof, and a condition to the validity of each 

Warrant shall be the manual execution of such certificate on behalf of the Bank.  The Bank is hereby 

appointed as the Registrar and Transfer Agent for the Warrants, and shall be authorized to keep at its 

designated corporate trust agency office, proper registry books in which it shall register the Warrants, 

as to both principal and interest, noting the registry on the Warrants so presented.  Such registration 

shall conclusively designate the Warrant Holder as the sole person to whom or on whose order the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrants so registered may be made.  After such 

registration no transfer of a Warrant so registered shall be valid unless it is presented at the said 

office with written power to transfer, properly stamped if required, in form and with guaranty of 

signature satisfactory to the Registrar, and such new registration noted thereon by the Registrar.  The 

Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange such Warrant during the period of fifteen (15) 

days next preceding any interest payment date.  If any Warrant shall be duly called for redemption 

pursuant to the provisions hereof, the Registrar shall not be required to transfer such Warrant during 

the period of sixty (60) days next preceding the date fixed for its redemption. 

 

Section 6.2  Exchange of Warrants.  Upon request of the Holder of any Warrant, the City 

shall execute, and the Bank shall register and deliver, upon surrender to the Bank of the Warrant or 

Warrants, in exchange therefor, a Warrant or Warrants of the same tenor in different authorized 

principal amounts (of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof), together aggregating the same principal 

amount as the then unpaid principal of the Warrant or Warrants so surrendered, all as may be 

requested by the persons surrendering such Warrant or Warrants. 

 

Section 6.3  Costs of Registration, Transfer and Exchange.  The registration, transfer and 

exchange of Warrants (other than pursuant to Section 6.5 hereof) shall be without expense to the 

Holder or transferee.  In every case involving a transfer, registration or exchange, such Holder shall 

pay all taxes and other governmental charges, if any, required to be paid in connection with such 

transfer, registration or exchange. 

 

Section 6.4  Effect of Registration.  The City, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent may 

deem and treat the person in whose name a Warrant is registered on the books of the Registrar as the 

absolute owner thereof for all purposes; they shall not be affected by notice to the contrary; and all 

payments by any of them to the person in whose name a Warrant is registered shall, to the extent of 

such payment, fully discharge all liability thereof. 

 

Section 6.5  Replacement of Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Warrants.  In the event 

that any Warrant is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the City may execute and deliver a new 

Warrant of like tenor as that mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed; provided, that (a) in the case of any 

such mutilated Warrant, such Warrant is first surrendered to the City and the Bank, and (b) in the 

121



23 

case of any such lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant, there is first furnished to the City and the Bank 

evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to each of them, together with indemnity 

satisfactory to each of them.  The City may charge the Holder with the expense of issuing any such 

new Warrant.   

 

Section 6.6 Provisions with Respect to Bank.  (a)  Appointment of Bank and Acceptance 

of Duties.  The Bank is herein designated and appointed and shall act as registrar, transfer agent and 

payment agent with respect to the Warrants.  By its acceptance of such duties hereunder, the Bank 

shall accept and agree to perform the duties required by this Ordinance, subject, however, to the 

following conditions: 

 

(i) The Bank shall undertake to perform such duties and only such duties as are 

specifically set forth in this Ordinance, and no implied covenants or obligations shall 

be read into this Ordinance against the Bank. 

(ii) In the absence of bad faith or negligence on its part, the Bank may conclusively rely, 

as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, 

upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Bank and conforming to the 

requirements of this Ordinance; provided, however, that in the case of any such 

certificates or opinions which by any provision hereof are specifically required to be 

furnished to the Bank, the Bank shall be under a duty to examine the same to 

determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Ordinance. 

(iii) The Bank shall not be answerable for other than its gross negligence or willful default 

and the Bank may act through its agents and attorneys with respect to any of its duties 

hereunder. 

(iv) No provision of this Ordinance shall be construed to relieve the Bank from liability 

for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct, except that no provision of this 

Ordinance shall require the Bank to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur 

any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the 

exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable grounds for 

believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or 

liability is not reasonably assured to it. 

(v) The Bank may consult counsel on any matters connected herewith and shall not be 

answerable for any action taken or failure to take any action in good faith on the 

advice of counsel, provided that its action or inaction is not contrary to any express 

provision hereof. 

(vi) The Bank need not recognize a Holder of a Warrant as such without the satisfactory 

establishment of his title to such Warrant. 

(vii) Any action taken by the Bank at the request of and with the consent of the Holder of 

a Warrant will bind all subsequent Holders of the same Warrant and any Warrant 

122



24 

issued hereunder in lieu thereof. 

(viii) The Bank may be a Holder or a pledgee of any of the Warrants as if not Bank 

hereunder. 

(ix) The Bank shall not be liable for the proper application of any moneys other than 

those that may be paid to or deposited with it. 

(x) The Bank shall not be liable to pay or allow interest on any moneys to be held by it 

under this Ordinance or otherwise to invest any such moneys, except as specifically 

required by this Ordinance or as may be required by law or other written agreement 

between the City and the Bank. 

(xi) The Bank may make any investments permitted or required hereby through its own 

investment department, and any Eligible Investments issued or held by it hereunder 

shall be deemed investments and not deposits. 

(xii) The Bank shall, upon reasonable written request, inform the City of the amount at the 

time on deposit in any of the special funds or accounts created hereunder. 

(xiii) The recitals of fact herein and in the Warrants are statements by the City and not by 

the Bank, and the Bank is in no way responsible for the validity or security of the 

Warrants or the validity of the security afforded hereby. 

 (b) Resignation by Bank.  The Bank and any successor Bank may resign and be 

discharged from the duties under this Ordinance by causing written notice specifying the effective 

date, postage prepaid, to the City and to every Holder of a Warrant.  Unless the effective date of the 

Bank’s resignation shall coincide with the appointment of a successor Bank by the Holders of the 

Warrants as herein provided, such date shall be at least sixty (60) days after the date on which notice 

to the City and the Holders of the Warrants shall have been mailed. 

 

 (c) Removal of Bank.  The Bank may be removed at any time by an instrument or 

concurrent instruments in writing delivered to the Bank and to the City and signed by the Holders of 

a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Warrants then outstanding. 

 

 (d) Appointment of Successor Bank; Interim Bank.  In case the Bank shall resign, be 

removed, be dissolved, be in course of dissolution of liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of 

acting hereunder, or in case it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers or of a 

receiver appointed by a court, a successor may be appointed by Holders of a majority in aggregate 

principal amount of Warrants then outstanding through an instrument or concurrent instruments in 

writing signed by such Holders.   In case of any such resignation or event which causes the Bank to 

be incapable of acting, the City, by an instrument signed by the Mayor, shall appoint an interim Bank 

to serve until a successor Bank shall be appointed by the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal 

amount of the Warrants, as provided above.  Whenever necessary to avoid or fill a vacancy in the 

office of Bank, the City will appoint an interim Bank in order that there shall at all times be a Bank 

123



25 

hereunder.  Any interim Bank so appointed by the City shall immediately and without further act be 

superseded by the Bank appointed by the holders of the Warrants. 

 

 The City shall cause notice of the appointment of an interim Bank, in the event that such an 

appointment is made, to be forwarded by United States registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, 

to every Holder of a Warrant.  When the appointment of a successor Bank, as selected by the Holders 

of a majority in principal amount of the Warrants then outstanding, becomes effective, the City shall 

also cause notice of that fact to be given in the manner provided above for the notice required to be 

given upon the appointment of an interim Bank.  Every interim or successor Bank appointed 

pursuant to this Section shall be a trust company or bank which is qualified to perform all duties of 

the Bank under this Ordinance and which has, at the time of its acceptance of such appointment, 

capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $25,000,000, if there be such an institution 

willing, qualified and able to accept appointment as Bank upon reasonable or customary terms. 

 

 (e) Concerning any Successor Bank.  Every successor Bank shall execute, acknowledge 

and deliver to its predecessor and also to the City an instrument in writing accepting its appointment 

as Bank hereunder, and thereupon such successor Bank, without any further act, deed or conveyance, 

shall become fully vested with all the rights, powers and duties of its predecessor.  Such predecessor 

shall nevertheless, on the written request of the City or such successor Bank, execute and deliver an 

instrument transferring to such successor Bank all rights, powers and interests of such predecessor 

hereunder; and every predecessor Bank shall deliver all securities and moneys held by it as Bank 

hereunder to its successor. 

 

 (f) Merger or Consolidation of Bank.  Any corporation into which the bank may be 

merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger or 

consolidation to which the Bank shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to all or substantially 

all of the corporate trust business of the Bank, shall be the successor of the Bank hereunder, without 

the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.  In case 

the registration certificates with respect to any Warrants shall have been executed by the Bank then 

in office, any successor by merger or consolidation to such Bank may adopt the registration of such 

Warrants and deliver such Warrants with the same effect as if such successor Bank had itself 

registered such Warrants.  

 

 (g) Compensation of Bank.  Subject to the provisions of any separate agreement with the 

Bank, the City shall pay to the Bank from time to time reasonable compensation for all services 

rendered by it under this Ordinance, including its services as registrar and paying agent for the 

Warrants, and also all its reasonable expenses, charges, counsel fees, costs and expenses and other 

disbursements and those of its attorneys, agents and employees, incurred in and about the 

performance of its duties hereunder.   

 

 (h) Extraordinary Expenses.  If the Bank is required by a governmental agency or court 

proceeding initiated by a third party to undertake efforts beyond that which is set forth herein but 

related thereto (other than due to the Bank’s negligence or willful misconduct), the Bank shall notify 

the City of the same in writing and the City shall promptly pay the Bank for such extraordinary fees, 

124



26 

costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and expenses) reasonably and 

necessarily incurred in connection therewith. 

 

 ARTICLE VII 

 

 EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE WARRANTS; 

 APPROVAL OF SALE; USE OF PROCEEDS THEREFROM 

 

Section 7.1  Authority to Execute and Deliver the Warrants.  The Mayor of the City, the 

City Clerk and the Treasurer are hereby authorized and directed to cause the Warrants to be 

executed, sealed, attested and registered as a claim against the City and the Warrant Fund as 

provided herein and delivered to the purchaser thereof upon payment to the City of the sale price 

therefor. 

 

Section 7.2  Application of Proceeds of Sale; Additional Sums.  The gross proceeds 

derived from the sale of the Warrants shall be used solely for the following purposes: 

 

(i) The amount of $19,849.03, which represents accrued interest 

on the Warrants to the date of their delivery, shall be 

deposited in the Warrant Fund and applied for payment of the 

interest coming due on the next Interest Payment Date;  

 

(ii) The amount of $65,000.00 shall be deposited with Regions 

Bank in the Issuance Expense Fund and applied for the 

purposes described in Section 8.1. 

 

(iii) The amount of $2,140,087.87 shall be paid to the Escrow 

Agent and deposited into the 2002 Escrow Fund created under 

the Escrow Trust Agreement to provide for the refunding of 

the Series 2002 Warrants. 

 

(iv) The amount of $9,395,322 shall be paid to the Escrow Agent 

and deposited into the 2006 Escrow Fund created under the 

Escrow Trust Agreement to provide for the refunding of the 

Series 2006 Warrants. 

 

(v) The remaining amount of proceeds shall be deposited with 

Regions Bank, as depository, in the Capital Improvements 

Account and applied for the purposes described in Section 

8.2. 

 

 

125



27 

ARTICLE VIII 

CREATION OF ISSUANCE EXPENSE FUND, 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT ACCOUNTAND WARRANT FUND;  

COVENANTS WITH RESPECT TO WARRANT PROCEEDS 

 

 Section 8.1  Issuance Expense Account.  There is hereby created a special fund of the City 

designated the “Series 2012 Warrant Issuance Expense Account” (herein called the “Issuance 

Expense Account”) which shall be maintained until the costs and expenses incurred by the City in 

connection with the issuance and sale of the Warrants shall be paid in full.  Regions Bank shall be 

the depository for the Issuance Expense Account. 

 

 Simultaneously with the issuance and delivery of the Warrants, the City shall deposit or cause 

to be deposited into the Issuance Expense Account, out of proceeds derived from the sale of the 

Warrants, an amount equal to the amount required for payment of the expenses of issuing the 

Warrants.  The City will apply the moneys deposited into the Issuance Expense Account solely for 

payment of the expenses of issuing the Warrants, as and when such expenses become due and 

payable.   

 

 The Mayor, the Finance Director or any other person designated in writing by the Mayor or 

the Finance Director, are hereby authorized and directed to cause the said expenses to be paid, as 

promptly as may be feasible following the closing of the sale of the Warrants, and to make 

withdrawals from the Issuance Expense Account for the said purpose.  In the event that the moneys 

deposited into or transferred into the Issuance Expense Fund are not sufficient to pay all expenses of 

issuing the Warrants, the Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to pay, out of any funds of the City 

available therefor, the balance of the expenses of issuing the Warrants.  Any amount remaining in the 

Issuance Expense Account after the City certifies that all issuance expenses have been paid in full, 

but in no event later than sixty days after the date of delivery of the Warrants, shall be transferred and 

deposited into the Capital Improvements Account. 

 

Section 8.2  Capital Improvements Account.  There is hereby created a special account the 

full name of which shall be the "2012 Capital Improvements Account."  The 2012 Capital 

Improvements Account shall be maintained as a separate account until the moneys in said account 

shall have been fully expended as hereinafter provided.  Except as hereinafter provided, the City will 

apply the moneys in the 2012 Capital Improvements Account solely for payment of the costs of the 

Capital Improvements described in Section 1.3(f) hereof.  Regions Bank shall be the depository for 

the 2011 Capital Improvements Account.  

  

 The Mayor, the Finance Director or any other person designated in writing by the 

Mayor or the Finance Director, are hereby authorized and directed to make withdrawals from the 

2012 Capital Improvements Account for the purpose of paying the costs of the Capital Improvements 

described in Section 1.3(f) hereof, and to make any transfer that may be made pursuant to the 

succeeding sentence of this Section. The City shall have the right to supplement or revise the list of 

Capital Improvements described in Section 1.3(f) hereof to be paid from proceeds of the Warrants by 

resolution or ordinance; provided, that no revisions or addition to the Capital Improvements as herein 

126



28 

approved shall adversely affect the excludability of interest on the Warrant for federal income tax 

purposes. 

 

Warrant Fund.  There is hereby created a special account, the full name of 

which shall be the "City of Daphne Warrant Fund, 2012."  The Warrant Fund shall be maintained as 

a separate fund until payment in full of the principal of and interest on the Warrants.  The Bank is 

hereby designated as the custodian of the Warrant Fund. 

 

On or before the 25th day of the month next preceding any Interest Payment Date, the City 

shall deposit into the Warrant Fund an amount which, when added to the amounts already on deposit 

therein, will be sufficient to provide for the payment of all principal of and interest and redemption 

premium on the Warrants coming due on such Interest Payment Date.  Monies deposited in the 

Warrant Fund shall be used by the Bank for the payment of principal, interest and redemption 

premium (if any) on, the Warrants, and for no other purpose until the payment in full of the 

Warrants. 

 

Section 8.4  Investment of Moneys in Accounts.  Pending the expenditure of moneys in the 

Warrant Fund for any other purpose, the City shall have the privilege at any time and from time to 

time of investing and reinvesting, or causing to be invested and reinvested, all or part of the moneys 

at any time on deposit in such account, in Government Obligations or in money market funds of the 

Bank consisting of Government Obligations.  Pending the expenditure of moneys in the Issuance 

Expense Account and the Capital Improvements Account for any other purpose, the City shall have 

the privilege at any time and from time to time of investing and reinvesting, or causing to be invested 

and reinvested, all or part of the moneys at any time on deposit in such account in Government 

Obligations, money market funds of the Bank consisting of Government Obligations, or certificates 

of deposit issued by banks or trust companies having at the time of the deposit combined capital, 

surplus and undivided profits of not less than $5,000,000.   

 

 The Bank is hereby directed to invest and reinvest such amounts promptly upon receipt of, 

and in accordance with, the written instructions of the City. The Bank may conclusively rely upon 

the City’s written instructions as to both the suitability and legality of the directed investments.  In 

the absence of written investment instructions from the City, the Bank shall not be responsible or 

liable for keeping the moneys held by it hereunder fully invested.  The Bank shall not be liable for 

any losses from such directed investments. 

 

Section 8.5  Security for Funds.  Any money on deposit in any fund or account or held by 

the Bank pursuant to this Ordinance shall, unless invested as provided herein or secured by the 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (or any successor agency of the United States of America) or 

under the State of Alabama Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Program, be secured for the 

benefit of the City and the Holders by holding on deposit as collateral security direct obligations of 

the United States of America or obligations unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of 

America, or other marketable securities eligible as security for the deposit of public funds under the 

regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency, having a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) 

not less than the amount of money being secured. 

127



29 

 

Section 8.6  Covenants with Respect to Exemption of Interest from Federal Income 

Taxation; Non-Arbitrage Covenant.  The City acknowledges and agrees that the Warrants are to be 

issued in compliance with the conditions necessary for the interest income thereon to be exempt from 

federal income taxation pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Code.  The City hereby covenants 

and agrees as follows: 

 

(a) It will not use or apply the proceeds of the Warrants or direct 

the investment of moneys in any funds or accounts established 

or maintained with respect to the Warrants in such manner as 

to constitute any Warrant an "arbitrage bond" within the 

meaning of Section 148 of the Code; 

 

(b) It will make timely rebate payments to the United States of 

America with respect to any "excess" arbitrage profits as 

required by Section 148(f) of the Code; 

 

(c) It will maintain all records required by Section 148(f) of the 

Code and the applicable regulations  thereunder and shall 

furnish such data or information regarding compliance with 

Section 148(f) of the Code as any Holder shall reasonably 

request in writing, which records shall be furnished to any 

Holder upon its request; 

 

(d) It will, within 60 days after a written request of the Bank 

therefor, furnish to the Bank and to any Holder a certificate by 

an independent certified public accountant or opinion of 

nationally recognized bond counsel stating that as of such 

date it had made all rebate payments to the United States of 

America necessary to prevent the Warrants from becoming 

"arbitrage bonds" under Section 148(f) of the Code; 

 

(e) It will comply with the terms of the City’s Tax Certificate and 

Agreement with regard to use of proceeds of the Warrants in 

any private business use; payment of the Warrants shall not be 

secured by, or derived from, property used in a private 

business use; proceeds of the Warrants shall not be used to 

make or finance loans to persons other than governmental 

units; and proceeds of the Warrants shall not be used in any 

manner that would cause the Warrants to be or become 

private activity bonds, as defined in Section 141 of the Code; 

 

128



30 

(f) It will not cause or permit the Warrants to be federally 

guaranteed, within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the 

Code; and 

 

(g) It will not in any other way cause or permit the proceeds of 

the Warrants to be used in a manner which would cause the 

interest on the Warrants to lose the exemption from federal 

income taxation as provided under the Code and the 

applicable regulations thereunder and will comply with all 

applicable provisions of the Code (including, without 

limitation, the provisions relating to post-issuance actions 

affecting tax exemption) to the extent necessary for interest 

on the Warrants to be excludable from gross income of the 

holders thereof. 

 

(h) It has in place procedures providing for compliance with each 

of the matters described above and for keeping records with 

respect to such compliance. 

 

 

 ARTICLE IX 

 

APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; AUTHORIZATION OF CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT; AUTHORIZATION OF DISCLOSURE 

DISSEMINATION AGREEMENT; APPROVAL OF ESCROW TRUST AGREEMENT; 

APPROVAL OF SALE; 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

Section 9.1  Approval of Official Statement.  An official statement with respect to the 

Warrants, in substantially the form presented at the meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted, is 

hereby approved, and the Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to sign an official 

statement on behalf of the City in substantially the form herein approved, with such changes therein 

and additions thereto as shall be necessary to conform to the provisions of this Ordinance authorizing 

the Warrants and such other changes and additions as the Mayor of the City shall deem necessary and 

appropriate.  The preparation and distribution of such official statement on behalf of the City by 

Gardnyr Michael Capital, Inc. is hereby ratified and approved and such Official Statement is hereby 

deemed final within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange 

Commission.  The final official statement shall be in substantially the same form as the official 

statement herein approved, with such additions, insertions, omissions or other changes as may be 

approved by the Mayor of the City and the execution of the final official statement by the Mayor of 

the City as hereby authorized shall be conclusive evidence of any such approval.   

 

Section 9.2 Authorization of Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  Upon delivery of the 

Warrants to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and Finance Director of the City are hereby authorized 

129



31 

and directed to execute and deliver for and on behalf of the City, the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at which this Ordinance 

is adopted.  The City hereby covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all of the 

provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Ordinance, failure of the City to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not be 

considered a default hereunder or with respect to the Warrants; provided, however, any Holder or 

Beneficial Owner may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking 

mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the City to comply with its obligations 

under this Section 9.4. For purposes of this Section, "Beneficial Owner" means any person which (a) 

has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, 

any Warrants (including persons holding Warrants through nominees, depositories or other 

intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of any Warrants for federal income tax purposes. 

 

Section 9.3 Authorization of Disclosure Dissemination Agreement. Upon the delivery of 

the Warrants to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and City Clerk of the City are hereby authorized 

and directed to execute and deliver for an on behalf of the City, the Disclosure Dissemination 

Agreement in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at which this Ordinance 

is adopted. 

 

Section 9.4 Authorization of Escrow Trust Agreements. Upon the delivery of the Warrants 

to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and City Clerk of the City are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver for an on behalf of the City, the 2002 Escrow Trust Agreement and the 2006 

Escrow Trust Agreement, each in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at 

which this Ordinance is adopted.  The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as the 

Escrow Trustee under the 2002 Escrow Trust Agreement and the 2006 Escrow Trust Agreement, is 

authorized and directed to cause the money’s held by it thereunder to be invested in the manner 

specified therein. 

 

Section 9.5 Sale of Warrants. The City does hereby approve (i) the sale of the Warrants 

to Gardnyr Michael Capital, Inc. at a purchase price of $13,169,582.13, which amount reflects an 

underwriter’s discount of $121,455.00 and original issue discount of $223,811.90, plus accrued 

interest from April 1, 2012 to the date of delivery, and (ii) the execution of the Purchase Agreement 

dated March 29, 2012 between the City and Gardnyr Michael Capital, Inc. in the form presented at 

the meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted. 

 

Section 9.6  Further Acts.  From and after the execution and delivery of the documents 

hereinabove authorized, the proper officers, directors, agents and employees of the City are hereby 

authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents 

as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of said documents as executed and 

are further authorized to take any and all further actions and execute and deliver any and all other 

documents as may be necessary in the issuance of the Warrants and in the delivery of the Official 

Statement or as contemplated by this Ordinance.   

 

130



32 

The Mayor and City Clerk are authorized and directed to prepare and furnish to the purchaser 

of the Warrants, when the Warrants are issued, certified copies of all the proceedings and records of 

the Council relating to the Warrants, and such other affidavits and certificates as may be required to 

show the facts relating to the legality and marketability of the Warrants as such facts appear from the 

books and records in such officers' custody and control or as otherwise known to them. 

 

Section 9.7  Contractual Provisions.  The provisions of this Ordinance shall constitute a 

contract between the City and the Holders at any time of the Warrants.  Upon payment in full of the 

principal of and interest on the Warrants the obligations of the City hereunder shall cease with 

respect thereto. 

 

Section 9.8  Warrants Payable at Par.  Each bank at which the Warrants may at any time 

be payable, by acceptance of its duties as Paying Agent therefor, shall be construed to have agreed 

thereby with the Holders of the Warrants that all remittances made by it on the Warrants shall be 

made in bankable funds at par and without deduction for exchange, fees or expenses. 

 

Section 9.9  Severability.  The various provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to 

be severable.  In the event any provisions hereof shall be held invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any other portion of this Ordinance.   

 

Section 9.10  Repeal of Conflicting Provisions.  All resolutions, orders or parts thereof in 

conflict with this Ordinance are to the extent of such conflict are hereby repealed. 

 

 

After discussion, Councilmember ____________ moved that the foregoing ordinance and 

order be adopted and spread upon the minutes of this meeting, which motion was seconded by 

Councilmember ___________, and, on roll call the following vote was registered: 

 

YEAS NAYS 

 

 

The Chairman thereupon announced that the said ordinance had been carried by unanimous 

vote of the Council present. 

* * * * * * 

131



33 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the meeting was, upon motion 

duly made, seconded and unanimously carried, adjourned. 

 

_________________________________________ 

Cathy S. Barnette, Council President   

   

 

_________________________________________ 

Bailey, Yelding, Jr., Mayor 

 

[SEAL] 

      ATTEST: 

 

              

      David L. Cohen, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

            

132



 
 34 

 CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

 

 

I, David L. Cohen, City Clerk of the City of Daphne, Alabama, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that 

the foregoing pages of typewritten material constitute excerpts from the minutes of a regular meeting 

of the City Council of Daphne, Alabama, held on April 2, 2012, pertaining to the City’s General 

Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2012, which meeting was called and 

assembled and was open to the public and at which a quorum was present and acting throughout, and 

that the original of said minutes appears of record in the minute books of the City Council of 

Daphne, Alabama, which are in my custody and control. 

 

Given under my hand and the seal of the City of Daphne, Alabama, this ___ day of April, 

2012. 

 

 

 

 

[SEAL]     _____________________________________________ 

City Clerk of the 

City of Daphne, Alabama 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1307963_5. 

133



 

 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

 

NEW ISSUE                                                                                Ratings:  Standard & Poor’s: AA 

          (See "RATING" herein) 
 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, assuming continuing compliance by the City with certain conditions imposed by the Internal Revenue 

Code of 1986, referred to herein under "Tax Matters," the interest income on the Series 2012 Warrants (i) will be excludable from gross income 

of the recipients thereof for federal income tax purposes, and (ii) will not be an item of tax preference for purposes of the alternative minimum 

tax on individuals and corporations.  However, see "Tax Matters" herein for certain other federal tax consequences to the recipients of the 

interest income on the Series 2012 Warrants.  Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that the interest income on the Series 2012 Warrants is, 

under existing statutes and regulations, exempt from Alabama income taxation. 

 

$13,495,000 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement  Warrants 

Series 2012 
 

Dated:  April 1, 2012                                                                                                                                  Due: February 1, as shown below 

 

Interest on the Series 2012 Warrants is payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1 in each year, commencing August 1, 2012.  

The Series 2012 Warrants when issued will be issued in the name of and held by Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, 

New York, New York (“DTC”).  DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2012 Warrants.  Purchases of beneficial interest in the Series 

2012 Warrants will be made in book-entry form, in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  Except as herein described, 

purchasers will not receive certificates representing their beneficial interests in the Series 2012 Warrants.  So long as DTC or its nominee, Cede & 

Co. is the registered owner of the Series 2012 Warrants, payments of principal and interest will be made directly to DTC or to such nominee.  

Disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants is the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the beneficial owners is 

the responsibility of Direct Participants and Indirect Participants of DTC, all as more fully described herein. 

 

The Series 2012 Warrants are not subject to optional and mandatory redemption prior to maturity as more fully described herein. 

 
Year of 

Maturity 

Amount 

Maturing 

Interest 

Rate 

 

 Yield 

 

Cusip 

 Year of 

Maturity 

Amount 

Maturing 

Interest 

Rate 

 

Yield 

 

Cusip 

2013 $  385,000    2.000% 0.780% 237019GC2  2022 $ 525,000    2.750%    2.980% 237019GM0 

2014     450,000    2.000 1.060 237019GD0  2023    545,000 3.000 3.140 237019GN8 

2015    460,000    2.000 1.340 237019GE8  2024    555,000 3.000 3.260 237019GP3 

2016    465,000    2.000 1.640 237019GF5  2025    570,000 3.250 3.390 237019GQ1 

2017    470,000    2.250 1.830 237019GG3  2026    590,000 3.250 3.500 237019GR9 

2018    485,000    2.000 2.150 237019GH1  2027    605,000 3.250 3.590 237019GS7 

2019    495,000    2.000 2.310 237019GJ7  2028    625,000 3.500 3.670 237019GT5 

2020    505,000    2.250 2.530 237019GK4  2029    655,000 3.500 3.790 237019GU2 

2021    515,000    2.500 2.740 237019GL2  2030    670,000 3.600 3.850 237019GV0 

4.000%  $3,925,000  Term Warrants due February 1, 2036 to Yield 4.150%; Cusip 237019HB3 

 

(Plus accrued interest from April 1, 2012) 

 

The Series 2012 Warrants are offered when, as and if issued by the City of Daphne, Alabama, at the offering price set forth above, 

subject to the approval of the validity thereof by Hand Arendall LLC, Mobile, Alabama, Bond Counsel.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon 

for the City by its counsel, Ross, Jordan & Gray, P.C., Mobile, Alabama.  It is expected that the Series 2012 Warrants in definitive form will be 

available for delivery through DTC in New York, New York on or about April 18, 2012. 

 

Gardnyr Michael Capital, Inc. 
Date: March 29, 2012 

 

134



  

 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

 

 

Mayor 

 

Bailey Yelding, Jr. 

 

 

 City Council Members 

 

Tommie Conaway 

Cathy Barnette 

John L. Lake 

Kelly D. Reese 

Ron Scott 

Derek Boulware 

August Palumbo 

 

 

 City Clerk 

 

 David L. Cohen 

 

 

 City Treasurer 

  

 Kimberly M. Briley 

 

 

 Counsel to the City 

 

 Ross, Jordan & Gray, P.C. 

 Mobile, Alabama 

 

 

 Bond Counsel 

  

 Hand Arendall LLC 

 Mobile, Alabama 

 

 

 Underwriter 

 

 Gardnyr Michael Capital, Inc. 

 Mobile, Alabama 

135



i 

In connection with the sale of the Series 2012 Warrants herein described, no person has been 

authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Official Statement 

and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been 

authorized by the City of Daphne, Alabama. The information in this Official Statement has been 

obtained from the City and other sources which are considered dependable and which are customarily 

relied upon in the preparation of similar official statements, but such information is not guaranteed as to 

accuracy or completeness. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of 

an offer to buy any of such Series 2012 Warrants, nor shall there be any sale of such Series 2012 

Warrants by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, 

solicitation or sale. The information herein is subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of 

this Official Statement nor any sale of the Series 2012 Warrants shall under any circumstances create any 

implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City of Daphne, Alabama, since the date 

hereof. 

 

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2012 WARRANTS, THE 

UNDERWRITER MAY OVER ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR 

MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SERIES 2012 WARRANTS AT A LEVEL ABOVE 

THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF 

COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

                                                     

 

 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                                                     

 PAGE 

INTRODUCTION............................................................................................................................................ 1 
PURPOSE OF THE SERIES 2012 WARRANTS ........................................................................................... 1 
THE SERIES 2012 WARRANTS ................................................................................................................... 3 
SECURITY ...................................................................................................................................................... 7 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ....................................................................................................................... 8 
CITY DEBT ................................................................................................................................................... 10 
CITY REVENUES ........................................................................................................................................ 12 
THE CITY ..................................................................................................................................................... 16 
LITIGATION ................................................................................................................................................. 21 
TAX EXEMPTION ....................................................................................................................................... 21 
UNDERWRITING ......................................................................................................................................... 23 
RATING ........................................................................................................................................................ 23 
LEGAL MATTERS ....................................................................................................................................... 23 
VERIFICATION OF ARITHMETICAL COMPUTATIONS ....................................................................... 23 
INFORMATION IN THE APPENDICES ..................................................................................................... 24 
MISCELLANEOUS ...................................................................................................................................... 24 
 

 

Appendix A - Proposed Form of Legal Opinion 

Appendix B - Audited Financial Statements of the City 

 

  

 

136



 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

 

$13,495,000 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement  Warrants 

Series 2012 

 

 INTRODUCTION 

 

This Official Statement provides certain information in connection with the sale and issuance by the City 

of Daphne, Alabama (the "City") of $13,495,000 principal amount of its General Obligation Refunding and 

Improvement Warrants, Series 2012, dated April 1, 2012 (the "Series 2012 Warrants").  The Series 2012 

Warrants will be issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of Alabama and an ordinance (the 

"Warrant Ordinance") adopted by the governing body of the City on April 2, 2012.  The Warrant Ordinance will 

constitute a contract with the holders of the Series 2012 Warrants. 

 

The information contained in this Official Statement does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive. 

All references herein to, or summaries of, the Warrant Ordinance or any contract, indenture, ordinance, 

resolution or other document or official act related to the Series 2012 Warrants are qualified in their entirety by 

the exact terms of such documents or official acts which are items of public record available from the City. All 

references herein to, or summaries of, the Series 2012 Warrants are qualified in their entirety by the definitive 

form thereof and the information with respect thereto included in the Warrant Ordinance. 

 

PURPOSE OF THE SERIES 2012 WARRANTS 

 

The City has determined to issue the Series 2012 Warrants for the purposes of (i) financing the costs of 

various road construction and improvement projects for the City, (ii) refunding the City’s General Obligation 

Warrants, Series 2002 (the “Series 2002 Warrants”) and the City’s Limited Obligation Special Tax Warrants, 

Series 2006 (the “Series 2006 Warrants”) and (iii) paying the expenses of issuing the Series 2012 Warrants. 

 

Refunding Plan 

  

 Simultaneously with the delivery of the Series 2012 Warrants the City will enter into a trust agreement 

(the “2002 Escrow Trust Agreement”) requiring the City to deposit with The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 

Company, N.A., as Trustee (the “2002 Escrow Trustee”), certain monies out of the principal proceeds to be 

derived by the City from the sale of the Series 2012 Warrants.  All of such monies will be deposited in the trust 

fund established under the 2002 Escrow Trust Agreement (the “2002 Escrow Trust Fund”) and appliced for the 

purposes and on the dates as hereinbelow described.  Such obligations, together with any remaining cash, will be 

held by the 2002 Escrow Trustee for the benefit of the holders of the Series 2002 Warrants, issued in the 

aggregate principal amount of $2,660,000 and currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 

$2,110,000.  The Series 2002 Warrants are payable as to principal and interest on February 1 and August 1, and 

are subject to redemption prior to maturity on or after February 1, 2012 at a redemption price of 100% of the 

principal amount to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  The Series 2002 Warrants 

maturing after February 1, 2012 will be called for redemption and prepaid from the 2002 Escrow Trust Fund on 

May 18, 2012 (the “2002 Call Date”). 
 

137



2 

 The City will enter into a trust agreement (the “2006 Escrow Trust Agreement”) requiring the City to 

deposit with The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (the “2006 Escrow Trustee”), 

certain monies out of the principal proceeds to be derived by the City from the sale of the Series 2012 Warrants.  

Substantially all of such monies are required to be invested by the 2006 Escrow Trustee in United States 

Treasury obligations, the principal of and interest on which will mature on dates and in amounts sufficient to 

allow the 2006 Escrow Trustee to apply monies in the trust fund established under the 2006 Escrow Trust 

Agreement (the “2006 Escrow Trust Fund”) for the purposes and on the dates as hereinbelow described.  Such 

obligations, together with any remaining cash, will be held by the 2006 Escrow Trustee for the benefit of the 

holders of the Series 2006 Warrants, issued in the aggregate principal amount of $9,090,000 and currently 

outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $8,755,000.  The Series 2006 Warrants are payable as to 

principal and interest on February 1 and August 1, and are subject to redemption prior to maturity on February 1, 

2013 (the “2006 Call Date”) at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed plus accrued 

interest to the date of redemption.  The Series 2006 Warrants maturing after the 2006 Call Date will be called for 

redemption and prepaid from the 2006 Escrow Trust Fund on the 2006 Call Date. 
  

Improvements 

 

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2012 Warrants will be used to pay a portion of the costs of road 

and bridge improvements, including resurfacing, repair and new construction of roads, bridges and related 

drainage facilities and rights of way for the City, which projects are expected to have a cost of at least 

$3,000,000 (the “2012 Improvements”). 
 

Estimated Sources and Use of Proceeds 

 

The estimated sources and uses of funds for this financing are as follows: 

 

 Sources of Funds: 

  Par Amount $13,495,000.00 

  Accrued Interest 19,849.03 

  Transfer from Series 2006 Debt Service Funds 508,675.79 

  Transfer from Series 2006 Debt Service Reserve 950,000.00 

  Less Original Issue Discount (223,811.90) 

   

    Total 

                                                                                                            

 

 Uses of Funds: 

  Deposit into 2012 Improvements Fund $  3,007,998.50 

  Deposit into 2002 Escrow Trust Fund 2,140,087.81 

  Deposit into 2006 Escrow Trust Fund 9,395,322.58 

  Underwriting Discount 121,455.00 

  Deposit into Warrant Fund 19,849.03 

  Issuance Expense 65,000.00 

 

   Total 

 

 

138



3 

 THE SERIES 2012 WARRANTS 

 

Description of the Series 2012 Warrants 

 

The Series 2012 Warrants will be fully registered warrants issued initially in the denomination of $5,000 

or any integral multiple thereof and subject to exchange as hereinafter provided. The Series 2012 Warrants will 

be dated April 1, 2012, will bear interest payable on August 1, 2012, and semiannually on each February 1 and 

August 1 thereafter at the rates set forth on the cover hereof and will mature on the dates and in the principal 

amounts set forth on the cover hereof.  The principal of and the interest on Series 2012 Warrant will bear interest 

from its due date until paid at the rate of interest borne by the principal of such Series 2012 Warrant prior to 

maturity. 

 

The principal of and the premium, if any, on the Series 2012 Warrants will be payable, with par 

clearance guaranteed, at the designated corporate trust agency office of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 

Company, N.A. in Birmingham, Alabama, the registrar, transfer agent and paying agent for the Series 2012 

Warrants (said bank acting in such capacity, together with any successor thereto, being herein called the 

"Registrar” or “Paying Agent").  The interest payable on the Series 2012 Warrants on each interest payment date 

will be paid by check or draft mailed by the Registrar to the registered holders thereof on such interest payment 

date.  If any interest payment date shall fall on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday on which the Registrar is not 

open for business, such payment shall be made on the next following business day. 

 

Book-Entry System 

 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Series 

2012 Warrants.  The Series 2012 Warrants will be issued as fully-registered Series 2012 Warrants in the name of 

Cede & Co., (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized 

representative of DTC.  One fully-registered Warrant certificate will be issued for each maturity of each series of 

the Series 2012 Warrants and will be deposited with DTC. 

 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the 

New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 

member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform 

Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. 

equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that 

DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement 

among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic 

computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need 

for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities 

brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations.  DTC is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding 

company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of 

which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the 

DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks and 

trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct 

Participant, either directly or indirectly (the “Indirect Participants”).  DTC has Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. 

 The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More 

information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

 

139

http://www.dtcc.com/


4 

Purchases of Series 2012 Warrants under the DTC system must be made by and through Direct 

Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2012 Warrants on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest 

of each actual purchaser of each Series 2012 Warrant (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the 

Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of 

their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of 

their transactions, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participants 

through which the Beneficial Owners entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 

2012 Warrants are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of DTC Participants acting on behalf of 

Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in 

Series 2012 Warrants, except in the event that the use of the book-entry system for the Series 2012 Warrants is 

discontinued. 

 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2012 Warrants deposited by Direct Participants with DTC 

are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested 

by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Series 2012 Warrants with DTC and their registration in 

the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no 

knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2012 Warrants; DTC’s records reflect only the identity 

of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2012 Warrants are credited, which may or may not be 

the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their 

holdings on behalf of their customers.  

 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants 

to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be 

governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 

from time to time. 

 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Series 2012 Warrants are being 

redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the beneficial interest of each Direct Participant 

in such Series 2012 Warrants to be redeemed. 

 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Series 

2012 Warrants unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures.  Under its usual 

procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the issuer as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus 

Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 

2012 Warrants are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

 

Principal and premium, if any, and interest payments on the Series 2012 Warrants will be made to Cede 

& Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to 

credit Direct Participants’ accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detailed information from 

the City or the Paying Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s 

records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary 

practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street 

name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC (nor its nominee), the City or the 

Paying Agent, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment 

of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 

representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City and the Paying Agent; disbursement of such payments to 

Direct Participants is the responsibility of DTC; and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners is 

the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

 

140



5 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Series 2012 

Warrants at any time by giving reasonable notice to the City or the Paying Agent.  Under such circumstances, in 

the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, Warrant certificates are required to be printed and 

delivered.  In addition, the City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC 

(or a successor securities depository).  In that event, Warrant certificates will be printed and delivered as 

described below. 

 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from 

sources (including DTC) that the City believes to be reliable, but the City and the Underwriter take no 

responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 

 

None of the City, the Underwriter or the Paying Agent has any responsibility or liability for any aspect 

of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial interests in any global Warrant or for 

maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial interests. 

 

Discontinuation of Book-Entry System 

 

In the event the book-entry system is discontinued, Warrant certificates in fully registered form would be 

delivered to, and registered in the names of, the Direct Participants, or such other persons as such Direct 

Participants may specify (which may be the Indirect Participants or Beneficial Owners), in denominations of 

$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The ownership of the Series 2012 Warrants so delivered (and any Series 

2012 Warrants thereafter delivered upon a transfer or exchange described below) would be registered in the 

registration books to be kept by the Paying Agent as the Warrant registrar for the City.  Except as provided in the 

Warrant Ordinance, the City and the Paying Agent are entitled to treat the registered owners of such Series 2012 

Warrants, as their names appear in such registration books as of the appropriate dates, as the owners thereof for 

all purposes described herein and in the Warrant Ordinance.  See "Certain Provisions Respecting Registration 

and Transfer of the Series 2012 Warrants" below. 

 

Certain Provisions Respecting Registration and Transfer of the Series 2012 Warrants 

 

The Series 2012 Warrants shall be registered as to both principal and interest and may be transferred 

only on the registry books of the Paying Agent pertaining to the Series 2012 Warrants.  No transfer of the Series 

2012 Warrants shall be permitted except upon presentation and surrender of such Warrant at the office of the 

Paying Agent with written power to transfer signed by the registered owner thereof in person or by a duly 

authorized attorney in form and with guaranty of signature satisfactory to the Paying Agent.  The Paying Agent 

will not be required to register or transfer any Warrant during the period of fifteen (15) calendar days next 

preceding any interest payment date and shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Warrant during the 

period of sixty (60) calendar days next preceding the date for redemption or prepayment of any Warrant.  The 

holder of one or more of the Series 2012 Warrants may, upon request, and upon the surrender to the Paying 

Agent of such Warrant, exchange such Warrant for Series 2012 Warrants of other authorized denominations of 

the same series, maturity and interest rate and together aggregating the same principal amount as the Series 2012 

Warrant so surrendered.  Any registration, transfer and exchange of Series 2012 Warrants shall be without 

expense to the holder thereof, except that the holder shall pay all taxes and other governmental charges, if any, 

required to be paid in connection with such transfer, registration or exchange.  The holder of any Warrant will be 

required to pay any expenses incurred in connection with the replacement of a mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed 

Warrant. 

 

The Warrant Ordinance provides that each holder of the Series 2012 Warrants, by receiving or accepting 

the Series 2012 Warrants, consents and agrees and is estopped to deny that, insofar as the City and the Paying 

Agent are concerned, the Series 2012 Warrants may be transferred only in accordance with the provisions of the 

141



6 

Warrant Ordinance.  The Warrant Ordinance also provides that each transferee of the Series 2012 Warrants takes 

them subject to all principal and interest payments in fact made with respect to the Series 2012 Warrants. 

 

No transfer of any Series 2012 Warrant will be valid except upon presentation and surrender of such 

Series 2012 Warrant at the principal corporate trust office of the Registrar with written power to transfer signed 

by the registered owner in person or by duly authorized attorney. Upon the proper transfer of any Series 2012 

Warrant, the City will execute a new Series 2012 Warrant, and the Registrar will deliver to the transferee such 

new Series 2012 Warrant registered in the name of such transferee. 

 

Any holder of one or more of the Series 2012 Warrants may, upon the surrender thereof to the Registrar, 

exchange such Series 2012 Warrant or Warrants for other Series 2012 Warrants, in the denomination of $5,000 

or any integral multiple thereof, of the same maturity and interest rate and together aggregating the same 

principal amount as the Series 2012 Warrant or Warrants so surrendered. 

 

Redemption Prior to Maturity 

 

The Series 2012 Warrants will be subject to redemption and payment prior to their maturity as follows: 

 

Optional Redemption. The Series 2012 Warrants, maturing on or after February 1, 2020 are subject to 

redemption prior to their maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on February 1, 2019, and on any 

date thereafter (in principal amounts of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof and if less than all of the 

Warrants are to be redeemed, those maturities or portions thereof to be called for redemption shall be selected by 

the City in its discretion, and if less than all the Warrants of a single maturity are to be redeemed, those to be 

called for redemption shall be selected by lot), at and for a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal 

amount of each Warrant or portion thereof redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

 

Notice of any such redemption is required to be given, not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date 

fixed for redemption, by United States registered or certified mail to the registered holder of any Series 2012 

Warrant called for redemption. 

 

Scheduled Mandatory Redemption.  The Series 2012 Warrants having a stated maturity on February 1, 

2036, will be subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity (the particular Warrant or portions thereof to be 

selected by lot) at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the 

date of redemption, in the principal amount and on the dates set forth below (the 2036 amount to be paid rather 

than redeemed): 

 

February 1 of the Year Principal Amount Required to be Redeemed 

2031 $700,000 

2032 $720,000 

2033 $590,000 

2034 $615,000 

2035 $635,000 

   

 In the absence of prior optional redemption, Series 2012 Warrants in the aggregate principal amount 

of $665,000 will remain to be paid at their stated maturity on February 1, 2036. 

 

 

142



7 

 

 SECURITY 

 

General 

 

The Series 2012 Warrants will be general obligations of the City for the payment of which the full faith 

and credit of the City will be irrevocably pledged. Revenues of the City legally available for payment of the 

principal of and the interest and premium (if any) on the Series 2012 Warrants will include ad valorem taxes, 

gross receipts taxes, privilege license taxes and other taxes, and other general revenues of the City.  

 

Application of Tax Revenues and Creation of Funds 

 

General.  The Warrant Ordinance will provide for the maintenance of a special fund designated the 

“2011 City of Daphne Warrant Fund” (the “Warrant Fund”).  The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A. will be designated in the Warrant Ordinance as the depository, custodian and disbursing agent for the 

Warrant Fund.   

 

The Warrant Fund. On or before the 25th day of each January and July commencing in July, 2012, the 

City will be required to transfer to the Warrant Fund an amount equal to the sum of (i) the semiannual 

installment of interest that will mature with respect to the Series 2012 Warrants on the then next succeeding 

interest payment date, plus (ii) the principal, if any, of the Series 2012 Warrants that will mature on the then next 

succeeding interest payment date. Moneys on deposit in the Warrant Fund are to be used for the payment of the 

principal of and interest on the Series 2012 Warrants. 

 

Investment of Funds. The City may, at its option, from time to time cause any or all of the moneys on 

deposit in the Warrant Fund to be invested in Federal Obligations (as hereinafter defined) having a specified 

maturity, or being redeemable at the option of the holder, prior to the date when it is anticipated by the City that 

such moneys will be needed.  In the event of any such investment of moneys in the Warrant Fund, the Federal 

Obligations in which such investment shall be made, together with all income therefrom, shall become a part of 

said fund and shall be held by the Paying Agent to the same extent as if they were moneys on deposit therein. As 

used in this Official Statement, the term "Federal Obligations" means securities that are direct obligations of the 

United States of America or that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America as to the 

payment of both principal and interest (including money market funds investing solely in such obligations of the 

United States of America). 

 

Certain Matters Affecting Creditor’s Rights 

 

Chapter 9 of the United States Bankruptcy Code permits political subdivisions and public agencies or 

instrumentalities such as the City that are insolvent or unable to meet their debts to file petitions for relief in the 

federal bankruptcy court if authorized by state law.  While the matter is not entirely free from doubt, prospective 

purchasers of the Series 2012 Warrants should assume that existing Alabama statutes presently authorize the 

City to file petitions for relief under the Bankruptcy Code. 

 

Bankruptcy proceedings by the City could have significant adverse effects on holders of the Series 2012 

Warrants, including (a) delay in the enforcement of their remedies, (b) subordination of their claims to the claims 

of those supplying goods and services to the City after the initiation of bankruptcy proceedings and to the 

administrative expenses of bankruptcy proceedings and (c) imposition without their consent of a reorganization 

plan reducing or delaying payment on the Series 2012 Warrants.  The Bankruptcy Code contains provisions 

intended to ensure that, in any reorganization plan not accepted by the holders of at least a majority in aggregate 

principal amount of the Series 2012 Warrants, the holders of the Series 2012 Warrants will have the benefit of 

143



8 

their original claim on the City’s revenues or the "indubitable equivalent." The effect of these and other new 

provisions of the Bankruptcy Code cannot be predicted with any certainty and may be significantly affected by 

judicial interpretation or future action of the Congress of the United States or the Legislature of Alabama. 

 

In addition, the remedies available to the holders of the Series 2012 Warrants, as well as any other 

creditors of the City, through suit, mandamus proceeding or other legal process are subject to the provisions of 

existing Alabama law exempting from levy and sale under any process, judgment or decree all property (real or 

personal) belonging to cities in Alabama and used for municipal purposes, and may be subject to, among other 

things, 

 

(a) the law-imposed obligation of the City to pay, prior to the payment of debt service on 

its obligations, the expenses of providing necessary governmental services, and 

 

(b) the provisions of other statutes that may hereafter be enacted by the Congress of the 

United States or the Legislature of Alabama extending the time for payment of 

municipal indebtedness or imposing other constraints upon the enforcement of rights of 

holders of municipal securities. 

 

 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

 

General 

 

Pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 (the "Rule") promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 

City has covenanted for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Series 2012 Warrants to provide 

certain financial information and operating data relating to the City by not later than 180 days following the end 

of the City's fiscal year, which currently would be March 31 (the "Annual Report"), commencing with the report 

for the 2012 Fiscal Year, and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events, if material, as 

described below.  The Annual Report and notices of material events will be filed by the City with the Electronic 

Municipal Market Access System (“EMMA”) maintained by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and 

with a State of Alabama State Repository, if any is established.   

 

Annual Reports 

 

Each Annual Report will include an annual financial statement of the City and certain annual financial 

information and operating data of the kind set forth in the Official Statement under the captions “CITY DEBT,” 

and “CITY REVENUE.” 

 

Material Events Notices 

 

Notices of the following events will be provided in a timely manner not in excess of 10 days after the 

occurrence of the event: 

 

 Principal and interest payment delinquencies 

 Non-payment related defaults, if material 

 Unscheduled draws on any reserve funds reflecting financial difficulties 

 Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties 

 Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform 

 Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 

determinations of taxability.  Notice of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701 TEB) or other material 

144



9 

notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Series 2012 Warrants, or other 

material events affecting the tax status of the Series 2012 Warrants 

 Modifications to rights of Warrantholders, if material 

 Bond calls, if material, and tender offers 

 Defeasances 

 Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Series 2012 Warrants, if 

material 

 Rating changes 

 Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event with respect to the City 

 The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale of 

all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than in the ordinary course of business, the 

entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive 

agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material 

 Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of the name of a trustee, if 

material 

 Notice of a failure of the City to provide required Annual Report, on or before the date 

specified in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement 

 

The City may from time to time choose to provide notice of the occurrence of certain other events, in 

addition to those listed above if, in the judgment of the City, such other events are material with respect to the 

Series 2012 Warrants, but the City does not undertake to commit to provide any such notice of the occurrence of 

any material event except those events listed above. 

 

Other Provisions of Continuing Disclosure Agreement 

 

The City reserves the right to modify from time to time the specific types of information provided or the 

format of the presentation of such information, to the extent necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the City; 

provided, that the City agrees that any such modification will be done in a manner consistent with the Rule.  The 

City reserves the right to terminate its obligations to provide annual financial information and notices of material 

events, as set forth above, if and when the City no longer remains an obligated person with respect to the Series 

2012 Warrants within the meaning of the Rule.  The City acknowledges that its undertaking, pursuant to the 

Rule described under this heading is intended to be for the benefit of beneficial owners of the Series 2012 

Warrants and that the City's obligations may be enforced by any beneficial owner of the Series 2012 Warrants; 

provided, that the beneficial owner's right to enforce the provisions of this undertaking shall be limited to a right 

to obtain specific enforcement of the City's obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement and any 

failure by the City to comply with the provisions of such undertaking shall not be in event of default with respect 

to the Series 2012 Warrants. 

 

 In order to provide certain continuing disclosure in compliance with the Rule, the City has entered into a 

Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement (the “Disclosure Dissemination Agreement”) with Digital 

Assurance Certification, L.L.C. (“DAC”), under which the City has designated DAC as Disclosure 

Dissemination Agent. 

 

DAC has only the duties specifically set forth in the Disclosure Dissemination Agreement.  DAC’s 

obligation to deliver the information at the times and with the contents described in the Disclosure Dissemination 

Agreement is limited to the extent the City has provided such information to DAC as required by this Disclosure 

Dissemination Agreement.  DAC has no duty with respect to the content of any disclosures or notice made 

pursuant to the terms of the Disclosure Dissemination Agreement.  DAC has no duty or obligation to review or 

verify any information in any Annual Report, audited financial statement, Material Event Notice or voluntary 

145



10 

report, or any other information, disclosures or notices provided to it by the City and shall not be deemed to be 

acting in any fiduciary capacity for the City, the Holders of the Warrants or any other party.  DAC has no 

responsibility for the City’s failure to report to DAC a Notice Event or a duty to determine the materiality 

thereof.  DAC shall have no duty to determine or liability for failing to determine whether the City has complied 

with the Disclosure Dissemination Agreement.  DAC may conclusively rely upon certifications of the City at all 

times. 

Compliance with Disclosure Obligations 

 

 The City is in compliance with all of its disclosure obligations under the Rule and has timely filed, 

through DAC, each of its required Annual Reports. 

 

 

CITY DEBT 

 

Existing and Proposed Debt 

 

Following the issuance of the Series 2012 Warrants, the City will have no other outstanding long-term 

indebtedness except for those listed below and obligations for the payment of which an irrevocable escrow fund 

has been established. 

 

 

Issue 

Principal 

Amount Outstanding 

 

   

2002 Limited Obligation Revenue Warrants*                $4,736,116  

2003 Refunding Warrants                  3,350,000  

2006 General Obligation Refunding 

         and Improvement Warrants** 

               20,480,000  

2010 General Obligation Refunding Warrants                  1,930,000  

TOTAL              $30,496,116  

 _______________________ 

 *Payments are made solely from business sales tax revenues. 

 **$3,686,400 (18%) is for sewer improvements and does not apply towards the City’s general obligation debt 

 limit 

 ***Payments are made solely from revenues from an economic development project. 

 

The City does not plan to authorize or issue any indebtedness other than the Series 2012 Warrants within 

the next 90 days.  The City does not have any additional indebtedness authorized but unissued. 

 

Subordinate Entity Debt   

 

As of September 30, 2010, the Utilities Board of the City of Daphne, a public corporation which was 

incorporated by the City and whose five-member board of directors has outstanding principal indebtedness 

including State Revolving fund loans in the amount of $21,795,000. 

146



11 

 

Debt Service Requirements* 

 

 The following table presents the debt service requirements on general obligation warrants of the City 

after the issuance of the Series 2012 Warrants. 

 

 
 

Fiscal 

Year 

Principal of the 

Series 2012 

Warrants 

Interest on the 

Series 2012 

Warrants 

Debt Service of 

the Series 2010 

Warrants 

Debt Service of the 

Series 2006 

Warrants 

Debt Service of 

the Series 2003 

Warrants 

 

Total Debt 

Service 

2012  140,110.83 239,787.50 1,936,140.00 551,651.26 2,867,689.59 

2013     385,000.00 416,482.50  375,887.50 1,932,450.00 553,321.26 3,663,141.26 

2014     450,000.00 408,132.50 374,187.50 1,936,387.50 554,415.00 3,723,122.50 

2015    460,000.00 399,032.50 370,687.50 1,935,787.50 551,015.00 3,716,522.50 

2016    465,000.00 389,782.50 368,787.50 1,933,387.50 
 

552,015.00 3,708,972.50 

2017    470,000.00 379,845.00 375,037.50 1,934,187.50 554,195.00 3,713,265.00 

2018    485,000.00 369,707.50  1,732,987.50 550,140.00 3,137,835.00 

2019    495,000.00 359,907.50  1,734,962.50  2,589,870.00 

2020    505,000.00 349,276.25  1,414,812.50  2,269,088.75 

2021    515,000.00 337,157.50  1,416,137.50 
 

 2,268,295.00 

2022    525,000.00 323,501.25  1,414,575.00  2,263,076.25 

2023    545,000.00 308,107.50  1,415,025.00  2,268,132.50 

2024    555,000.00 291,607.50  1,413,275.00  2,259,882.50 

2025    570,000.00 274,020.00  1,414,450.00  2,258,470.00 

2026    590,000.00 255,170.00  1,413,375.00  2,258,545.00 

2027    605,000.00 235,751.25  1,415,050.00  2,255,801.25 

2028    625,000.00 214,982.50  1,414,250.00  2,254,232.50 

2029    655,000.00 192,582.50  1,415,975.00  2,263,557.50 

2030    670,000.00 169,060.00    839,060.00 

2031    700,000.00 143,000.00    843,000.00 

2032    720,000.00 114,600.00    834,600.00 

2033    590,000.00 88,400.00    678,400.00 

2034    615,000.00 64,300.00    679,300.00 

2035    635,000.00 39,300.00    674,300.00 

2036    665,000.00 13,300.00    678,300.00 

 

 

 

Constitutional Limitation on Debt of City 

 

The Constitution of Alabama provides that cities having a population of six thousand or more may not 

become indebted in an amount in excess of 20% of the assessed valuation of the property situated therein (the 

“General Debt Limit”).  The Constitution exempts from this General Debt Limit several categories of 

indebtedness, including (i) temporary loans, to be paid in one year, made in anticipation of the collection of taxes 

and not exceeding one-forth of the general revenues; (ii) bonds or other obligations issued for the purpose of 

acquiring, providing or constructing schoolhouses, water works and sewers; and (iii) obligations incurred and 

bonds issued for street or sidewalk improvements where the cost of the same, in whole or in part, is to be 

assessed against the property abutting said improvements.  The Constitution also provides for a separate debt 

limit for certain economic development projects issued pursuant to Section 94.01 of the constitution (the 

“Economic Development Debt Limit”) and not against the General Debt Limit.  The City has outstanding 

$3,686,400 of obligations issued for Sewer Projects and thus not chargeable to its debt limit, and $8,755,000 

issued pursuant to Section 94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama and thus not chargeable against the General 

Debt Limit. 

147



12 

 

 The General Debt Limit based on assessed value of real and personal property of $371,632,820 as of 

October 1, 2011 is computed as follows: 

 

  General & Limited Obligation Debt   $42,193,271 

  Debt Chargeable to Debt Limit     28,984,716 

  Debt Limit (20% of Assessed Value)    74,326,564 

  Debt Margin       45,341,848 

  Debt to Assessed Valuation          11.35% 

  2010 Population of City            21,570 

  Total Debt Per Capita              1,956 

 

 

 CITY REVENUES 

 

General 

 

The City operates on a fiscal year basis beginning October 1 and ending September 30.  The City 

prepares a detailed budget for each fiscal year that is approved by the City Council and all departments are 

required by City policy to operate within their respective budgets.  There is no constitutional requirement that the 

budget be balanced each year, but the City has, as a matter of policy, required a balanced budget. 

 

The significant accounting practices for City finances are summarized in the audited financial statements 

of the City. A copy of the audited financial statements of the City for the fiscal year which ended September 30, 

2010, is included as Appendix B to this Official Statement including statements of revenues, expenditures and 

changes in fund balances. The General Fund finances substantially all current operations. These financial 

statements should be reviewed by prospective purchasers of the Series 2012 Warrants. 

 

Summary of Primary Sources of Revenues 

 

The following table sets forth the primary sources of General Fund revenues, as well as primary 

categories of expenditures, for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006 through 2010: 

 

 

 

 

 

[Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally] 

 

 

 

 

148



13 149



14 

Sales Tax 

 

The City levies a privilege license tax at the rate of 2.5% pursuant to Ordinance No. 1977-3, as amended 

by Ordinance No. 1989-13, on persons, corporations and other engaging in the business of selling at retail 

tangible personal property or conducting places of amusement (the said tax being measured by the gross 

proceeds or gross receipts of the said business) to the extent that the said tax is levied with respect to business 

conducted within the corporate limits of the City.  Such privilege license tax is herein referred to as the “Sales 

Tax.” 

Collections of the Sales Tax have been as follows for the past five fiscal years: 

 

Fiscal Year        Collection 

2010-11 

2009-10 

2008-09 

(unaudited) 10,782,655 

10,698,807 

10,039,547 

2007-08  11,279,350 

2006-07  11,871,233 

 

Business License Fee 

 

The City levies, under general authority granted by the Legislature of the State of Alabama, a business 

license fee on the privilege of engaging in certain businesses and professions within the corporate limits of the 

City.  Businesses and professions are charged a fee based on gross receipts of the prior year at which certain 

businesses located within the corporate limits of the City, including banks and insurance companies are charged 

and references to the Code of Alabama highlight those licensing rates.  The business license fee is collected by 

the City’s Revenue Department. 

 

Collections of the City’s Business License Fee have been as follows for the last five fiscal years 

indicated: 

 

Fiscal Year          Collection 

2010-11 

2009-10 

2008-09 

(unaudited) 1,460,700 

1,400,404 

1,484,967 

2007-08  1,592,999 

2006-07  1,464,404 

 

Property Taxes 

 

The levy and collection of ad valorem taxes in Alabama are subject to the provisions of the Alabama 

Constitution as amended, which, among other things, fix the percentage of market value at which property can 

be assessed for taxation, limit the rates of municipal taxation that can be levied against property and provide a 

maximum value for the aggregate ad valorem taxes that can be levied by all taxing authorities on any property in 

any tax year. 

 

The amount of any specific ad valorem tax in Alabama is computed by multiplying the tax rate by the 

assessed value of the taxable property. The assessed value of taxable property is a specified percentage (ranging 

from 10% to 20%) of its fair and reasonable market value or, in certain circumstances, its current use value. Ad 

valorem tax rates are generally stated in terms of mills (one-thousandth of a dollar) per dollar of assessed value. 

Thus, for any given ad valorem tax, each mill in the rate of taxation represents a tax on property equal to 

one-tenth of one percent of the assessed value of such property. 

150



15 

The total assessed values of taxable real and personal property (including motor vehicles) located in the 

City as assessed for ad valorem taxation (net of exemptions) for the tax year which ended on September 30, 2011 

was $371,632,820. 

 

The following taxes (expressed in mills) are currently levied on property situated in the City. 

 

 Mills 

State of Alabama 6.5 

City of Daphne 15.0 

Baldwin County:  

General 5.0 

Schools 9.0 

Roads and Bridges 4.0 

Health Tax  .5 

Special School District 3.0 

  

Total State, County and City  43 

 

The following table sets forth the total real property assessed valuation within the corporate limits of the 

City, the ad valorem taxes levied and the percentage collected: 

 

Tax Year Assessed Valuation Tax Due Tax Collected Collection % 

2007 337,349,660 4,428,080 4,150,336 94% 

2008 367,779,680 4,901,382 4,652,958 95% 

2009 386,612,620 5,180,609 5,122,194 99% 

2010 355,490,780 4,763,573 4,368,732 92% 

2011 371,632,820 4,698,350 4,512,972 96% 

 

 

Property taxes are generally collected and received by municipalities by February 1 of each fiscal year.  

For purposes of ad valorem taxation, taxes are due and payable in the fiscal year following the fiscal year in 

which the assessment and levy is made.  Ad valorem taxes on taxable properties (except motor vehicles) in the 

City are required to be collected by the Tax Collector of Baldwin County.  Ad valorem taxes on motor vehicles 

in the City are collected by the Judge of Probate of Baldwin County.   

 

Payment in Lieu of Taxes   

 

Certain entities that are otherwise exempt from tax have agreed to make payments in lieu of taxes.  Such 

payments have been as follows for the last five fiscal years indicated: 

 

Fiscal Year 
 

Amount Received 

2010-11 (unaudited) 2,269,687 

2009-10  1,952,460 

2008-09  1,959,785 

2007-08  1,773,316 

2006-07  1,613,859 

 

151



16 

Other Taxes   

 

The City also levies a beer tax which revenues were $271,644 for 2009-10 and for 2010-11 (unaudited) 

were 270,167, a gasoline tax which revenues were $180,932 for 2009-10 and for 2010-11 (unaudited) were 

$174,525, a liquor tax which revenues were $60,431 for 2009-10  and for 2010-11 (unaudited) were $61,321, a 

tobacco tax which revenues were $1,333,473 for 2009-10 and for 2010-11 (unaudited) were $129,419 and other 

miscellaneous taxes. 

 

 THE CITY 

 

Geographic Information 

 

The City of Daphne (the "City") is located on the eastern shore of Mobile Bay in Baldwin County 

directly across from the City of Mobile, Alabama.  The City is approximately 15 miles east of Mobile, Alabama, 

and 45 miles west of Pensacola, Florida.  The City is primarily a residential area with its residents working on 

the eastern shore of Baldwin County or in the Mobile or Pensacola areas. 

 

Population 

The following table sets forth population statistics for the State of Alabama, Baldwin County, and the 

City for the years indicated. 

 1990 2000 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 

        

State of Alabama 4,040,587 4,447,100 4,587,564 4,626,595 4,661,900 4,708,708 4,729,656 

Baldwin County 98,280 141,358 168,516 172,815 174,439 179,831 182,664 

City of Daphne 11,978 16,581 18,880 18,925 19,093 19,542 21,570 
____________________ 

Sources:  U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census, Population Estimates Division. 

 

Governmental Organization and Administration 

 

The City is a municipal corporation incorporated under the Constitution and the laws of the State of 

Alabama.  The City is governed by an elected Mayor and a City Council. The Mayor, elected at large for a 

four-year term, is the chief administrative officer of the City and is responsible for the daily management of the 

City and supervision of its employees. The members of the City Council serve part-time and along with the 

Mayor are responsible for adopting all legislative ordinances and setting the policies of the City, including the 

appropriation of money. The City Clerk and City Treasurer are each appointed for a four-year term by the City 

Council and are responsible for, managing the official records of the City and managing the fiscal affairs of the 

City, respectively.   

 

The City's governing body consists of the following officers: 

 

Name    Office   Occupation 

Bailey Yelding, Jr.  Mayor   Retired 

Tommie Conaway  Council member Retired 

Cathy Barnette   Council member Project Manager, Eco Solutions, Inc. 

John L. Lake   Council member Joiner Installer 

Kelly D. Reese   Council member Attorney 

Ron Scott   Council member Retired 

Derek Boulware   Council member Consultant 

152



17 

August Palumbo  Council member Retired 

David L. Cohen   City Clerk 

Kimberly M. Briley  City Treasurer 

 

 The current terms of said officers expire October 1, 2012. 

 

Personnel and Retirement System 

 

The City employed approximately 254 full-time persons in its several departments as of December 31, 

2010.  The benefits and compensation for all employees of the City's several departments are established by the 

City Council and are paid from the City's general fund revenues.  The City participates in a retirement system 

established by the Alabama Legislature known as the Employee's Retirement System of Alabama, to which 

contributions are made by both the employees and the City.  See Appendix B —Audited Financial Statements of 

the City for a description of the City’s obligations with respect to the Employee’s Retirement System of 

Alabama.  No employees of the City are represented by labor unions or similar employee organizations, and the 

City does not bargain collectively with any labor unions or employee organizations.  The City considers its 

relations with its employees to be generally good. 

 

Other Post Employment Benefits 

 

The City of Daphne offers certain Post Employment Benefits to employees under the age of 65 who 

meet the criteria for retirement as set by the Retirement System of Alabama.  Medical and Dental benefits are 

provided through a comprehensive plan and life insurance coverage is provided with a $5,000 cap.  Employees 

do not contribute to their post employment benefits until they retire and begin receiving those benefits.  The City 

of Daphne’s Annual Required Contribution rate is actuarially determined in accordance with GASB 45 and 

totals $214,128 as of September 30, 2010. 

  

Utilities 

 

The water and sanitary sewer service is supplied by the Utilities Board of the City of Daphne (the 

"Utilities Board"), a public corporation.  The directors of which are appointed by the City Council. The Utilities 

Board also provides gas service.  Electrical service is supplied by the Utilities Board of the City of Foley. 

 

Education 

 

The County Board of Education of Baldwin County, Alabama provides public school facilities for the 

County's students in the City.  The County Board of Education has located a high school, a middle school and 

three elementary schools in the City.  It is estimated that approximately 91.9% of the population of the City are 

high school graduates and 37.5% are college graduates.  State averages are 75.3% and 19.0%, respectively. 

 

Four institutions of higher learning located in Mobile County, which are accessible to residents of the 

City, are University of Mobile, Spring Hill College, Bishop State Community College and the University of 

South Alabama.  Faulkner State Community College, whose main campus is located in Bay Minette, Alabama, is 

also nearby.  Pensacola, Florida, located approximately thirty-five miles from the City, also provides certain 

educational opportunities. 

 

153



18 

Income Levels 

 

Per capita income is the total income of all families and individuals in a given area divided by the total 

population of the area.  For the years 2008 and 2009, the Regional Economic Information System, Bureau of 

Economic Analysis, Table CA1-3; internet release date, April, 2011 indicates the following with respect to per 

capita income levels in the jurisdictions. 

 

         2008    2009 

 

Baldwin County   35,829  34,461 

State of Alabama  33,928  33,411 

United States      40,674  39,635 

 

 In 2009 Baldwin County had a per capital personal income (“PCPI”) of $34,461.  This PCPI ranked 6
th
 

in the state and was 103% of the state average, $33,411, and 86% of the national average of $39,635.  
 

 

The percentage of all ages in Baldwin County, in the State of Alabama and in the United States with 

income below the poverty level as of 2010 is as follows: 

 

Baldwin County   13.3% 

State of Alabama  18.9% 

United States   15.3% 
 

____________________ 

Source:  U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Small Area Estimates Branch.  Release date of November 

2011. 

 

 Estimated per capita personal income in the City of Daphne for 2009 was $32,085. 
 

   

*Source: U.S. Census Bureau   

 

The City, the Eastern Shore Chamber of Commerce and the Baldwin County Economic Development 

Alliance report that as of 2009, median family income in the City was $60,541 and $48,487 in the County.  The 

State median family income figure as of 2009 was $40,489. 

 

154



19 

Major Employers 

 

The top ten (10) manufacturing and nonmanufacturing employers in Baldwin County, their principal 

activity and the number of employees of each are as follows: 

Top 10 Manufacturers in Baldwin County 

Company Product Location Employment 

Goodrich Aerospace and 

Aerostructures Group 

Retrofitting of Thrust 

Reverses & Nacelle 

Components 

Foley 805 

Standard Furniture 
Bedroom & Dining Room 

Tables 
Bay Minette 530 

Ace Hardware Support 

Center 
Hardware Distribution Loxley 250 

Vulcan, Inc. Aluminum and Steel Products Foley 200 

International Paper Shipping Containers Bay Minette 150 

Bon Secour Fisheries Seafood Processing Bon Secour 152 

Quincy Compressors 
Rotary Screw Air 

Compressors 
Bay Minette 149 

Quality Filters, Inc. Air Filters Robertsdale 102 

Dental EZ, Inc. Dental Equipment & Supplies Bay Minette 100 

Segers Aero Aerospace MRO Fairhope 91 

 

Top 10 Non-Manufacturers in Baldwin County 

Company Product/Service Location Employment 

Baldwin County Board of 

Education 
Education Bay Minette 3,141 

Wal-Mart Super Centers General Retail Baldwin County 1,600 

Thomas Hospital Medical Care Fairhope 1,048 

South Baldwin Regional 

Medical Center 
Medical Care Foley 653 

Baldwin County 

Commission 
Government Bay Minette 650 

Marriott Grand Hotel Hotel & Country Club Fairhope 600 

Mercy Medical Medical Care Daphne 550 

North Baldwin Infirmary Medical Care Bay Minette 189 

Faulkner State  

Community College 
Education Baldwin County 175 

Connexion Technologies Call/Support Center Gulf Shores 80 

_______________________________________ 

Source:  Baldwin County Economic Development Alliance 

 

155



20 

Top Ten Taxpayers of the City - 2011 

 

Taxpayers Taxes Paid Assessed Value (000’s)  

L-A Daphne LLC $227,986 $5,420,820 

Myers Family Limited Partnership 134,854 3,136,140 

Sam’s Real Estate Business Trust 120,367 2,799,180 

Walmart Real Estate Business Trust 119,090 2,769,180 

Whispering Pines Park LLC 110,204 2,562,860 

Esfahani Real Estate Holdings of AL 109,969 2,557,420 

Lowe’s Home Center 105,426 2,451,761 

North Fork Apartments LP 101,014 2,349,160 

Tameron Properties LLC 87,650 2,038,380 

Jubilee Hotels Inc. 84,820 1,972,560 

____________________ 
Source:  City of Daphne, Alabama 

 

Unemployment Rate  

   

The following table sets forth comparative unemployment rates for Baldwin County, the State of 

Alabama and the United States in each of the years indicated: 

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011* 

        

Baldwin County 3.4 2.8 2.7 4.1 8.6 8.9 7.2 

State of Alabama 4.0 3.5 3.5 5.0 10.1 9.0 9.3 

United States 5.1 4.6 4.6 5.8 9.3 9.1 8.9 

    
*Through December, 2011 

Source:  U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; Not Seasonally Adjusted. 

 

Housing 

 

The Eastern Shore Chamber of Commerce reports that in 2009 the median value of owner-occupied 

houses in the City was $187,912.   

 

Transportation 

 

The City is served by U.S. Highway 98 which allows access to Daphne from the north and south and 

County Highway 64 which connects the City to the east.  Interstate Highway I-10 extends from Mobile eastward 

to Jacksonville, Florida adjacent.  Additionally, Interstate Highway-65 which runs northward from Mobile 

through Nashville is approximately 30 miles north of the City. 

 

  

156



21 

LITIGATION 

 

There is no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened contesting the validity of the 

Series 2012 Warrants or relating to the organization or boundaries of the City, the incumbency of any of the 

City's officers, or the issuance or sale of the Series 2012 Warrants.  Simultaneously with the delivery of the 

Series 2012 Warrants, the City will deliver a certificate to the effect that no such litigation is pending or, to the 

knowledge of the City, threatened. 

 

The City is not a defendant in any lawsuits or other pending litigation which it believes would have a 

materially adverse effect upon its financial condition. 

 

Recent court decisions have substantially eroded the immunity from tort liability formerly enjoyed by 

local governmental units in Alabama. Chapter 93 of Title II of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended, now 

prescribes certain maximum limits on the liability of local governmental units (such as the City) for bodily 

injury, sickness, disease or death sustained by a person and for injury or destruction of tangible property. 

However, the applicability of Chapter 93 to causes of action under Section 1983 of Title 42 of the United States 

Code has not been definitely determined. Municipalities and other local governmental units throughout the 

country have been increasingly subject to lawsuits, many of which claim damages in large amounts for alleged 

denials of civil rights under the provisions of Section 1983. 

 

 

TAX EXEMPTION 

General 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), as presently 

construed and administered, and assuming compliance by the City with the all requirements of the Internal 

Revenue Code that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2012 Warrants in order that interest 

thereon be and remain excludable from gross income, the interest income on the Series 2012 Warrants will be 

excludable from gross income of the recipients thereof for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the provisions 

of Section 103 of the Code and will not constitute an item of tax preference for the purpose of computing the 

liability of individuals and corporations for the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code; 

provided, that it should be noted that for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on 

corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining 

adjusted current earnings. The City has covenanted to comply with all such requirements but failure to comply 

with certain of such requirements could cause the interest on the Series 2012 Warrants to be included in gross 

income, retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2012 Warrants.  Bond Counsel will express no opinion 

with respect to the federal tax consequences to the recipients of the interest income on the Series 2012 Warrants 

under any provision of the Code not referred to above.   

Prospective purchasers of the Series 2012 Warrants should be aware that ownership of the Series 2012 

Warrants may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without 

limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, individual recipients of Social 

Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, certain S corporations with “excess net passive income,” foreign 

corporations subject to a branch profits tax and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued 

indebtedness to purchase or carry the Series 2012 Warrants.  Bond Counsel will not express any opinion as to 

such collateral tax consequences.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2012 Warrants should consult their tax 

advisors as to collateral federal income tax consequences. 

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Series 2012 Warrants will 

be exempt from State of Alabama income taxation. 

157



22 

Original Issue Discount 

 

 The initial public offering price to be paid for certain of the Series 2012 Warrants (the "Original Issue 

Discount Warrants") is less than the principal amount thereof.  Under existing law, the difference between (i) the 

amount payable at the maturity of each Original Issue Discount Warrant, and (ii) the initial offering price to the 

public of such Original Issue Discount Warrant constitutes original issue discount with respect to such Original 

Issue Discount Warrant in the hands of any owner who has purchased such Original Issue Discount Warrant in 

the initial public offering of the Warrants.  Such initial owner is entitled to exclude from gross income (as 

defined in Section 61 of the Code) an amount of income with respect to such Original Issue Discount Warrant 

equal to that portion of the amount of such original issue discount allocable to the period that such Original Issue 

Discount Warrant continues to be owned by such owner.   

 

 In the event of the redemption, sale or other taxable disposition of such Original Issue Discount Warrant 

prior to stated maturity, however, the amount realized by such owner in excess of the basis of such Original Issue 

Discount Warrant in the hands of such owner (adjusted upward by the portion of the original issue discount 

allocable to the period for which such Original Issue Discount Warrant was held by such initial owner) is 

includable in gross income. 

 

 Under existing law, the original issue discount on each Original Issue Discount Warrant is accrued daily 

to the stated maturity thereof (in amounts calculated as described below for each six-month period ending on the 

date before the semiannual anniversary dates of the Warrants and ratably within each such six-month period) and 

the accrued amount is added to an initial owner's basis for such Original Issue Discount Warrant for purposes of 

determining the amount of gain or loss recognized by such owner upon the redemption, sale or other taxable 

disposition thereof.  The amount (if any) to be added to basis for each accrual period is equal to (a) the sum of 

the issue price and the amount of original issue discount accrued in prior periods (if any) multiplied by the yield 

to maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted 

for the length of the accrual period) less (b) the amounts payable as current interest during such accrual period on 

such Original Issue Discount Warrants. 

 

 The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale or other disposition 

of Original Issue Discount Warrants which are not purchased in the initial offering at the initial offering price 

may be determined according to rules which differ from those described above.  All owners of Original Issue 

Discount Warrants should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the determination for federal, state and 

local income tax purposes of interest accrued upon redemption, sale or other disposition of such Original Issue 

Discount Warrants and with respect to the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of the purchase, 

ownership, redemption, sale, gift or other disposition of such Original Issue Discount Warrants. 

 

Original Issue Premium 

 

 The initial public offering price to be paid for certain of the Series 2012 Warrants (the "Original Issue 

Premium Warrants") is greater than the principal amount thereof.  Under existing law, any owner who has 

purchased an Original Issue Premium Warrant in the initial public offering of the Series 2012 Warrants is 

required to reduce his basis in such Original Issue Premium Warrant by the amount of premium allocable to 

periods during which he holds such Original Issue Premium Warrant, and the amount of premium allocable to 

each accrual period will be applied to reduce the amount of interest received by the owner during each such 

period.  All owners of Original Issue Premium Warrants should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the 

determination for federal, state and local income tax purposes of interest accrued upon redemption, sale or other 

disposition of such Original Issue Premium Warrant and with respect to the federal, state, local and foreign tax 

consequences of the purchase, ownership, redemption, sale, gift or other disposition of such Original Issue 

Premium Warrant. 

158



23 

 

 

 UNDERWRITING 

 

The Series 2012 Warrants will be purchased by Gardnyr Michael Capital, Inc. (the "Underwriter") at a 

purchase price of $13,169,582.13, which reflects an underwriter’s discount of $223,811.90 and net original issue 

discount $121,455.00, plus accrued interest thereon from April 1, 2011, to the date of their delivery. The initial 

public offering price set forth on the cover page may be changed by the Underwriter, and the Underwriter may 

offer and sell the Series 2012 Warrants to certain dealers (including dealers depositing the Series 2012 Warrants 

into investment trusts) and others at prices lower than the offering price set forth on the cover page. The 

Underwriter will purchase all the Series 2012 Warrants if any are purchased. The Underwriter is obligated to 

purchase and pay for all the Series 2012 Warrants in cash.  

 

 

 RATING 

 

 Standard & Poor’s Rating Service ("Rating Agency") has assigned a rating to the Series 2012 Warrants 

of "AA."  Any definitive explanation of the significance of any such rating may be obtained only from the Rating 

Agency. There is no assurance that any such rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that any 

such rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the Rating Agency, circumstances 

should warrant such action. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of any rating assigned to the Series 2012 

Warrants could have an adverse effect on their market price.  

 

 

 LEGAL MATTERS 

 

The legality and validity of the Series 2012 Warrants will be approved by Hand Arendall LLC, of 

Mobile, Alabama, Bond Counsel, whose approving opinion will be delivered at the time of the delivery of the 

Series 2012 Warrants. It is anticipated that the opinion of Bond Counsel will be in substantially the form 

attached hereto as Appendix A.  Certain matters will be proved upon for the City by its counsel, Ross, Jordan & 

Gray, P.C., Mobile, Alabama. 

 

 

VERIFICATION OF ARITHMETICAL COMPUTATIONS 

 

The arithmetical accuracy of certain computations included in the schedules provided by the City 

relating to (a) computation of forecasted receipts of principal and interest on the escrowed Government 

Obligations and the forecasted payments of principal and interest to redeem the Series 2002 Warrants and the 

Series 2006 Warrants, and (b) computation of the yields on the Series 2012 Warrants and the escrowed 

Government Obligations was examined by GNP Services, CPA, PA.  Such computations were based solely upon 

assumptions and information supplied by the City.  GNP Services, CPA, PA has restricted its procedures to 

examining the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations and has not made any study or evaluation of the 

assumptions and information upon which the computations are based and, accordingly, has not expressed an 

opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions, or the achievability of the forecasted outcome. 

 

159



24 

 

 INFORMATION IN THE APPENDICES 

 

The financial statements of the City attached hereto as Appendix B have been examined by Smith, 

Dukes & Buckalew, LLP, Certified Public Accountants, Mobile, Alabama, independent auditors, to the extent 

and for the periods indicated in their report which appears in such Appendix.  Such financial statements have 

been included in reliance upon such report. 

 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates, whether or not 

expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as representations of fact. No representation is made that any of 

such statements will be realized. 

 

References herein to the Alabama Constitution and all legislative acts referred to herein are intended to 

be only brief outlines of certain provisions of each thereof and do not purport to summarize or describe all 

provisions thereof. 

 

The distribution of this Official Statement and its use in the offering and sale of the Series 2012 

Warrants have been approved by the governing body of the City. 

 

 

 CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

 

 

 By: /s/ Bailey Yelding, Jr.    

               Mayor 

 

Dated  March 29, 2012 

 
1448466_3.doc 

 

 

160



A-1 
 

APPENDIX   A 

 

[FORM OF LEGAL OPINION] 

City of Daphne 

Daphne, Alabama 

 

Re: $13,495,000 City of Daphne General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 

2012 

 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance of the warrant issue in caption (the 

"Warrants") and as such have examined certified copies of proceedings of the governing body of the City of 

Daphne, Alabama (the "City") in connection therewith, including the ordinance of such governing body, adopted 

April 2, 2012 and other documents submitted to us pertaining to the authorization, sale and issuance of the 

Warrants.  As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon certified proceedings and other 

certifications of public officials furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent 

investigation. 

 

We have not been engaged or undertaken to review the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the 

Official Statement or other offering material relating to the Warrants (except to the extent stated in the Official 

Statement) and we express no opinion relating thereto other than the matters set forth as our opinion in the 

Official Statement. 

 

Based upon the aforesaid examinations, we are of the opinion that: 

 

1. The Warrants have been duly authorized and issued and constitute valid orders on the City 

Treasurer of the City for the payment thereof as therein provided, and that the indebtedness ordered paid by the 

Warrants is a valid general obligation of the City for the payment of the principal of and interest on which the 

full faith and credit of the City have been validly and irrevocably pledged.  

 

2. The interest income on the Warrants will be excludable from gross income of the recipients 

thereof for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the provisions of Section 103(a) of the Internal Revenue 

Code of 1986.  In addition, the interest income on the Warrants will not be an item of tax preference for purposes 

of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations; provided, that it should be 

noted that for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations (as defined for 

federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining adjusted current earnings.  The 

opinions set forth in the preceding sentences are subject to the condition that the City comply with all 

requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the 

Warrants in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excluded from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes.  The City has covenanted to comply with each such requirement, but failure to comply with certain of 

such requirements may cause the inclusion of interest on the Warrants in gross income for federal income tax 

purposes to be retroactive to the date of the issuance of the Warrants.  We express no opinion regarding other 

federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Warrants. 

  

3. Under existing law the interest on the Warrants is exempt from State of Alabama income 

taxation. 

Very truly yours, 

 

HAND ARENDALL LLC 

 

By: _________________________________   

161



B-1 

 APPENDIX  B 

  

 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF  

 THE CITY OF DAPHNE 

 

 

 

 

162



CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

ORDINANCE NO. 2012-27 

 

Ordinance to Rezone Property Located  

Southwest of the Intersection of U.S. Highway 90 and County Road 13 

Blacksher White-Spunner, etal 

 
 WHEREAS, Blacksher White-Spunner, etal, as the owner of certain real property located within 

the City of Daphne, Alabama, has requested that said property be rezoned from R-3, High Density Single 

Family Residential District to B-3, Professional Business District; and, 

 

WHEREAS, said real property is southwest of the intersection of U.S. Highway 90 and County 

Road 13, and more particularly described as follows:  

 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY TO BE REZONED FROM R-3 TO B-1: 

 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 33, T4S-R2E, BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; SAID 

POINT BEING ON THE EAST BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 8, 

PAGE 86 OF THE PROBATE COURT RECORDS OF BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; THENCE ALONG SAID EAST 

BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25, RUN N 00° 16' 26" E 468.87 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 

LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THE PROPERTY HEREIN DESCRIBED; SAID POINT 

BEING ON THE CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH BOUNDARY 

OF SAID LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 77° 44' 

11" W 96.31 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 

AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 86° 00' 27" W 200.95 FEET TO A POINT; 

THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF 

THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 51° 06' 47" W 62.95 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG 

SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE 

CREEK, RUN S 77° 39' 00" W 85.86 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF 

LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 59° 41' 00" W 

214.16 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND 

SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 80° 14' 08" W 67.29 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 

CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST 

PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 89° 25' 57" W 95.88 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID 

NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, 

RUN S 74° 28' 15" W 205.84 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE 

FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 41° 02' 51" W 148.88 

FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID 

CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 59° 59' 33" W 73.71 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST 

CORNER OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 24, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 8, PAGE 85 OF THE 

AFOREMENTIONED PROBATE COURT RECORDS OF BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH 

BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 24 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 

40° 17' 16" W 202.35 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, 

UNIT 24 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 51° 54' 58" W 79.42 FEET TO A 

POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 24 AND SAID 

CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 32° 57' 38" W 69.21 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST 

CORNER OF OAK CREEK SUBDIVISION, AS PER PLAT RECORDED ON SLIDE NO. 2205-D OF SAID PROBATE COURT 

RECORDS OF BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; THENCE ALONG THE EAST BOUNDARY OF SAID OAK CREEK 

SUBDIVISION, RUN N 00° 50' 07" W 2201.98 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID OAK CREEK SUBDIVISION; 

SAID POINT BEING ON THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF U.S. HIGHWAY 90; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF U.S. HIGHWAY 90, RUN N 89° 03' 35" E 65.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THE 

PROPERTY HEREIN DESCRIBED; THENCE CONTINUING N 89° 03' 35" E ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE 

OF U.S. HIGHWAY 90, RUN A DISTANCE OF 540.00 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE RUN S 00° 56' 25" W 275.00 FEET TO A 

POINT; THENCE RUN S 89° 03' 35" W 540.00 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE RUN N 00° 56' 25" E 275.00 FEET TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 148,500 SQUARE FEET OR 3.4092 ACRES. 

 

 

WHEREAS, at the City of Daphne Planning Commission meeting on February 23, 2012 the 

Commission considered said request and failed to set forth a favorable recommendation to the City Council 

of the City of Daphne that said property be rezoned; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, due notice of said proposed rezoning has been provided to the public as required by 

law through publication and open display at the Daphne Public Library and City Hall, a public hearing was 

held before the City Council on April 2, 2012; and, 
163



 
ORDINANCE 2012- 27                         REZONE: BLACHSHER WHITE-SPUNNER                      PAGE   2 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne after due consideration and upon consideration 

of the recommendation of the Planning Commission, deemed that said application for rezoning of the above 

described real property is proper and in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the 

City of Daphne, Alabama. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, as follows 

 

SECTION I: ZONING 

 

That above described real property is hereby rezoned from R-3, High Density Single Family 

Residential District to B-3, Professional Business District, and that the zoning ordinance and zoning map be 

amended to reflect the said zoning change.   

 

a.) This zoning classification is subject to a three (3) year reversionary clause.  Three years from the 

date this ordinance is enacted, if the site development has not started for the purpose listed 

herein, the zoning shall be null and void, and the property shall revert to the prior zoning district 

per Article 22, Zoning Amendment Section 22-2(c)(7) of the Land Use and Development 

Ordinance 2011-54. 

 

SECTION III: REPEALER.  

 

 All other City Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance, in so far as 

they conflict, are hereby repealed. 

 

SECTION IV: SEVERABILITY.  
 

 The provisions of this Ordinance are severable. If any provision, section, paragraph, sentence, or part 

thereof shall be held unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect or impair the remainder of said 

Ordinance, it being the legislative intent to ordain and enact each provision, section, paragraph, sentence, and 

part thereof separately and independently of each other. 

 

SECTION V: EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 

 This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of its approval by the City 

Council of the City of Daphne and after publication as required by law. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA, THIS             day of                       , 2012. 

         

 

       _____________________________ 

       Cathy S. Barnette,  

       Council President 

                                        

       _____________________________ 

       Bailey Yelding, Jr.,  

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 
__________________ 

David L. Cohen  

City Clerk, MMC 

164



BLACKSHER WHITE-SPUNNER, ET. AL. 

 

(B. White-Spunner, R. Tindell, Jr., Jay E., L.L.C., J. White-Spunner, M.M. Cummings, Estate of David R. Coley, S. Coley, 

M.A. Ball, K.C. Coats, and AIRP, L.L.C.) 

 

ZONING AMENDMENT REVIEW 

 

SOUTHWEST OF COUNTY ROAD 13 AND U. S. HIGHWY 90 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA) 

COUNTY OF BALDWIN) 

 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY TO BE REZONED FROM R-3 TO B-3: 

 

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 33, T4S-R2E, BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; SAID POINT 

BEING ON THE EAST BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 8, PAGE 86 OF 

THE PROBATE COURT RECORDS OF BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; THENCE ALONG SAID EAST BOUNDARY OF 

LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25, RUN N 00° 16' 26" E 468.87 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LAKE FOREST, UNIT 

25 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THE PROPERTY HEREIN DESCRIBED; SAID POINT BEING ON THE 

CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH BOUNDARY OF SAID LAKE 

FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 77° 44' 11" W 96.31 FEET 

TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID 

CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 86° 00' 27" W 200.95 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 

CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST 

PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 51° 06' 47" W 62.95 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH 

BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 

77° 39' 00" W 85.86 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, 

UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 59° 41' 00" W 214.16 FEET TO A 

POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE 

OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 80° 14' 08" W 67.29 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING 

ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF 

D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 89° 25' 57" W 95.88 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH 

BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN S 

74° 28' 15" W 205.84 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, 

UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 41° 02' 51" W 148.88 FEET TO A 

POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 25 AND SAID CENTERLINE 

OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 59° 59' 33" W 73.71 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LAKE 

FOREST, UNIT 24, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 8, PAGE 85 OF THE AFOREMENTIONED PROBATE COURT 

RECORDS OF BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 24 

AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 40° 17' 16" W 202.35 FEET TO A POINT; 

THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 24 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF 

THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE CREEK, RUN N 51° 54' 58" W 79.42 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG 

SAID NORTH BOUNDARY OF LAKE FOREST, UNIT 24 AND SAID CENTERLINE OF THE EAST PRONG OF D'OLIVE 

CREEK, RUN N 32° 57' 38" W 69.21 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OAK CREEK SUBDIVISION, AS PER PLAT 

RECORDED ON SLIDE NO. 2205-D OF SAID PROBATE COURT RECORDS OF BALDWIN COUNTY, ALABAMA; THENCE 

ALONG THE EAST BOUNDARY OF SAID OAK CREEK SUBDIVISION, RUN N 00° 50' 07" W 2201.98 FEET TO THE 

NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID OAK CREEK SUBDIVISION; SAID POINT BEING ON THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE 

OF U.S. HIGHWAY 90; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF U.S. HIGHWAY 90, RUN N 89° 03' 35" E 

65.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THE PROPERTY HEREIN DESCRIBED; THENCE CONTINUING N 89° 03' 

35" E ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF U.S. HIGHWAY 90, RUN A DISTANCE OF 540.00 FEET TO A 

POINT; THENCE RUN S 00° 56' 25" W 275.00 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE RUN S 89° 03' 35" W 540.00 FEET TO A POINT; 

THENCE RUN N 00° 56' 25" E 275.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 148,500 SQUARE FEET OR 

3.4092 ACRES. 

 
 
REFERENCE: HIGHWAY 90 BUSINESS PARK 

 

REVISED: FEBUARY 8, 2012 

 
 

165



166



167



 

 1 

 CITY OF DAPHNE 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2012- 28 

 

An Ordinance adopting and enacting the 2005 Supplement Code for the City of Daphne, 

Alabama providing for the repeal of certain ordinances not included therein; providing a 

penalty for the violation thereof; providing for the manner of amending such Code; and 

providing when such Code and this ordinance shall become effective. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA: 

 

SECTION 1:  The Code entitled "Code of Ordinance, City of Daphne, Alabama" published by 

Municipal Code Corporation consisting of Chapters 1 through 20, each inclusive, is adopted; as 

public notice of adoption is provided in Resolution No. 2006-23 adopted the 6th day of March, 

2006, as required by Code of Alabama Section 11-45-88 for the adoption of codes in book form. 

 

SECTION 2:  All ordinances of a general and permanent nature enacted on or before August 16, 

1993, and not included in the Code or recognized and continued in force by reference therein, are 

repealed. 

 

SECTION 3:  The repeal provided for in Section 2 hereof shall not be construed to revive any 

ordinance or part thereof that has been repealed by a subsequent ordinance that is repealed by 

this ordinance. 

 

SECTION 4:  Unless another penalty is expressly provided, every person convicted of a 

violation of any provision of the Code or any ordinance, rule or regulation adopted or issued 

in pursuance thereof, shall be punished by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) 

and imprisonment for not more than six (6) months, or both.  Each act of violation and each day 

upon which any such violation shall occur shall constitute a separate offense.  The penalty 

provided by this section, unless another penalty is expressly provided shall apply to the 

amendment of any Code section whether or not such penalty is reenacted in the amendatory 

ordinance.  In addition to the penalty prescribed above, the City may pursue other remedies such 

as abatement of nuisances, injunctive relief, and revocation of licenses or permits. 

 

SECTION 5:  Additions or amendments to the Code when passed in form as to indicate the 

intention of the City Council to make the same a part of the Code shall be deemed to be 

incorporated in the Code, so that reference to the Code includes the additions and amendments. 

 

SECTION 6:  Ordinances adopted after August 16, 1993 that amend or refer to ordinances that 

have been codified in the Code, shall be construed as if they amend or refer to like provisions of 

the Code. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

168



 

 2 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2012-28                                                                           PAGE TWO 

RE: CODIFICATION MANUAL - SUPPLEMENT 

 

 

SECTION 7:  Severability Clause - The provisions of this ordinance and the Daphne Code of 

Ordinances adopted hereby are severable. In the event that any of the provisions hereof, or of the 

Daphne Code of Ordinances are declared invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, then the 

remaining portions shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such invalidity. 

 

SECTION 8:  This ordinance shall become effective upon publication of such notice. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

THIS           day of             , 2012. 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      CATHY S. BARNETTE 

      COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

       

 

 

      _____________________________________ 

      BAILEY YELDING, JR., 

      MAYOR 

       

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________ 

DAVID L. COHEN, 

CITY CLERK, MMC 

 

 

                                                                  

169



ORDINANCE 2012 - 29 
 
 

Legislative: 2012 International Building & Fire Code Books Budget 
Appropriation 

 
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2011-81 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2012 
Budget on November 21, 2011; and 
 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2012 budget, the City 
Council has determined that certain appropriations are required and should be 
approved and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2012 budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the adopted budget does not include an appropriation for 2012 
International Building & Fire Code Books for the City Clerk’s office; and 
 
WHEREAS, 2012 International Building & Fire Code Books are required to be 
kept in the City Clerk’s office and made available to the public.     
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, that funds in the amount of $1,777 from the General Fund are hereby 
appropriated and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2012 budget for 2012 
International Building & Fire Code Books for the City Clerk’s office. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Daphne, Alabama, this ____  day of  ________________  , 2012. 
 
         
                                                                      ________________________________ 

Cathy S. Barnette, Council President 
                           

 
_________________________________ 

                                                                       Bailey Yelding, Jr., Mayor 
       
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
David L. Cohen, City Clerk, MMC 

170



 

ORDINANCE 2012-30 
 

APROPRIATION OF FUNDS FOR THE ASSISTANCE TO FIREFIGHTERS 

GRANT AWARDED TO THE CITY OF DAPHNE’S FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

WHERE AS, Ordinance 2011-81 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget on 

November 21, 2011; and 

 

WHERE AS, subsequent to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget, the City 

Council has determined that certain appropriation are required and should be approved 

and made part of the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget; and 

 

WHERE AS, The City of Daphne’s Fire Department submitted a grant application in 

2011 for consideration in the Federal Emergency Management Agency’s (FEMA) and 

Department of Homeland Security’s (DHS) Assistance to Firefighters Grant; and  

 

WHERE AS, FEMA and DHS approved and awarded the Assistance to Firefighters 

Grant to the City of Daphne’s Fire Department in the amount of $55,800 with the 

following cost sharing responsibilities: 

 

90% Federal ($50,220) + 10% City of Daphne ($5,580) = $55,800 

 

WHERE AS, the Daphne Fire Department will be using the awarded grant funds for the 

purchase of following essential equipment: 

 

 Thermal Imager Camera 

 Self-Contained Breathing Apparatuses 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council (the “Council”) of 

Daphne, Alabama (the “City”), that funds in the amount of $5,580 from the General Fund 

are hereby appropriated and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget for the 

Assistance to Firefighters grant.    
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR & CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS ______DAY OF _________________, 2012. 

 

 
____________________________________ 

CATHY S. BARNETTE, 

COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

 

 

____________________________________ 

BAILEY YELDING, JR., 

MAYOR, CITY OF DAPHNE 

 

 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 

DAVID L. COHEN, 

CITY CLERK, MMC 

171



 

ORDINANCE 2012-31 
 

PROFIT DRIVE EXTENTION & LAKE FOREST: RIDGEWOOD DRIVE-PHASE II: 

APPROPRIATION OF DESIGN AND ENGINEERING FUNDS  

 
WHERE AS, Ordinance 2011-81 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget on November 21, 

2011; and 

 

WHERE AS, subsequent to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget, the City Council has 

determined that certain appropriations are required and should be approved and made part of the Fiscal 

Year 2012 Budget; and 

 

WHERE AS, the Profit Drive Extension – Profit Drive to Johnson Road (0.275 miles) and Lake Forest: 

Ridgewood Drive Phase II (1.2 miles) projects need to go out for bid; and 

 

WHERE AS, Design and engineering services in the amount of $106,445 are required to prepare these 

projects for bid: 

 

 Profit Drive Extension    $  20,154 

 Lake Forest: Ridgewood Drive-Phase II $  86,291 

TOTAL $106,445 

 

WHERE AS, the City Council has determined it to be in the best interest of the City to obtain bids for 

these projects by unanimously passing a motion during the March 19, 2012 City Council Meeting 

authorizing the City to go out for bid on all Fiscal Year 2012 proposed City of Daphne Street 

Improvement Projects. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council (the “Council”) of Daphne, Alabama 

(the “City”), that funds in the amount of $106,445 from the Capital Reserve Fund are hereby appropriated 

and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget for the design and engineering services for the Profit 

Drive Extension and the Lake Forest: Ridgewood Drive-Phase II projects.  
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR & CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS ______DAY OF _________________, 2012. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

CATHY S. BARNETTE, 

COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

 

 

____________________________________ 

BAILEY YELDING, JR., 

MAYOR, CITY OF DAPHNE 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

DAVID L. COHEN, 

CITY CLERK, MMC 

172


	AGENDA - April 16.pdf
	City Roll Call.pdf
	Council Minutes - April 2.pdf
	Council Work Session Minutes - April 9.pdf
	Backup to Work Session Minutes.pdf
	Reporting of Standing Committees.pdf
	Finance Minutes.pdf
	Backup to Finance Minutes.pdf
	Special Reports.pdf
	Utility Board Minutes.pdf
	Mayors Report.pdf
	ABC License.pdf
	Parade Permit.pdf
	City Attorneys and Department Head Report.pdf
	RESOLUTION - ORDINANCES - DIVIDER PAGE.pdf
	2012-29 - RES - 2012 International Building Code.pdf
	2012-30 - RES - 2012 - FireCodeAdoption.pdf
	2012-31 - RES - US Fish and Wildlife-Invasive Species Control-2012.pdf
	2012-32 - RES - Donation Ruff Wilson Boys  Girls-chairs.pdf
	2012-33 - RES - GOVDEALS COM               .pdf
	2012-26 - ORD - Warrants - Series 2012 - Ordinance 05 (FINAL VERSION 3 30 12).pdf
	Backup to 2012-26 - ORD - DAC.pdf
	2012-27 - ORD - REZONE  - Blacksher White-Spunner, eral.pdf
	Backup to 2012-27 - ORD  #1.pdf
	Backup to 2012-27 - ORD -#2.pdf
	2012-28 - ORD - CODIFICATION OF ORDINANCES.pdf
	2012-29 - ORD - Legislative 2012 Int'l Bldg  Fire Code Books.pdf
	2012-30 - ORD - Assistance to Firefighters Grant Appropriation (4 3 12).pdf
	2012-31 - ORD - Profit Drive Extention  Lake Forest - Ridgewood Drive (Phase 2).pdf

